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THE COURT:  Please be seated.1

Mr. Rosen.2

MR. ROSEN:  Thank you, Your Honor.3

Brian Rosen of Weil, Gotshal & Manges on behalf of4

our firm, itself, and also on behalf of the debtors here today. 5

With me in the courtroom are my partners, Martin Bienenstock6

and Melanie Gray and we will be handling the presentation on7

behalf of the firm and also in connection with the debtor's8

presentation.9

Your Honor, we're here this morning pursuant to the10

Court's order, what we refer to as the fee procedures order,11

which established the parameters for the filing of final fee12

applications and 503(b) applications and the process by which13

those would be considered by the Court including any discovery14

that would be taken and also including the process by which the15

fee committee and the United States Trustee would submit16

objections and their final reports.17

During the course of these cases, Your Honor, there18

have been a total of 59 retained or appointed professionals19

that were required to file fee applications and see the20

approval and allowance of their compensation from the Court. 21

Of these 59 professionals, Your Honor, three have already had22

final orders entered with respect to the approval and allowance23

of their fees.  Of the remaining 56 professionals, two were24

appointed by the Court to review professional fees and25
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expenses, thus, although they have final fee applications1

before the Court, the applications are not the subject of a2

final advisory report by the fee committee and by that, Your3

Honor,, specifically I'm referring to legal cost control and4

the Enron fee committee itself.5

In addition to the three professionals already6

holding a final order with respect to their fees and expenses,7

the fee committee has prepared and filed a final advisory8

report on each of the remaining 54 professionals.  The9

compensation requests of these 54 professionals and the10

applicable financial advisory reports are before the Court11

today.12

Additionally, Your Honor, of the 54 three have failed13

to file either an interim or a final fee application.  With14

respect to these three, the fee committee issued a final15

advisory report on their fees based on a review of either their16

monthly statements or notices of fees.  The fee committee's17

recommendations are expressly predicated on the professional18

filing of final fee application and as I indicated to date,19

none of these professionals have filed a final fee application20

or any other response to the applicable financial report21

advising them of this deficiency.  Those three, Your Honor, are22

Collier, Shannon & Scott; Robby Waldron, Esq. and Waldron &23

Schneider, which is Mr. Waldron's firm that represented him in24

his capacity as the trustee of the Enron/Winn [Ph.] trust.25
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Two of the remaining 51 professionals are subject to1

a pending stipulation and agreed order with the reorganized2

debtors resolving their final fee applications.  This3

stipulation and agreed order was filed under a notice of4

presentment on November 8, 2005 and it is to be presented to5

the Court on November 18, 2005 provided that no objections are6

filed and those are of Cloyses [Ph.] Partners, LLC and Baker &7

Hostetler, LLP.  Again, these were with respect to Cloyses8

Partners serving as the predecessor Enron/Winn trust trustee9

and his counsel, Baker & Hostetler.10

With respect to the remaining 49 professionals, six11

filed replies to the final advisory reports on or before12

November 7, 2005 which was the date that was set forth in the13

fee procedures order.  In those replies, Your Honor, these14

professionals disputed certain fee committee recommendations15

regarding their fees and/or expenses.  They were Blackstone16

Group, LP; Harrison J. Goldin and Goldin Associates, LLC; Kaye,17

Scholer, LLP; LeBoeuf, Lamb, Greene & MacRae, LLP; Professor18

George Benson, who was the accounting and financial expert for19

Neil Batson as the EME examiner; and Weil, Gotshal & Manges,20

counsel for the debtors.21

In addition to these six professionals who filed the22

replies, Your Honor, three other professionals have indicated23

that they dispute certain of the fee committee recommendations24

as stated in their final fee application or documents exchanged25
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with the fee committee in connection with the preparation of1

financial advisory reports.  These were Togut, Segal & Segal;2

FTI Consulting, Inc.; Ernst & Young Corporate Finance now known3

as Guiliani Capital Advisors, LLC.4

The remaining forty professionals, Your Honor, have5

not filed an objection or a reply to the fee committee's6

recommendation and in response to a solicitation from Weil,7

Gotshal for information regarding disputed items, the majority8

has affirmatively responded that they are in agreement with the9

amounts recommended by the fee committee in the final advisory10

reports.11

Your Honor, of these forty professionals, five have12

not filed a completed final application but seeks approval of13

all fees and expenses incurred in these cases.  On the whole,14

the applicants are professionals who are not as familiar with15

the bankruptcy process.  These professionals either filed a16

final interim application seeking approval of the final interim17

period without explicitly seeking final approval of all the18

fees and expenses previously approved by interim orders or they19

filed a fee application entitled a final application that only20

identified fees and expenses incurred in the final period or21

requested payment of the holdback amount related to approved22

fees and expenses.  Thus, even if the Court were to deem these23

final applications to be final fee applications, the requested24

amounts on the docket then are less than the fee committee's25
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recommendations.1

Additionally, Your Honor, with respect to nine of the2

forty professionals, either the fee amount or the expense3

amount recommended by the fee committee exceeds the amount4

requested in the final fee applications.  As noted with respect5

to prior interim fee applications, this will cause problems6

with the Court's docketing system when orders are entered and,7

therefore, Your Honor, we believe that there would have to be a8

supplemental application filed by or an amended application9

filed by these in order so that the amounts would jive on the10

Court's docketing system.  Your Honor, we understand those nine11

to be Andrews, Kurth, LLP; Connell, Foley, LLP; Fergus; Good &12

McBridge; McCool, Smith; Milbank, Tweed, Hadley & McCloy;13

Clanta, Moran [Ph.]; Squire, Sanders & Dempsey and Thompkin,14

Torp [Ph.], LLP.15

Your Honor, at this point I believe the calendar16

would be for you (sic).17

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.18

Nearly four years ago Enron and certain of its19

affiliates filed for protection under the Bankruptcy Code. 20

Among the numerous issues and concerns that the Court was21

confronted with at that time was one in how to address and22

insure that the fees and expenses incurred in these cases were23

reasonable.  The Court recognized, along with many other24

parties-in-interest, including the creditors committee, the25
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debtor and the U.S. Trustee's Office, that the size and1

complexity and the controversies that surrounded these cases2

would be a very costly process.  To address those concerns, the3

Court appointed a fee committee to be headed by Jerry Patchen. 4

The committee was to set up procedures for submissions and5

review the various applications and make recommendations to the6

Court. 7

It is clear from the reports, whether an applicant8

agrees with the recommendations or not, that a very thorough9

and meticulous job was undertaken by the committee.  Further10

confirmation of the thoroughness is that over the past more11

than three years of interim and now the final applications,12

there has been to the Court's knowledge, three objections filed13

to three applications.  Some time, I believe, in 2002 or early14

2003 the creditors committee filed an objection under 502(d) to15

a particular application being paid because that applicant was16

the subject of an avoidance action.  Thereafter, for the final17

fees there is an objection filed by a creditor to one of the18

applicants based upon an alleged conflict of interest in19

representing both the debtor and a subsidiary at a particular20

time and, thereafter, in the case.  Third, the creditors21

committee has filed a partial objection to a financial advisors22

request.23

So among all the three 330 applicants, other than the24

recommendations made by the creditors committee, there have25
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been very few voiced objections to these fees which, I think,1

is a tribute to the thoroughness and the confidence the2

parties-in-interest have in that process as well as the Court.3

Today, in addition to the 330 applications, there are4

two other forms of application before the Court.  I have a5

number of 503(b) substantial contribution applications filed by6

a number of creditors and the other is a success fee request by7

SFC, LLC.  8

What we will do is we will turn, now, to hear from9

the fee committee's chair and then proceed with the10

presentation of evidence, cross-examination if sought. 11

Thereafter, we will hear the recommendations of various12

parties-in-interest and, hopefully, conclude some time very13

late this afternoon or early this evening and at the conclusion14

of the hearing I will either rule on certain issues or present15

a schedule in which I will intend to make a determination with16

respect to the then outstanding issues.17

Mr. Patchen.18

MR. PATCHEN:  Thank you, Your Honor.19

Thank you for the opportunity to speak about the fee20

committee and its work in the Enron case.21

As chairman of the fee committee you appointed in22

this case, I am pleased to advise that the committee has23

completed and filed its reviews of the fees billed and the24

expense reimbursements requested in the case.  Our detailed25
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reports of those reviewed have been filed with the Court.  The1

reports contain the committee's findings and determinations on2

the requests for compensation and expense reimbursement3

submissions by employed professionals together with the4

recommendations of the committee for your consideration for5

payments to the professionals for services rendered and for6

reimbursement of valid expenses incurred.7

At its outset in April 2002 by your order8

establishing the fee committee, the membership of the committee9

was to consist of one person each, selected by the creditors10

committee, the employees committee, the debtor, from the United11

States Trustee's Office and myself.  We started with a full12

compliment at the outset but did have some vacant chairs later13

in the course of the work.  Mr. Wade Klein [Ph.] of Enron and14

Mr. Walter Theus of the U.S. Trustee program have served on the15

committee continuously from its beginning and I am personally16

most grateful to them for their long and dedicated work.17

With the Court's authorization, the committee18

employed a staff of five professionals; four lawyers and one19

forensic accountant, each of whom are long experienced in20

bankruptcy law and practice.21

From its beginning, the committee saw as its purpose22

to recommend to the Court the right amount in its judgment, the23

reasonable amount as it saw it, for payment rather than an24

arbitrarily reduced sum that may have been requested.  In25
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seeking that right amount it analyzed the time and expense1

requests it received by what it determined was reasonable for2

the time involved and the value to the estate.  The committee3

measured the time and expense entries by the requirements of4

official sources including the United States Trustee5

guidelines, the local and national bankruptcy rules, case law6

and by known local practices.  It evaluated them in the light7

of the experience of its staff and committee members.  In a few8

instances, the committee crafted a fresh approach to deal with9

the matter at issue.  In an effort to be accurate and fair and10

also to clarify matters presented in time entries and expense11

submissions, the committee gave full opportunity for each12

applicant to be heard by the committee prior to the filing of13

an advisory report.  Meetings of the committee with an14

applicant were regularly held either in person or by conference15

call at the professional's option.16

To make clear the workings of the committee and its17

processes as well as its governance, the committee soon after18

its formation published written procedures before addressing19

any of the fee reviews.  Additionally, the committee published20

written guidance on its budget analysis procedures and prior to21

its consideration of the final fee applications, the committee22

published a manual of its procedures to be applicable to final23

fee reviews that specified among other things the special24

factors generally derived from decisions and writings of judges25
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in the Southern District that showed what the committee1

intended to consider in its overall look back review of the2

total work done by the professional in the case and the results3

of that work.  Those are the matters of particular interest in4

the final reviews distinct from the interim fee reviews we had5

done.  These written distributed procedures facilitated the6

workings of the committee and made clear to the applicants in7

many instances the way the committee worked as well as the8

processes it followed.9

I am aware of other bankruptcy cases with fee10

committees or fee examiners but I know of none that have11

published such instructive information as we have made12

available to the employed professionals.13

In the performance of our work we reviewed 5414

professional firms plus others who filed 243 applications15

requesting more than $646 million in fees and expenses.  We16

have recommended that some $624 million be paid to the17

applicants.  The precise numbers are stated in our submissions18

to the Court.19

The reductions the committee has recommended, I20

submit, are smaller than their total effect because after the21

fee committee made a determination and recommendation on an22

issue, the billing professionals in many instances adjusted23

their billing practices and complied voluntarily with that24

determination of the committee; from then on in the case with25
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the result that they no longer requested payment as they had1

previously done.  One example; in the instance of such a2

mundane matter as the charge for in-house photocopies, most3

applicants in the beginning months of the case regularly4

charged twenty cents per page for photocopies.  We were told by5

them that they always charged twenty cents for a photocopy in6

bankruptcy cases but by our reading of the local general orders7

of the Court, the rule on photocopies provide that the charge8

for photocopying that be twenty cents or cost, whichever is9

less.  Clearly, since the promulgation of that rule by the10

Court, the costs of photocopying has substantially declined. 11

We established a policy applicable to all of the billing12

professionals that we would allow ten cents a copy unless the13

professional could establish that its costs were more.  In14

spite of much angst at the outset, all soon complied with our15

ten cent rule except for one who established to the committee's16

satisfaction that its costs were more.  It was found to be one17

cent more.  We allowed them eleven cents.18

In view of the great volume of photocopies made and19

charged in this case, it was a substantial savings in the20

ongoing fifty percent reduction of the cost of copies that21

accrued to the benefit of the Enron estate.  Much of the22

savings does not show up in our figures.23

Your Honor, perhaps, as a measure of the committee's24

work, I note that of the many fee and expense requests we have25
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received of the significant amounts we have advised you about1

in our reports to the Court and of all the many employed firms2

involved in this fee process, the Court has received six3

replies filed with the Court plus a few additional ones that4

Mr. Rosen has mentioned, being the objections for consideration5

today.6

Ideally, I suppose there should be none.  Then again7

if there were none that might be taken to mean that we were too8

liberal with the estate's money in our recommendations.  We9

don't believe that we were liberal in our recommendations,10

neither do we believe that we were illiberal.  We do believe11

that we have submitted for your consideration recommendations12

that are reasonable and appropriate for the substantial work13

done and the services rendered by the professionals we14

reviewed.15

I thank you, Your Honor, on behalf of the fee16

committee and its staff for the opportunity to serve as we have17

in this most notable case.18

THE COURT:  All right.19

Thank you for your remarks and, certainly, thank you20

for your leadership regarding the committee and all the21

committee members and its staff.22

MR. PATCHEN:  Thank you, Your Honor.23

THE COURT:  I just wanted to mention three particular24

statistics that in some respect only provide maybe a skeleton25
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of what this case has been like for four years or the three and1

a half years before confirmation but it sets the stage, I2

think, for some of the testimony that we may hear about the3

activities that went on during the course of this case and4

between December 1, 2001 and July 15, 2004, the entry of the5

confirmation order, there were over 20,000 docket entries at6

that time and now there is near 30,000 docket entries.  By that7

July 15th date I had signed more than 3,000 orders and there8

were more than 1,000 adversary proceedings filed.  That doesn't9

necessarily tell even the beginning of the story but I do think10

it is some indication of how active these cases were and still11

are to a great extent, how much litigation ensued and, I think,12

as professionals you all recognize that the more litigation13

there is the higher the costs are so we are faced with the14

difficult task of determining the reasonableness of that cost15

in the context of what was presented over these last nearly16

four years.  17

So with that in mind I will turn, briefly, to the18

U.S. Trustee's Office if they care to make remarks now or19

reserve their remarks until the conclusion of all the20

presentations.21

MR. THEUS:  Yes, Your Honor.22

May it please the Court, I'm Walt Theus from the U.S.23

Trustee's Office.24

As the Court is aware, we have participated actively25
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in the meetings and deliberations of the fee review committee. 1

The U.S. Trustee has devoted significant time and resources to2

the fee review process.3

While the U.S. Trustee believes that the fee4

committee performed admirably in reviewing the fee and expense5

statements of the professionals, the professional fees in this6

case have been of unprecedented size.  On balance, however,7

given the complexity of these cases, the attention given by the8

Court-established fee committee to the professional time9

entries and expenses and the difficulty in identifying any10

additional specific time entries to be allowed, the U.S.11

Trustee does not object to the entry of an order by this Court12

awarding final fees and expenses as recommended by the fee13

committee in its reports.14

Thank you.15

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.16

Mr. Rosen.17

MR. ROSEN:  Thank you, Your Honor.18

Your Honor, as I indicated before, we are here before19

the Court pursuant to what I referred to as the fee procedures20

order and as part of that fee procedures order the Court had21

requested a presentation by the debtors as to the overall22

Chapter 11 cases and if possible a discussion of the firms that23

were involved in connection with the providing of services24

during the Chapter 11 cases.25
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In order to do that, Your Honor, I'd like to just1

take a brief step back and talk about how we got to where we2

did and then we will proceed with the direct presentation of3

testimony.4

Your Honor, in 1985 Enron was a domestic natural gas5

pipeline company but by mid 2001, Enron was ranked seventh on6

the Fortune 500 list of the largest United States industrial7

corporations.  That explosive growth was fueled by as8

development of the trading business that it had and an9

aggressive domestic and international acquisition strategy. 10

However, all of that led to a collapse in 2001.  As the Court11

and the world is aware, Jeff Skilling, then CEO of Enron12

resigned.  In the fall of 2001, the company's financial13

credibility became under siege.  There was a liquidity crisis14

and that commenced with a succession of credit downgrades.  The15

credit markets withdrew their support and there was an16

inability on Enron's part to roll over commercial paper and17

other loan agreements and financing agreements that it had with18

its lenders.19

The Dynegy [Ph.] merger that had been announced at20

the beginning of November 2001 had been terminated by the end21

of November 2001 and the trading operations on which Enron had,22

as I said, fueled its aggressive growth came to a grinding23

halt.  The board of directors and all of management came under24

siege and the board of directors appointed what was referred to25
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as the Powers committee to investigate transactions and1

internal controls.  The senior management of Enron was2

overwhelmed by the company's collapse and chaos ensued.  This3

all led, Your Honor, to the December 2, 2001 filing of what we4

believe was the most complex and largest Chapter 11 case in5

history.  One hundred eighty debtors filed over a period of6

approximately two and a half years.  Three debtors were sold7

and their cases were severed from the Enron Chapter 11 cases. 8

Pursuant to this Court's order of just a few weeks ago, two9

debtors' cases became dismissed.  Those were the Portland10

debtors as they were referred to Your Honor and 175 debtors11

remain the subject of the Chapter 11 plan that this Court12

confirmed in July 2004.13

When Enron went into bankruptcy, Your Honor, there14

were approximately 2,500 subsidiaries.  What we estimate by the15

end of this year, Your Honor, will be 520 remaining.  The rest16

will have been dissolved, merged, sold or otherwise just17

liquidated.  As the Court indicated before, on approximately18

July 15, 2004 there were approximately 20,000 pleadings on19

file.  Now, Your Honor, at this point there are in excess of20

29,800 pleadings on file.  In July 2004 there were 3,000 orders21

entered by this Court.  At this point there are in excess of22

4,600 orders entered.  This Court indicated a moment ago that23

in July 2004 there were 1,000 adversary proceedings commenced. 24

At this point in time, Your Honor, there are 1,400 adversary25
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proceedings filed.1

This Court established a claims procedure and bar2

dates throughout the Chapter 11 cases.  There were in excess of3

25,000 claims filed totaling approximately $900 billion plus4

unliquidated amounts.  On July 15, 2004 this Court entered an5

order in supporting findings-of-fact and conclusions of law6

confirming the Chapter 11 cases.  Seven appeals from that7

confirmation order.  At this point, Your Honor, only one appeal8

remains and based upon discussions and mediation efforts that9

this Court required, we believe that that remaining appeal from10

confirmation will be withdrawn.  There were an additional 2411

appeals taken from this Court's other orders.  12

Going back to the claims process, Your Honor, we have13

filed 95 omnibus objections to proofs of claim in the case plus14

countless others of individual claims.  Over 75 Enron foreign15

affiliates commenced insolvency proceedings, whether16

voluntarily or involuntarily, in over twenty countries around17

the world.18

What we will put on for the Court today and for19

everyone in the courtroom is the testimony of Messrs. Cooper,20

Bingham and Winn of Crowell, Zoffo, Cooper [Ph.].  These21

individuals served as restructuring officers for the debtors22

and they will testify regarding the process of leading Enron23

from the maelstrom initial days after the December 2, 200124

filings through confirmation and through consummation of its25
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Chapter 11 plan and even provide an update for the Court and1

everyone in the courtroom as to where things are.  In that2

regard, they will address results achieved through confirmation3

and beyond as well as the substantial efforts of the primary4

professional firm supporting the debtor's efforts to achieve5

this outcome.6

Mr. Cooper will testify about stabilizing and7

organizing the company's resources by that Enron management and8

by the utilization of outside professionals.  He will talk9

about the developing of the Chapter 11 value maximization10

strategy, the splitting up of assets into core assets and non-11

core assets, the liquidation of the wholesale retail book, as12

it was called, and litigation and investigations that the13

company was subject to.  He will also provide as I've14

indicated, a post-confirmation/consummation update.15

Mr. Bingham will testify about the development of the16

recovery model; the asset mapping and the liability mapping17

that went along with that.  He will also testify about the18

development and negotiation of a Chapter 11 plan and the19

interfacing with the ENA examiner.  He will also discuss20

Chapter 11 management which dealt with the cash transaction21

controls, overhead allocation, the ENA examiner, employee22

issues, dissolution of the non-debtors and the claims23

compression process.24

Lastly, Mr. Winn will testify about the examiners25
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themselves and by that I mean, Your Honor, the investigations1

of the examiners, not with respect to the Chapter 11 management2

and the ENA examiner.  He will also discuss the resolution and3

reconciliation of the SPEs -- or the special purpose entities -4

- the avoidance action litigation and the mega claim5

litigation.6

With that, Your Honor, I would ask that we proceed7

with the testimony of Mr. Cooper.8

THE COURT:  All right.9

Call Mr. Cooper to the stand.10

(Mr. Cooper, Witness, Sworn.)11

THE COURT:  Go ahead.12

DIRECT EXAMINATION13

BY MR. ROSEN:14

Q Mr. Cooper, if you could just very generally describe what15

your role and responsibilities were in these Chapter 11 cases?16

A In late January 2002 I was retained as the interim chief17

executive officer and the non-interim chief restructuring18

officer of Enron.19

Q Are you familiar in that capacity with the work that was20

done in these Chapter 11 cases by management, Crowell, Zoffo,21

Cooper and outside professionals?22

A Yes.23

Q Have you prepared a summary that's based upon this24

knowledge as to those activities throughout the Chapter 1125
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cases?1

A Yes.2

Q Would that assist you in the presentation of any testimony3

here today?4

A Yes.5

MR. ROSEN:  Your may I approach?6

THE COURT:  Yes.7

BY MR. ROSEN:8

Q Is this a copy of what you prepared, Mr. Cooper?9

A Yes, it is.10

MR. ROSEN:  Your Honor, at this point I would like to11

offer into evidence this presentation that would assist Mr.12

Cooper into evidence, Your Honor.13

THE COURT:  Any objections?14

MR. BROWN:  Your Honor, since I haven't seen it --15

THE COURT:  Mr. Brown, I need you to come forward and16

be near a microphone.17

Mr. Brown, just identify yourself for the record.18

MR. BROWN:  Thank you, Your Honor.19

I am Barry Brown.  I represent Upstream Energy as20

agent in connection with its objection to the success fee and21

its limited objection to the Weil, Gotshal & Manges fees.22

THE COURT:  All right.23

Mr. Rosen, would you give a copy of that to Mr.24

Brown?25
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MR. ROSEN:  Your Honor, if it would facilitate1

matters what we could do, Your Honor, is utilize this as a2

demonstrative aide through Mr. Cooper's testimony and at the3

conclusion of that testimony offer it into evidence.4

We also have, Your Honor, copies of this for as many5

people as we have copies for in the courtroom.6

THE COURT:  All right.7

Why don't we take a five minute break, distribute the8

copies that you have.  Also, if you're going to use any form of9

board, etc., find a location to set it up so we can all benefit10

from it.11

MR. ROSEN:  Thank you, Your Honor.12

THE COURT:  We'll just take a brief recess.13

Thank you.14

(Recess.)15

THE COURT:  Please be seated.16

Go ahead.17

MR. ROSEN:  Thank you, Your Honor.18

DIRECT EXAMINATION CONTINUED19

BY MR. ROSEN:20

Q Mr. Cooper, what is your involvement with Enron and when21

did it begin?22

A My involvement with Enron began in late January 2002 and23

at that time I was appointed the interim CEO and the company's24

chief restructuring officer.25
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Q In the summer of 2002 what steps did you take with respect1

to a business plan and the unsecured creditors committee?2

A Well, we produced a pretty comprehensive business plan for3

a roll up of virtually all of the assets that had been deemed4

core assets and we presented that plan to the creditors5

committee at that time.6

Q Did this business plan ultimately in several variants7

later become the basis on which you presented a Chapter 11 plan8

to the Court?9

A Yes, it did.10

Q When was that Chapter 11 plan confirmed?11

A The Chapter 11 plan was confirmed in July 2004.12

Q When did that plan go effective?13

A That plan went effective in mid-November 2001.14

Q What role at this point in time does Steven, Forbes,15

Cooper, LLC and yourself have in connection with the debtors?16

A The LLC is the reorganized debtor plan administrator and17

disbursing agent.  I'm still the interim CEO, the interim18

president and the non-interim chief restructuring officer.19

Q Did the LLC also become named as the service trustee in20

connection with any other duties pursuant to the plan?21

A It is the trustee of certain tranches of equity and it is22

the potential trustee if and when a litigation trust or asset23

trusts are formed.  Yes.24

Q Going back in time now to when you arrived on the scene25
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what was the state of the company at the beginning of these1

cases, what was the morale of employees and the economics of2

the enterprise as you viewed them?3

A Well, when I first got involved from at least my4

perspective the company was in a state of just total chaos and5

it had a very high potential to be just a complete meltdown. 6

The worldwide business operations were in a state of crisis. 7

There was an enormous amount of commercial uncertainty and8

there was no restructuring leadership on board at that time. 9

There were -- I can tell you from my first couple of meetings10

with creditors, the relationships with the creditors were very11

hostile.  Employee morale was devastated is kind of an12

understatement.  An enormous amount of financial nest eggs had13

been wiped out and the employees were unbelievably angry --14

unbelievably angry.  The government investigations, whether it15

was on a federal, state or local level, were just -- I mean16

they were just growing.  They were growing like -- they were17

just growing.  I mean it was unbelievable.18

Q Going to what you said before about the creditors, the19

hostility and their expectations, what did the creditors20

perceive at that point in time to be the recoveries out of the21

Enron chaos?22

A Well, the feedback I got from various members to the23

committee was that they looked at this as if it was just a24

meltdown and a fire sale and in fact there were expectations25
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that the recovery if any would be nominal.1

Q Certainly, after you came on board there was the issuance2

of the Powers report.  Could you briefly state what that was3

and what you as management did to try and correct the findings?4

A Professor Powers was at that time the dean of the5

University of Texas Law School and he had brought on the Enron6

board and he and one or two other board members had been7

charged with examining the board's and management's behavior8

around the special purpose entities that had become public in,9

I guess, October and November of 2001.10

Q What did the company do to address some of the findings;11

the management issues and the board issues?12

A Well, the report was very critical of both the board's13

role and senior management's role and steps were taken to (1)14

replace virtually all of senior management.  I actually took15

that step and got rid of virtually all of the executive16

management team and then a plan was put in place to take the17

old directors out of the Enron environment and bring in a new18

board of directors over a space of sixty or ninety days.19

Q Was that done in consultation with the creditors20

committee?21

A Yes, every step of the way.22

Q Generally speaking, what do you see as the results of the23

Chapter 11 cases at the time of confirmation and now?24

A Well, I think given the state of the company and the25
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expectations at the time, this has been a remarkable and1

extraordinary success; billions in value have been recovered2

through the creditors by way of either going concern sales or3

the reorganization, the liquidation of the trading book and4

miscellaneous assets and, when appropriate, litigation.  This5

is a plan that went from chaos and a potential meltdown to a6

confirmed plan in 32 months and there's not a question in my7

mind that this was the most complex Chapter 11 in U.S. history.8

Q What do you see as some of the results or achievements9

with respect to the governmental investigations that you10

mentioned earlier?11

A The company had a policy of complete candor and openness12

with the government and through that level of cooperation and13

negotiation with respect to the company being criminally14

indicted, that was avoided and with respect to the SEC, there15

was no imposition of either a fine or a fair fund contribution16

and, ultimately, the SEC withdrew their proof of claim.17

Q Going back now in time, how did you and Steven, Forbes,18

Cooper, LLC approach the Enron cases of the chaos, as you call19

it, and bring direction to that process?20

A Well, when we got there the Enron organization was21

unbelievably decentralized and very, very opaque.  It was22

spread out like a buffet lunch.  One of the first things my23

colleagues and I did was take this highly decentralized24

organization, both the debtors and the non-debtors, and group25
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them into six, well-defined, clearly defined levels of activity1

with very strong central oversight.  So that was really step2

number one.3

Q Did you institute any policies to facilitate this?4

A Yes, with respect to the business operations we5

immediately centralized the management organization into two6

essential committees, an executive committee and a management7

committee, highly centralized and we put into place the8

attendant policies, procedures and controls to insure that9

virtually any transaction that had any meaningfulness -- if10

that's a word -- at all had to be run through these groupings11

in order to insure that we brought not only the current12

business under control but in order to insure the commitments13

that were being made worldwide were brought under control.14

Q How did you address the employee issue?15

A Well, we did several things.  We tried to reorient the16

employees immediately to dealing with the present and looking17

forward as opposed to just continuing to dwell in their anger18

and their upset.  We began to have, both on departmental scale19

and company-wide scale and town meeting scales, regular20

meetings with the employees to let them know what was going on,21

where we were going and how were going to get there.  There was22

typically a daily or weekly voice mail from myself just to keep23

them posted as to progress.  We put in a number of retention24

programs, both CURP programs -- key employee retention programs25
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-- or severance programs to provide some stability to the1

employee base.  This was a company that required very2

specialized types of employee skills.  We went to bat to set up3

an emergency fund for the employees that couldn't pay their4

health care, their mortgages and we came back to the Court, as5

I recall, a number of times to modify the severance programs6

for those employees that had been terminated vis-a-vis e-mail.7

Q How did you deal with the hostile environment or the8

relationships that the company had at that point with the9

creditor body?10

A Well, we assured the creditors committee and other major11

constituencies, by way of example, the bank group that we had a12

completely open agenda which was really to maximize value, that13

we were completely open to providing, sharing whatever14

information they requested and to work with them and report to15

them on a regular basis.16

Q Did you develop any groupings to deal with the various17

assets of the problems that were facing you and Enron?18

A Yes, I did.19

Q What were those groupings?20

A Well, we attempted to -- in fact, we did more than21

attempt, we did -- we actually put all of the business22

organizations or issues into six clearly defined boxes or23

business segments, whatever you want to call them.24

Q What were those boxes or segments?25
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A The six boxes or segments were as follows:  one was the1

core business segments which were essentially the key pipeline2

businesses, the large scale international businesses, Portland3

(sic) General Electric.  We had a box for non-core businesses. 4

Those were businesses that didn't conveniently fit into either5

of the previous three business platform categories and they6

were slated for going concern dispositions in general.  We7

built a structure and an organization around the wind down and8

liquidation of the wholesale and retail assets.  We built9

another organization around litigation and investigations, both10

offensively and defensively.  That included dealing with the11

government investigations, mega claims, the avoidance actions12

and other.  We built an organization around Chapter 1113

management which was the development of the plan, the14

disclosure statement, claims management in the recovery model15

and then we developed a box around other special situations16

which was primarily dealing with and resolving the special17

purpose entities.18

Q How were these buckets staffed or led, Mr. Cooper?19

A Those buckets were led by either myself or one of my20

colleagues.  In general, I oversaw the ongoing management and21

platform organization with respect to the core businesses.  I22

also oversaw the disposition of non-core businesses.  Bob23

Semple [Ph.], one of my colleagues oversaw the liquidation of24

the wholesale and retail energy books and other books.  Bob25
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Bingham was responsible for overseeing Chapter 11 management1

and Scott Winn oversaw litigation and investigations and other2

special situations.3

Q Did you assign outside counsel to work with each of these4

buckets or groups?5

A Yes, we did.6

Q What were the general assignments that you had?7

A Weil, Gotshal was put in place as our lead counsel and our8

gatekeeper over all of these areas and then we then whacked up9

these areas as follows:  the core businesses, their ongoing10

legal issues were handled by either Weil, Gotshal or Skadden,11

Arps; the non-core business dispositions was in general handled12

by Weil, Gotshal; the wholesale and retail liquidation involved13

in general Weil, Gotshal and Cadwalader relative to the day in14

and day out liquidations; LeBoeuf, Lamb specialized in15

interfacing with FERK (sic) and providing us with regulatory16

advice and the Venable firm handled some special situations,17

amongst them the commercial paper litigation issues and the18

equity forward issues.  Weil, Gotshal, as I mentioned was our19

lead bankruptcy counsel so they dealt generally with all of the20

Chapter 11 management.  In the litigation and investigations we21

had a number of firms but in general Weil, Gotshal oversaw22

litigation. Sussman, Godfrey was our lead counsel with support23

from Togut, Segal & Segal in the mega claims and avoidance24

actions and Skadden, Arps was our primary interface with the25
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government investigations.  Weil, Gotshal was the lead in the1

other special situations, primarily the SPEs and we used a2

variety of counsel in addition to Weil in that specific area.3

Q You mentioned before the relationship with creditors and4

the creditors committee.  How did you and the company develop5

that relationship with the creditors committee?6

A Well, as I mentioned to you, we adopted an open kimono7

(sic) policy.  We had no agenda other than to maximize value. 8

We were very open in our communications with the committee.  We9

met with them on a regular basis.  Whatever information they10

wanted or requested we shared with them.  We reported to them11

regularly.  Where it was appropriate, we established joint12

processes, by way of example, they were part of a debtor-led13

joint process relative to analyzing and resolving SPE issues. 14

We encouraged them where appropriate and we shared whatever15

information we had and made the debtor's employees available16

for them to do their own independent work, by way of example,17

their independent substantive consolidation investigation.  The18

committee or their professionals through a subcommittee19

structure met regularly with the debtors in a variety of areas,20

amongst them the status of the trading book wind down, the21

bankruptcy transaction review committee work or the cash22

management committee.  So they were heavily integrated into the23

where we are, where we're going and how we were going to get24

there process.25
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THE COURT:  Mr. Cooper, what was the role of the1

creditors committee with respect to the selection process that2

you were involved in as restructuring officer/interim CEO?3

THE WITNESS:  Well, I can only give you what I was4

told.  Apparently, the committee was very upset with the5

management end or the board that was in place and told the6

company that they were going to have to bring in an interim7

CEO.  I understand that I was one of a name or two that had8

been tossed around and I agreed to have a discussion with the9

committee about it, their expectations, so on and so forth, and10

I was told that discussion didn't have to take place, that they11

had told the debtor that it was either me or a trustee.12

THE COURT:  All right.13

Go ahead.14

MR. ROSEN:  Thank you, Your Honor.15

BY MR. ROSEN:16

Q Mr. Cooper, you are aware of the appointment of the ENA17

examiner in this case.  What was his initial role and how if at18

all was it expanded?19

A Jay Goldin was appointed as the ENA examiner and his20

initial role was to look at the cash management system and the21

interaction between ENE and ENA with respect to the sources and22

uses of cash.  As part of that, he was also charged to insure23

that corporate overhead allocations, which was in a big ENE24

bucket at the time, were carefully thought out and were25
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appropriate.1

THE COURT:  Just for clarification, ENE is Enron?2

THE WITNESS:  ENE is Enron.  ENA is Enron North3

America.4

THE COURT:  All right.5

THE WITNESS:  Sorry.  I'll just say Enron or Enron6

North America.7

BY MR. ROSEN:8

Q Was his role in any way ever expanded?9

A Yes, at some point, albeit the date escapes me, his role10

was expanded to be a plan facilitator with respect to ENA, so11

plan facilitation was a role that was added and at some point12

the Enron examiner apparently had one or more conflicts with13

respect to investigating certain entities and the ENA14

examiner's role was expanded to deal with the conflicts that15

the ENE examiner had by way of certain institutions or16

organizations.17

Q You mentioned previously how the creditors committee was18

integrated into the Chapter 11 management process.  How did the19

company involve Mr. Goldin into that process?20

A It was essentially the same process.  We shared or21

provided whatever information Mr. Goldin wanted.  We reported22

regularly.  He or his colleagues monitored the cash management23

committee and the BTRC -- the bankruptcy transaction review24

committee -- he did extensive diligence on cash management and25
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overhead allocation which we supported him on and worked with1

him on.  His colleagues were on site on essentially a full-time2

basis for extended periods of time.  So we worked with the3

examiners almost in the same way, shape and form that we worked4

with the committee.5

Q Did you in your role designate a person in management or6

of the Crowell, Zoffo, Cooper family to interface directly and7

be available for the ENA examiner throughout the Chapter 118

cases?9

A Yes.  That was Bob Bingham.10

Q What was Mr. Bingham's role throughout the cases besides11

that?12

A Bob was essentially in charge of oversight for dealing13

with the Chapter 11 issues; outset mapping, liability mapping,14

plan development.15

Q When seeking to maximize the values of these estates what16

steps were taken to liquidate the trading book and the assets17

associated with the trading book?18

A Well, that deal was actually organized before we came on19

board but my understanding is that the organization, not the20

assets, were sold to UBS for a percentage of the future21

profits.  What it did do from my perspective is it allowed the22

estate to avoid meaningful go forward costs with respect to23

trading operations because it was very clear to me that Enron24

was out of that business.25
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Q Was an organization like that ever sold in a Chapter 111

case?2

A To the best of my knowledge this is the first time a3

debtor-in-possession has ever sold a trading organization.4

Q As to the book, itself, as it's referred to -- the trading5

book -- what were some of the issues associated with its6

liquidation and how did you and management deal with those7

issues?8

A Well, the book was something that had an enormous amount9

of potential for a meltdown.  The book had almost an equal10

number of assets and corresponding liabilities.  So we took a11

couple of immediate steps.  On contracts that were in the money12

we continued to actually manage those contracts on a day-in,13

day-out basis including buying and then delivering physical14

power.  In fact, we actually came to the creditors committee15

and the Court at some point -- again, the date and the timing16

escapes me -- but we came to the Court to get permission to17

hedge so that in fact we could lock in the built-in gains that18

we had in the trading book.  So where we were in the money --19

and this was primarily the physical delivery of electricity,20

albeit there were a couple of in the money gas contracts, we21

actually managed those contracts and physically delivered22

energy.  Where we were out of the money, we terminated the23

contracts.  Where we were in the money and our counterparty24

terminated the contracts, we developed a fairly aggressive25
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approach to dealing with those counterparties by way of either1

negotiation, settling or litigation under a variety of Court-2

approved protocols.3

Q Did the company utilize any mediation to try and resolve4

any outstanding disputes?5

A Yes.  In fact, the Court implemented a mandatory mediation6

process for all of the highly adversarial trading issues that7

couldn't be readily resolved or settled.8

Q With respect to those that have actually participated in9

mediation, what has been the success rate?10

A For those that have participated in at least one mediation11

session, the success rate has been about 75 percent by way of12

getting to a settlement.13

Q Was litigation commenced in any proceedings?14

A Some litigation has been commenced.15

Q What does the company see as the results of all of these16

efforts with respect to the trading book?17

MR. ROSEN:  Your Honor, if I could this is the first18

larger or blow up of this.  It is also included as Slide 13 in19

the presentation that was distributed.20

THE COURT:  That's Page 13?21

MR. ROSEN:  Yes.22

THE COURT:   All right.23

Go ahead.24

BY MR. ROSEN:25



Cooper - Direct 38

A You know, this is actually in my perspective an1

extraordinary result.  If you keep in mind that the assets and2

the liabilities were essentially matched in the Enron contract3

book, we were able to generate roughly $5.4 billion of4

recoveries, cash recoveries, and this excludes any benefit to5

the estate that would be associated with either (a) claim6

reductions or (b) withdrawals of claims.  From the settlement7

or the continuing to manage the in the money contracts, we8

produced cash proceeds of about $2.9 billion.  In the9

collection of -- whether it was wholesale or retail -- accounts10

receivable, we generated over $1.3 billion and other trading11

related collections came in at about $1.150 billion.12

Q You mentioned that there was a matching of the book if you13

will.  So is it fair to say that these results have exceeded14

what your expectations or forecasts were at the inception of15

your involvement?16

A Yes.  In fact, the committee had a subset called the Safe17

Harbor Committee and in conversations with a couple of members18

of that committee they thought this would be a meltdown and19

their concern was mitigating liabilities.  Again, this was a20

matched market book on both the asset side and the liability21

side and with very little if any embedded profits.  So this was22

an unbelievable result given the circumstances.23

Q What firms of outside professionals were involved in this24

process of liquidating the trading assets?25
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A The two firms jointly responsible involved in liquidating1

these assets was Cadwalader and Weil, Gotshal and as I2

mentioned before LeBoeuf, Lamb was our primary interface with3

the FERK (sic) proceedings plus regulatory advice in connection4

with winding out of the book.5

Q With respect to the operating or non-trading assets, what6

was the concept behind maximizing those values for the estate?7

A Well, that actually had a couple of facets to it.  As I8

mentioned to you, we identified our larger, more productive9

assets that could be shaped into valuable operating platforms10

and then we separated those from those assets that ultimately11

wouldn't fit.  With respect to all of the assets, actually, not12

only the core-assets but all of the assets, one of the things13

that was important to overcome was this view that this was14

going to be -- this is Enron now -- that this was going to be a15

relatively short fire sale liquidation and in fact all of the16

marketplace buzz was that this was going to be a short fire17

sale liquidation.  What we did by identifying and then18

platforming ultimately the core assets is that we had an19

alternative available to the creditors by way of reorganization20

and distributing that value in a way other than a fire sale and21

that strategy ultimately enhanced substantially the recovery22

value of the assets by communicating to either the bottom23

fishers or real buyers that the company's selling alterative24

was only an alternative if we could get the appropriate value25
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in the marketplace.1

Q What was this strategy referred to as?2

A It was the strategy that was originally referred to as3

Opco and that ended up morphing into Cross Country, Prisma4

(sic) Energy, Energy International and Portland General5

Electric.  Parenthetically, even within Opco, the assets were6

grouped by way of cohesive operating platforms.7

Q How did Opco work its way from a concept or a business8

plan into the Chapter 11 plan?9

A Well, it did it in two ways:  (1) we reached an agreement10

with the committee that we would undertake a marketing and11

sales process so as to assess the marketplace's view of value12

in mid to late 2002 and early 2003 and at the same time we put13

in place a plan process that noticed if you will -- served14

notice to the marketplace that there really was a real15

alternative here and Opco in its platform subcomponents ended16

up morphing its way into the plan by way of Cross Country,17

Prisma and Portland General Electric.18

Q As an example of this could you briefly describe the19

process then that went with the development and the eventual20

sale of Cross Country?21

A Sure.  We went through, consistent with the wishes of the22

creditors committee, a marketing and sales process in mid to23

late 2002 and we got back offers.  In fact, this is now Enron24

management including me, who was advised by virtually everybody25
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involved that we would never be able to sell these pipeline1

assets as an operating platform so we marketed them in whole or2

in part.  We got offers on the various pipeline assets which,3

inclusive of assumption of debt, was about $1.3 billion.4

Q That was in the aggregate?5

A In the aggregate.  $1.3 billion in the aggregate.  At that6

particular point in time we told the creditors committee that7

we were not prepared to sell the pipelines for that value.  So8

late in 2002 we identified those assets that were going to9

contribute to Cross Country Energy.  In the fall of 2003, the10

Cross Country contribution and separation agreement was11

approved.  Low and behold, as the energy markets and the12

capital markets stabilized, a number of people expressed13

interest in a platform that held all of these entities.  We14

went through another abbreviated marketing and selling process15

and an auction process that actually ended up contributing16

about another $240 million or $250 million of value but at the17

end of the day we sold our Cross Country Energy including18

assumption of debt for close to $2.5 billion.19

Q So through the implementation of this strategy the estate20

garnered a net benefit of in excess of $1.1 billion?  Is that21

correct?22

A Absolutely.23

Q Likewise, could you explain Enron's and your steps with24

respect to Portland General Electric?25
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A Well, in November of 2003 after a long, long, long, drawn1

out marketing and sales process, we signed an agreement to sell2

PGE to Oregon Electric which was a company established by the3

Texas Pacific Group for $1.25 billion.  You know, we told the4

committee at that time that we thought the deal was only a5

small O, small K, but nonetheless, there was a view that the6

utilities should be sold.  We went to the bankruptcy court in7

early 2004.  They approved the sale subject to regulatory8

approvals and during that time Texas Pacific, you know, had9

entered into the appropriate filings with the Oregon Public10

Utility Commission which had to sanction the sale of PGE to11

TPG.12

Q Did the OPUC actually approve the transaction or did it in13

fact sanction it the wrong way?14

A It didn't approve the sale.  We almost immediately15

undertook an effort to sell PGE to the City of Portland, who 16

had continued to dance around an acquisition for, I don't know,17

a year and a half or two years.  They offered Enron $2 billion18

which was our asking price and which was reflective of the19

market value at that particular point in time.  We couldn't20

reach agreement on certain terms and conditions and so as I sit21

here today we anticipate distributing the new PGE common stock22

to the creditors beginning in April 2006.23

Q Did the plan that was confirmed by the Court provide for24

either the distribution of proceeds or the distribution of25
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stock?1

A Yes, it did.2

Q Did the Court reach as part of the confirmation process a3

valuation of that PGE stock?4

A Well, it was a valuation of PGE in the plan.  To the best5

of my recollection the value of PGE was pegged slightly below6

the TPG offer for PGE because of certain offsets or7

indemnifications.  I think it was pegged roughly $1.2 billion.8

Q Do you have a current market value of PGE and if so what9

is that based upon?10

A The City with their investment bankers offered $2 billion11

and they were highly confident that they could raise that in12

the marketplace.  If you look at public utility multiples today13

and you keep in mind that PGE is an investment grade company14

with an investment grade balance sheet that it's never been15

tainted by a bankruptcy.  I think that the City's valuation16

which, incidentally, came from Goldman, Sachs and Merrill,17

Lynch as I recall, I would say $2 billion.18

Q Based upon those two points in time you see an increase in19

the value of approximately $800 million.  Is that correct?20

A Well, I don't know if the indemnities would have ever21

worked.  I would say $750 million but that's pretty close to22

$800 million.23

Q You also mentioned a distribution of stock in April 2006. 24

On what basis will the debtors be able to make that25
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distribution of stock?1

A The plan is such that in order to, I guess, have the right2

marketplace vibrancy we would not distribute until we were3

confident we could get over thirty percent of the common4

distributed in the first slug (sic).  We are confident we'll5

meet that threshold.6

Q Through the claims compression process?7

A Yes, through the claims compression process.8

Q The third platform that you referred to before was the9

international assets.  What have you done with those assets?10

A Well, those were a -- Prisma Energy was actually created11

almost by default.  We put a number of international assets12

through this same marketing/selling process to test the13

marketplace's view of value.  The view was not at all good and14

so what we did in early 2003, we identified sixteen assets as I15

recall, to be contributed to this international platform and in16

June 2003 we formed Prisma.17

Q At what point in time did you actually contribute the18

assets to Prisma?19

A Well, about a year later, early spring of 2004, we20

contributed these assets and a separation agreement was21

approved.22

Q Did the Court -- like with Portland General -- did the23

Court issue an evaluation or make findings in the context of24

confirmation as to what the value of those assets which were25
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listed on the plan supplement would have?1

A Yes.2

Q What was that valuation?3

A The value at that time to the best of my recollection was4

pegged at about $900 million.5

Q What has happened since confirmation -- since consummation6

of the plan with respect to these Prisma assets?7

A Well, a couple of things have happened.  We've sold one of8

the assets, S.K. Enron, for approximately $300 million.  We had9

done a number of internal balance sheet reorganizations on some10

of the larger, more valuable entities.  We have put in place a11

very good leadership team and they have produced extraordinary12

financial results.13

Q And what do you see the value increasing by since the14

confirmation process to today?15

A Well, at the confirmation process the value was pegged at16

slightly under $900 million.  We have dividended out since17

confirmation roughly $300 million.  Prisma is sitting with an18

additional $600 million in cash in their banks not used in19

operations and we have indicative values of interest because it20

is also prior to distributing stock, we're looking at what the21

marketplace would currently pay, we have indicative offers of22

value, most of which start at $1.5 billion and go north from23

that particular point.24

Q So all in all what would you say that that value is?25
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A Over $2.5 billion.1

Q Taking into account what you said before about the sale of2

Cross Country, how much has been derived from the asset3

dispositions of the non-trading or the operating assets?4

A To date, about $6.1 billion of net asset disposition5

proceeds have gone into the estate.  Cross Country is roughly6

$2.1 billion.  The liquidation of a variety of European assets,7

primarily Arcos (sic), has contributed close to $600 million. 8

The Wind (sic) entities, $400 million, Zurich (sic) is another9

roughly $200 million and a whole slew of miscellaneous assets10

have come in at about $2.8 billion.11

Q Which of the debtor's professionals were involved in the12

liquidation of these or the development of these platforms for13

the debtors?14

A The Blackstrong Group was our lead financial advisor and15

they were involved in substantially all of the sales. 16

Relational advisors, formerly Betrolune (sic) Companies,17

supported us with the disposition of the mariner and18

miscellaneous oil and gas assets.  Weil, Gotshal was involved19

as both bankruptcy and corporate counsel in substantially all20

of the sales.  Andrews & Kurth supported us in disposing of the21

Limbock (sic) Companies, Enron Commodity Metals and the EBS22

assets.  Connell, Foley, with respect to Garden State Paper23

Company.  LeBoeuf, Lamb with respect to Bridgeline, Hanover24

Measurement, Enron Compression, Meggs (sic) and EBS Fiber25
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Assets.  Skadden, Arps with respect to the international asset1

sales.  Togut, Segal & Segal with respect to the Dubvit (sic)2

auction process, those sales and other de minimis assets and3

Thompkin, Torp (sic) with respect to the sale of Portland4

General Electric.5

THE COURT:  I'll take a ten minute recess and then we6

will reconvene and continue the testimony.7

(Recess.)8

THE COURT:  Go ahead.9

DIRECT EXAMINATION CONTINUED10

BY MR. ROSEN:11

Q Mr. Cooper, you mentioned just a moment ago in connection12

with the Prisma assets that there were expressions of interest.13

Is there any guaranty that even those values could be achieved14

that they may be plus or minus that?15

A There is no guaranty.16

Q Is there any certainty that a transaction would even be17

consummated?18

A None at all.19

Q So, the numbers that we've given as value are, as you20

indicated, just expressions of interest with no certainty of21

closure?  Is that correct?22

A Well, with the exception of the $300 million dividend, the23

$600 million in available cash not used for working capital. 24

That's actually sitting there.25
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Q With respect to the remaining assets, there's no guaranty?1

A There's no guaranty.2

Q Mr. Cooper, you mentioned before that amid this chaos that3

you stepped into, one of the areas of dysfunction was the need4

to respond to the myriad of governmental investigations and5

demands.  Can you briefly describe for the Court what those6

demands were and how the company responded?7

A Well, when I came on board there were a couple of dozen8

investigations underway, whether it was Congressional, whether9

it was department, agency, state or local.  So we did a couple10

of things:  (1) we pledged absolutely full cooperation and we11

then had to prepare for a tidal wave of document production and12

document management.  So as a result, what we did in mid to13

late 2002 as I recall, we created the shepherd warehouse14

centralized document production and management systems and15

organization.  We actually went into the business of large16

scale document management production, classification, storage,17

so on and so forth.18

Q And that shepherd warehouse is still used today?19

A It has been an ongoing business since 2002.20

Q With respect to the materials that you've actually21

produced, to what groups have you done that and what levels of22

production?23

A Well, starting with the aggregate, I am told that if24

everything we had produced was in paper form that we would have25
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filled eight and a half libraries of Congress, which my1

imagination is not good enough to figure out how much that is,2

but it's a lot.3

Q As a subset, we've gotten over seventy separate requests4

where requests are defined by dozens and dozens if not hundreds5

of pages from the Securities and Exchange Commission; close to6

forty separate requests from the DOJ; over sixty separate7

requests from FERK and, obviously, you know, numerous requests8

from other state and local investigatory organizations.9

Q You spoke generally at the outset of your testimony about10

some of the results achieved with respect to some of these11

governmental agencies.  What specifically were you able to put12

together with respect to the Department of Justice?13

A Well, with respect to the DOJ there were really two14

hurdles that had to be dealt with; one was that the company as15

opposed to individuals would not be charged with any criminal16

actions and that there would be no forfeiture of assets as a17

result of that and we were successful on both fronts.18

Q Did Enron personnel and Enron management and Enron counsel19

meet with the Department of Justice throughout these Chapter 1120

cases?21

A On a continuous basis.  Yes.22

Q With respect to the SEC what were the results that23

management and the professionals were able to achieve?24

A Well, the SEC, we actually had to deal with them on three25
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fronts; we had to register under PUCHA (sic) as a public1

utility company, that's the Public Utility Company Holding Act,2

and we were successful in registering as a PUCHA entity but,3

yet, at the same time negotiating registration conditions that4

essentially allowed us to continue to operate the business in a5

normal ordinary course environment day in and day out as a6

result of that negotiation.7

Q Did the SEC actually approve the Chapter 11 plan and take8

part in the distribution of solicitation materials?9

A Well, they approved the Chapter 11 plan and I can't recall10

whether or not they were involved in the solicitation but they11

also withdrew their proof of claim and we brought to closure12

any conversation about a fine or a fair fund contribution.13

Q Speaking of fines, did the company reach an agreement with14

respect to the CFTC and the claims that they had against the15

estate?16

A Yes.  We agreed with the CFTC, the Commodities Futures17

Trading Corp., to allow a subordinated claim.  As I recall it18

was maybe $30 odd million, maybe $35 million subordinated which19

means that there will ultimately be no recovery and it was a20

tremendous precedent and benchmark if you will for the estates21

and counsels (sic) and our ability to deal with other22

governmental or regulatory agencies.23

Q So that you used that as the mold for future settlement24

discussions with those entities?25
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A I'm going to use a legal word; it was precedent.1

Q What about your efforts with respect to the Department of2

Labor and the PBGC?3

A Well, they were pretty stressed for quite a while but4

ultimately we were able to resolve all of our outstanding5

issues with the DOL and the PBGC primarily and that flowed from6

resolving the Tiddle (sic) litigation.  As a result we were7

able to resolve all of our cash balance plan terminations with8

the PBGC and I think we exited our involvement with the both9

the DOL and the PBGC on pretty good terms.10

Q With respect to FERK, Mr. Cooper?11

A FERK, to date we've had, I think, a series of very12

positive outcomes.  In the El Paso Electric case where El Paso13

was actually described as a shill of Enron or a front for14

Enron, the demand for a billion dollar disgorgement was reduced15

to $35 million.  We were able to settle in principle the16

anomalous bid investigation, the specifics which escape me at17

the moment, but it was on relatively favorable terms and we18

were able to obtain dismissal, to date, of nineteen to 2219

qualifying facility investigations which went to the ownership20

of these facilities by a public utility.  There is still some21

litigation pending with FERK but I think we have developed a22

very open, candid and good working relationship with them and23

their counsel and I'm hopeful that it will be resolved24

successfully also.25
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Q Mr. Cooper, in connection with confirmation of the plan1

and the disclosure statement that was distributed as part of2

that, did the disclosure statement contain an estimate as to3

what the aggregate amount of allowed claims would be on a4

consolidated basis?5

A Yes, it did.6

Q What was that amount?7

A It was a bit over $63 billion.8

Q Did the disclosure statement have an estimate as to the9

value of assets on a consolidated basis?10

A It did.  The estimate was assets excluding, however, any11

recoveries from litigation.12

Q Would that be all litigation or subsets of them?  Meaning13

the mega claim litigation, avoidance or all litigation?14

A All litigation as I recall.15

Q Did the disclosure statement contain an estimate recovery16

percentage for claims on a consolidated basis?17

A Yes, we on a consolidated basis estimated a hair over18

nineteen percent on an asset value that was a bit over $1219

billion.20

Q We've gone through now through your testimony an increase21

in some of those values and I'm sure we're going to hear a22

little bit later about the claims compression process and the23

reduction of claims, do you have -- does the company have an24

estimate as to what the aggregate amount of allowed claims25
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would be on a consolidated basis?1

A Yes.  Management's best estimate as we sit here today is2

that the aggregate claims on a consolidated basis will be a3

hair over $51 billion.4

Q Is that a mid-point in a range, sir, or could you give us5

some parameters for that?6

A I could but I think giving you a point estimate is a7

better way to go.8

Q On the value of assets you mentioned before that of the9

$12.1 billion number, has that number increased as well?10

A Yes, that number in our view, net of the ongoing costs of11

administering the estate is $16.4 billion which includes some12

of the enhanced value of the assets as well as litigation13

settled to date, the largest block of that being the settlement14

of litigation with five of what is referred to as the mega15

claim defendants.16

Q At this point, Mr. Cooper, how many of those settlements17

though have been approved by the Court if you know?18

A I think maybe one out of the five.19

Q Of the remaining four do you know how many are subject to20

pending motions?21

A I believe all of them.22

Q Has one been filed with respect to Toronto Dominion?23

A That may not have been filed yet.  I know that the Chase24

has been filed.  I think RBC has been filed.  I can't remember25



Cooper - Direct 54

the Toronto Dominion.  I don't know if I've seen it or not.1

Q Taking into account then the current estimate for allowed2

claims on a consolidated basis and the aggregate value of3

assets on a consolidated basis does management have an4

estimated recovery percentage on a consolidated basis?5

A Management's best estimate today -- and I want to just6

stress -- this is before resolution of the balance of the mega7

claims or other litigation is 32 percent.8

Q But that is, once again, on a consolidated basis not on a9

debtor-by-debtor basis?10

A On a consolidated basis.  Exactly.11

Q Is it correct, though, that there could be fluctuations on12

a debtor-by-debtor basis depending upon the recovery models13

that were utilized in the case?14

A Well, I don't think there could be, I think there will be.15

Q Are you able to state here today what those respective16

percentages would be?17

A No.18

Q Mr. Cooper, placing the fees and expenses incurred in19

these Chapter 11 cases next to the value that you anticipate20

being distributed, what is the relationship of those at this21

point?22

A Well, I think that from an expense incurred to a value23

created -- is that your question?24

Q Yes.25
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A From an expense incurred to a value created, I think if1

you look at what the debtor incurred it's roughly two and a2

half percent of the $16.4 billion of value to be distributed3

again.  That value excludes non-settled (sic) litigation and4

when you look at the fees incurred by all other professionals5

it's a bit under the two and a half percent.  So in the6

aggregate you're talking about a case with this complexity that7

at the end of the day has $16 billion plus in value with a8

professional content of around five percent.  I think that's a9

pretty good rate of return.10

Q Going back a moment to the numbers that we just talked11

about in the aggregate consolidated recovery of approximately12

32 percent, how has the marketplace perceived the recovery13

efforts of the debtor in reducing claims and recovering assets14

or maximizing value?15

A Well, we looked at the trading history of the unsecured16

notes and when, you know, there was a lot of confusion at the17

front end of the case the value drifted downward.  In the late18

summer/early fall of 2002 when we actually announced, we had a19

framework for the assets, we had a business plan, we were20

confident that were going to have a framework for a POR.  The21

notes began to drift upward and they have about quadrupled in22

value over the last several years.23

Q Looking at what is Page 29 or Slide 29, this is the24

trading history that you were just referring to?25
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A Yes.1

Q Looking at the far, right-hand side of that chart would2

that be consistent then -- is the marketplace guessing3

correctly as to where you perceive the value to be or4

management perceives the value to be on the distributions?5

A I actually don't know what the marketplace does.6

Q Is it roughly equivalent to what the numbers --7

A It looks like it's roughly equivalent but the marketplace8

seems to have its own dynamics which I don't pretend to9

understand.10

Q Do you know how much in fees and expenses were incurred in11

these Chapter 11 cases?12

A Yes.  Excluding SEDCLLC (sic) because we were categorized13

as management, the fees and expenses have been roughly three-14

quarters of a billion dollars.15

Q What groups of professionals incurred those fees and16

expenses?17

A Well, there were a number of groups:  all of the debtor's18

professionals; the creditors committee professionals; the ENE19

examiner and the examiner's professionals; the ENA examiner and20

the ENA examiner's professionals; the employee committee; legal21

representation for current or former employees.  So there were22

a number of constituencies that were part of that $750 odd23

million.24

Q You just mentioned current or former employees and I'm not25
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sure we've talked about it earlier in connection with your1

response to the employee issue, what was it that the company2

implemented which would give rise to these fees and expenses3

for current employees?4

A The company implemented a policy that as long as employees5

cooperated fully with any and all investigations and they were6

not a target or, you know, whatever it's called, an interesting7

subject -- I don't know, some language like that -- that the8

company -- this didn't apply, incidentally, to the examiners'9

undertaking but with respect to the governmental investigations10

as I recall; the DOJ, the FBI, so on and so forth, we provided11

legal support.  The company provided legal support.12

Q Turning to Slide 31 or Page 31.  This is a pie chart. 13

Does this depict the breakdown of fees and expenses on a14

percentage basis among the respective groups that you referred15

to earlier?16

A Yes, it does.17

Q In your history or your experience in Chapter 11 cases,18

what is the usual percentage for a debtor's professionals to be19

in the grand scheme of fees and expenses incurred?20

A Well, my experience which is, you know, just my21

experience, I mean this isn't universal -- typically, when you22

look at a pie chart like this roughly two-thirds of the pie23

chart would be occupied by the debtor's professionals and one-24

third of the pie chart would be occupied by the non-debtor25
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professionals typically.  That's been my experience.1

Q In this case it's clearly not typical.  We have other2

constituencies.  Is that correct?  The ENA examiner and the3

corp. examiner?4

A This has a lot more colors than most pie charts, I think5

because of all the constituencies but, yes.  Yes, this is, I6

think, a little unusual because of the Enron and the Enron7

North America examiner but, nonetheless, that being said this8

is from the debtor's perspective typically less of the pie9

chart than you would normally see.10

THE COURT:  Mr. Cooper, without going through the11

exact math, if you pull out the ENE examiner and the ENA12

examiner, the debtor's firm does seem to approach about sixty13

percent.14

THE WITNESS:  Yes, it would climb definitely, Your15

Honor.16

THE COURT:  So it would be more in order with what17

you have described the typical distribution of fees.18

THE WITNESS:  Yes.  If you pulled out the fifteen19

percent just off the top of my head and you looked right now at20

the fifty between the investment bankers and the debtor firm,21

if you said they had fifty percent of the fifteen percent that22

got pulled out, it goes up to 57 percent or 58 percent, kind of23

consistent with your calculation.24

BY MR. ROSEN:25
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Q The next page in the presentation, what does this depict1

by way of the incurrence of the fees and expenses?2

A This is a resorting of the $754 million by way of major3

areas of undertaking.  You know, by way of example, if you look4

down across the bottom you see those larger categories and this5

merely reflects the percentage of the $754 million that was6

assigned by work codes to these various categories.  So it's7

just a resorting of the $754 million into specific work8

efforts.9

Q Just for points of clarification if you flip back a page10

you would see that the two examiner numbers equate to in excess11

of sixteen percent but when you go to the next page it is12

roughly fourteen percent.  Were the fees and expenses of the13

examiner dedicated solely towards investigation or were there14

some included in other work codes?15

A Well, I can't recall specifically but I can tell you by16

way of example, the ENA examiner was very involved in plan17

issues.  He was very involved in our claims issues.  He was18

very involved in other aspects of Enron's operations and I19

assume that his activities got spread around a number of20

buckets as primarily ENA.21

Q Using your word that you just gave which was "the22

buckets," what were the respective roles of the law firms23

associated with representing the debtor by way of these24

buckets?25
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A Well, as I think I mentioned before, Weil, Gotshal was1

involved in virtually all aspects of these buckets with the2

exception of conflicts.  They bowed out where they had specific3

conflicts.  Cadwalader was heavily involved in the trading4

book, regulatory matters, avoidance litigation with respect for5

the trading book and claims compression, primarily as it6

involved the wholesale and retail trading book.  LeBoeuf, Lamb7

was involved very heavily in regulatory matters, trading book8

matters and domestic asset dispositions.  Skadden, Arps had9

corporate governance, governmental and federal investigations,10

regulatory matters, international asset dispositions.  Sussman,11

Godfrey primarily was involved in mega claim litigation. 12

Togut, Segal & Segal in a variety litigation; de minimis asset13

disposition, claims compression and conflicts.  Venable has14

been involved in claims compression and trading book issues and15

avoidance action litigation.  So, people are all over the place16

relative to these buckets.17

Q Going back to your analysis of the work codes which was18

the slide before in one of the demonstratives which is up on19

the chair easel, if you had to break that down among only the20

debtor's professionals and aggregating $354 million out of the21

$754 million, what does Slide 34 represent?22

A Slide 34?23

Q Yes.  Page 34, Slide 34?24

A Well, Slide 34 takes those particular buckets and now25
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deals with the aggregate fees incurred by the debtor's1

professionals and organizes them -- that $354 million against2

these specific buckets.3

Q How much of those efforts of debtor's professionals were4

dedicated towards the core bankruptcy efforts?5

A Well, plus or minus seventy percent, were really the core6

bankruptcy efforts.7

Q Doing the same type of breakdown with respect to the8

creditors committee what does Page 35 or Slide 35 represent?9

A Slide 35 does essentially the same thing with the10

creditors fees and expenses.  It slots them against the various11

categories.12

Q How much of their efforts were dedicated towards core13

bankruptcy projects?14

A When you add it up it's a bit over sixty percent related15

to the core bankruptcy efforts.16

Q Have you or management looked at the cost of the Chapter17

11 cases from a professional fee perspective and related it18

back to what I would characterize as the high point of Enron's19

financial activity -- the 23 months prior to Chapter 11?20

A Yes, we have.21

Q What did you see from that?22

A Well, with respect to the debtor's professionals, over a23

substantially longer period of time, it took less to straighten24

out these issues then it did to create them.  So, the25
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intelligent deconstruction if you will of the business over a1

longer period of time was a much less costly affair than the2

construction of the business per se.3

Q Turning your attention to Slide or Page 37, what does this4

depict then, Mr. Cooper?5

A Well, that's what I just was relating to.6

Q These are the economics that you were referring to?7

A Yes, somehow I thought you had skipped some pages.  These8

are economics I was referring to.  Sorry.9

Q If we could then just briefly summarize your testimony,10

what did you look to when you got involved in this process?11

A Well, we had three very simple but, I think, crystal clear12

objectives when we got involved.  The first was to maximize13

value, the second was to deliver that value to our economic14

constituents as soon as humanly possible and the third was15

within the context of sound economics to preserve as many jobs16

as we possibly could.17

Q And what were you able to achieve?18

A Well, I think as I said a little while ago, I think this19

has been a remarkable success.  From initial expectations, I20

think we nearly tripled creditor recoveries.  We drove a21

process that confirmed a plan in the United States' most22

complex bankruptcy in 32 months.  Distributions to creditors23

have already begun to flow and will continue for the24

foreseeable future.  With the exception of the corporate25
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offices in certain trading operations, virtually 100 percent of1

the jobs at the operating entities were preserved and when you2

look at where we were some months ago, I think the value of the3

estates has been increased by over $8 billion from any4

reasonable benchmark that the creditors started with.5

In addition, as we sit here today, there is an estate6

organization and infrastructure in place to complete the7

trading book liquidation, to handle any residual asset8

dispositions, to continue to manage down claims and compress9

them to levels that management believes are a very good10

estimate and to continue litigation management in the general11

corporate wind down.12

Q What do you see your role then going forward in this case13

on either an individual or a corporate level?14

A I have informed the board that we would anticipate winding15

up, wrapping up, whatever the right word is, not only my16

specific activities but the activities of all of my colleagues17

with respect to this engagement no later than April 30, 2006.18

MR. ROSEN:  Your Honor, at this time I'd like to19

offer as Debtor's Exhibit 1 the presentation that we handed out20

to everybody at the outset of Mr. Cooper's testimony.21

THE COURT:  Any objections?22

MALE VOICE:  Your Honor, very briefly, I stand here23

as counsel to the board of the company, and just to, because24

I've been in contact with the chairman of the company, I just25



Cooper - Direct 64

want to make sure -- and it's really more addressed to the1

people in the back of the room who are traders in these2

securities that the board has not approved these rejections,3

for example, the value of $2.5 billion for Prisma or the4

projection of recoveries of 32% for creditors.  The Court is5

free to rely on them for the purposes of this hearing, but we6

want to make sure that the people trading these securities, the7

board has not approved those.  They may or may not be accurate8

and therefore, in terms of admitting this document into9

evidence I want to make sure that with that caveat we have no10

objection, but that caveat is important.11

THE COURT:  Anyone else?  All right.  Just to clarify12

the record, Mr. Cooper, would you just state what I thought I13

heard you say earlier that all of these numbers in here with14

respect to the projections are just that, they're estimates15

based on the information available to you now and whether this16

document is taken into evidence or not, does  not in any way17

endorse any particular projection?18

THE WITNESS:  That's correct.  That's management's19

best estimate, our best estimates as of today.  It excludes,20

again, just to reiterate it, any unsettled litigation including21

the five unsettled or as yet proposed unsettled mega claim22

defendants.23

THE COURT:  All right.  Now, anyone wish to cross24

examine the witness?25
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MR. BROWN:  Your Honor, at some point -- Barry Brown1

for Upstream, its agent.  At some point at the conclusion of2

his testimony with respect to the success fee I would wish to3

do so, but I don't believe this constitutes his case in chief4

on the success fee.  I may be mistaken.5

THE COURT:  We'll get a clarification on that then.6

MR. ROSEN:  Your Honor, I guess several points.  One,7

we will be putting on two additional witnesses, as I indicated,8

Mr. Winn and Mr. Bingham.  I believe that some of their9

testimony will go towards the overall Chapter 11 process and10

some of it, therefore, would be indicative of what would be11

included their success fee application and whatever the Court12

would utilize or incorporate for purposes of any future13

determination on that success.  But I don't believe we'll be14

putting Mr. Cooper back on the witness stand.15

THE COURT:  All right.  Mr. Brown?16

MR. BROWN:  Thank you, Your Honor.  Then I will17

have --18

THE COURT:  Give me an estimate of how long you think19

your examination may take and that will inform me as to whether20

to take a break now or move forward with your examination.21

MR. BROWN:  I'll try and keep it to 15 minutes.22

THE COURT:  All right.  The document is admitted.23

(Presentation, Debtor's Exhibit 1, Received.)24

MR. ROSEN:  Thank you.  May I approach, Your Honor?25
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THE COURT:  Subject to the statements made by counsel1

for the board as well as Mr. Cooper and the Court.2

MR. ROSEN:  Your Honor, before Mr. Brown takes the3

podium just one other housekeeping issue.  Ms. Cardos is here. 4

Ms. Cardos is counsel for Kroll Zolfo Cooper and I guess Steven5

Forbes Cooper, LLC also.  6

Yesterday, Steven Forbes Cooper filed an affidavit7

with the Court in support of their motion for the success fee. 8

I know that Mr. Brown received a copy of it as well.  Ms.9

Cardos has the original affidavit here and I assume, Your10

Honor, we would seek to have, or Kroll Zolfo Cooper would seek11

to have that admitted into evidence at this time also subject12

to the cross examination by Mr. Brown.13

MS. CARDOS:  Judge, it might make sense to do that14

only insofar as Mr. Brown may wish to cross examine Mr. Cooper15

about what's in this affidavit.16

THE COURT:  Okay.  I don't know if Mr. Brown has had17

a chance to read it yet.18

MR. BROWN:  Your Honor, I received it this morning. 19

I advised all parties that we couldn't download it last night.20

THE COURT:  All right.  Why don't we do this?  Why21

don't we then break for an hour.  I'll give you a -- you're22

shaking your head no, that you don't need --23

MR. BROWN:  I have read it, Your Honor, and there's24

one page of it I would object to, one exhibit I would object25
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to.  The rest of it I would have no objection to its1

introduction since it's the contracts and the orders of2

engagement.3

THE COURT:  All right.  What is --4

MR. BROWN:  The exhibit I would object to is the5

restructuring success fee analysis because there's no predicate6

to it.7

THE COURT:  All right.  So then we'll have to have8

Mr. Cooper testify about that analysis then before you proceed9

with your cross examination.10

MR. BROWN:  Yes, Your Honor.  That's why I thought he11

wasn't --12

THE COURT:  If they want to put that in --13

MR. BROWN:  That's why I thought he wasn't finished.14

THE COURT:  All right.  15

MR. ROSEN:  Your Honor, to the extent that I can, I16

will ask and try to lay the predicate for Mr. Brown.17

MR. BROWN:  Your Honor, on the record, I have18

requested Mr. Rosen separate the affidavit --19

THE COURT:  All right.  You have to state your name.20

MR. BROWN:  Sorry, Your Honor.  This is Barry Brown21

speaking.  I've suggested that Mr. Rosen separate the affidavit22

and Exhibit A from the restructuring success fee analysis page23

and mark it separately.  I had no objection to the affidavit24

excluding the success fee analysis page.25
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THE COURT:  All right.  1

MR. ROSEN:  So Your Honor, may I approach and at2

least provide both 2 and 3 then?3

THE COURT:  All right.  We'll admit the affidavit4

without the last page and identify the last page as Debtor's 3.5

(Affidavit, Debtor's Exhibit 2, Received.)6

(Analysis, Debtor's Exhibit 3, Marked.)7

THE COURT:  Yes, go ahead.8

CONTINUED DIRECT EXAMINATION9

BY MR. ROSEN:  10

Q Mr. Cooper, I've just handed to you what has been marked11

as Debtor's 3.  Can you identify this document for the record?12

A This is a -- it's an exhibit which looks at large complex13

bankruptcies, looks at advisors who have requested success14

fees, extracts a lot of public information by way of the pre-15

petition assets, liabilities, plan total enterprise value, a16

variety of other metrics and then looks at success fees awarded17

as basis points against either plan total enterprise value or18

market total enterprise value.  So it --19

Q Mr. Cooper, who prepared this document?20

A Our research group at Kroll Zolfo Cooper prepared this21

under --22

Q Was it prepared under your direction --23

A Yes.24

Q -- and guidance?25
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A Yes.1

Q Was it prepared for purposes of submission in connection2

with your motion for a fee enhancement?3

A Yes.4

Q How was the information compiled?  You just said it was5

under your supervision and control.  Was the information based6

upon publicly available data?7

A Yes.8

Q Looking at this chart in the top row it says Enron Kroll9

Zolfo Cooper; is that correct?10

A Right.11

Q Based upon the information that is contained in this chart12

that was developed, where do you see your fee enhancement13

fitting with respect to the other Chapter 11 cases which are14

listed on this exhibit?15

A Well, if you notice we have not included Enron in the16

calculation but when you look at comparable Chapter 11s,17

assuming there are comparable Chapter 11s, the history of18

success fees go from roughly 307 basis points at a high to 819

basis points at a low with a median of 54 basis points and a20

mean of 95 basis points.  That's as a percentage of total21

enterprise value, 300 basis points being 3%,22

The success fee that we have requested against the frozen23

value of Enron at the time of the plan, the $12 billion and24

change, represents roughly 20 basis points as I recall.  So it25
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is, when compared to the median or the mean, it is1

substantially under both by way of percentage basis points2

against planned total enterprise value.3

Q Did Steven Forbes Cooper initially have as a component of4

their compensation in this case a provision in their engagement5

agreement for the payment of a success fee?6

A Yes, we did.7

Q Was that provision ultimately included in the agreement8

that was approved by the creditors committee and the Court?9

A No, it wasn't.10

Q Why was it deleted?11

A There was an objection I think both on the part of the SEC12

and the US Trustee to a minimum guaranteed success fee I guess13

is the best way to categorize it when we undertook this14

engagement, and so we eliminated it.15

Q Did you put in a different kind of provision that provided16

for a success fee?17

A Yes.  We reserved our rights to come back to the Court at18

a later date and prove up our case for a success fee.19

Q Did Kroll Zolfo Cooper or Steven Forbes Cooper, LLC have20

any discussions with the creditor constituency as to the amount21

of the relief that it was requesting in its motion for fee22

advancement?23

A Well, before we went to the creditors committee we24

actually went to the Enron board that was in place at the time25
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because that was the appropriate government path.  We had1

discussions with the Enron board.  They approved it.  We had2

discussions with the creditors committee.  They approved it.3

Q When you say they approved it, each of those groups, they4

approved it in the amounts in the formula that is set forth in5

your motion?6

A The board didn't deal with the formula.  The committee7

suggested the formula for earning the success fee and we8

acquiesced to their request.9

Q But when did you file the motion for your fee enhancement? 10

Do you recall?  Was it before or after confirmation of the11

plan?12

A I'll be honest with you, I can't recall.13

THE COURT:  I think it was September of 2004.14

THE WITNESS:  Then it would have been after15

confirmation of the plan.16

THE COURT:  Okay.  17

THE WITNESS:  Thank you.18

MR. ROSEN:  Your Honor, at this point I'd move for19

the admission of Debtor's 3 which is the last sheet from the20

affidavit.21

THE COURT:  Any objections?22

MR. BROWN:  Representing Upstream Energy, yes Your23

Honor.  It's cumulative hearsay.24

Secondly, it comes as a matter of evidentiary25
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surprise.  It was not a part of the response that was filed by1

Steven Forbes Cooper that was served during the discovery2

period or after.  Actually, it was not delivered until after3

the discovery period.  So we've had no opportunity had we been4

so inclined to test whether this is a correct universe or5

whether the math is correct, or any other element of it. 6

With respect to it be offered for the truth of the7

matters asserted, that in each of these cases that a success8

fee was sought and awarded or that the assets are as9

represented here.  There is no foundation sufficient to give it10

credibility, to allow you to give it any weight for purposes of11

evaluating whether Mr. Cooper's request for success fee is in12

line with or deviates materially from other cases.  That's the13

basis for objection; inadequate foundation and multiple14

hearsay.15

THE COURT:  Mr. Rosen?16

MR. ROSEN:  Your Honor, as I indicated, this is all17

prepared from publicly available information.  I would take up18

the point Mr. Brown went on to say about the discovery period. 19

As I indicated, Your Honor, we had fee procedures order that20

was signed by this Court.  It talked about the discovery21

process.  Mr. Brown has never availed himself of any of the22

procedures which were set forth in there.  He never served any23

request for discovery.  All that we've received, Your Honor, is24

a flow of steady e-mails saying I don't have a document, can25
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you bring me a copy to the hearing so that I can use it?  1

This is information that Kroll Zolfo Cooper put2

together based upon that publicly available information.  It is3

merely a compilation of those cases and it shows merely, Your4

Honor, that the request here fits, I believe as Mr. Cooper5

testified, below the mean or the median in each of those other6

cases.7

MR. BROWN:  Your Honor, I'll rise.  Barry Brown for8

Upstream.  You may recall we had an on-the-record conference at9

Mr. Rosen's request seeking to quash a deposition notice of Mr.10

Cooper and of Mr. Rosen and you ruled in such a fashion that my11

client chose not to go forward with the deposition of Mr.12

Cooper.  But had this information been tendered more likely13

than not we would have done some inquiry about it at that time.14

As to Mr. Rosen's statement we did not avail15

ourselves of the deposition process, we did give notice of16

deposition, we did seek to do so.  Your order called on Mr.17

Cooper to give you a road map of what his success fee was, how18

it compared with other cases, and why it was justified in this19

case.  We would have expected this information much earlier in20

the process.21

MR. ROSEN:  Your Honor, we had a Court conference on22

the record because Mr. Brown chooses to deal with issues which23

are not the subject of this hearing.  He sought to take24

discovery on items which this Court has considered and ruled on25
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starting all the way back in June of 2002.  It took up again in1

June and July of 2004.  It was based upon those positions that2

Mr. Brown was espousing that the Court determined that the3

deposition of Mr. Cooper or the deposition of myself was not4

appropriate.  So to stand up and say now that he was not made5

available these discovery items is inaccurate and is misleading6

to not only the Court but everybody in the courtroom.7

Mr. Brown has a different agenda here, Your Honor. 8

It has nothing to do with the fee process.9

THE COURT:  Well, Mr. Brown, what was your10

interpretation of my ruling about the discovery you requested11

and the form of discovery you requested?12

MR. BROWN:  Your Honor, you permitted us to go13

forward on a much more narrow front than we had anticipated. 14

However, data that's in Exhibit 3 had not been tendered by the15

fee applicant, and therefore, was not included in our notice of16

deposition.  But had it been tendered during the discovery17

period it would certainly have been a subject for our18

discovery.19

THE COURT:  What do you mean by subject for your20

discovery?21

MR. BROWN:  Well Your Honor, you've told the parties22

in the fee order how would the success be compared with other23

cases.  This is certainly data we would have tried to validate.24

THE COURT:  Tell you what I'll do.  I'll give you 3025



75

days to look at the data and see if you disagree with the1

numbers, the addition, the various values that are allegedly in2

the public record.  If you don't find it, maybe with some3

assistance from the debtor or Mr. Cooper's counsel as to what4

public record they were contained in.  If there's any dispute,5

I'll resolve it.6

MR. BROWN:  I take it then you're reserving ruling on7

the admissibility until that time?8

THE COURT:  Yes.9

MR. BROWN:  Thank you, Your Honor.10

THE COURT:  Let me give you a specific date because11

then if I don't hear from you, I'll rule without your input. 12

That will be Thursday, December 15th.  I believe that's a13

Thursday.14

MR. ROSEN:  Your Honor, based upon what you just said15

about waiting to hear from Mr. Brown, perhaps what we could say16

is that the Debtor's 3 would be provisionally admitted subject17

to Mr. Brown submitting a response based upon the research that18

you just guided him to.19

THE COURT:  No.  We can say that I'll decide whether20

it's admitted sometime after December 15th.21

MR. ROSEN:  Thank you, Your Honor.22

THE COURT:  All right.  Mr. Brown, do you still have23

your 15 minute estimate or --24

MR. BROWN:  I'm going to try and hold to that25
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estimate, Your Honor.1

THE COURT:  All right.  I mean if you can't, and2

we'll take a break now.  I just need to know one way or the3

other.4

MR. BROWN:  Whatever is your convenience, Your Honor. 5

But I'll try and make it by 1:00.6

THE COURT:  All right.  Let's try.  Go ahead.7

MR. BROWN:  May I examine from here or should I go to8

the podium?9

THE COURT:  No, it's probably better at the podium10

for the sake of the mikes.11

CROSS EXAMINATION12

BY MR. BROWN:  13

Q Mr. Cooper, do you have Exhibit Debtor's 3 in front of14

you, sir, which we've just been talking about?15

A Yes, sir.16

Q All right.  It would indicate to me, and perhaps I'm17

misreading it, that a success fee was paid in the Kmart case;18

is that correct?19

A Where are you at?  Right.  It suggested a -- the data20

suggests that the success fee of $4.6 million was awarded to --21

the success fee earned by management hired for the bankruptcy22

process and their advisor.  The advisor was Alex Pardners23

[Ph.].  Interim management was comprised at various times of24

James Adamson, Julian Day, and Alex Pardner executives.  In25
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total the group applied for a $5 million success fee and were1

awarded 4.6.  That's footnote number ten.2

Q Thank you, sir.  Similarly, am I reading this correctly,3

under the column fee that is a dollar amount and not a4

percentage in each instance?5

A Yes.  That's why the column is headed with a dollar sign.6

Q Thank you.  So your firm in the NRG Energy case sought and7

was awarded a $6 million success fee?8

A That's correct.9

Q Can you tell me what percentage dividend the creditors10

received in that case?11

A Not right offhand.12

Q Can you tell me how much of your firm's fees, which I13

understand to be roughly $105 million year to date, engagement14

to date -- is that right?  $105 million?15

A I don't know.16

Q Well, I'll suggest that's what the response filed on your17

behalf indicated trusting memory is bad, but don't know means18

don't know. 19

How much of your fees were allocated under the expense20

formula to the Enron North America estate as it was computing21

its stand-alone dividend?22

A I don't know.  Whatever was allocated was allocated in23

conformance with the allocation process that was developed in24

conjunction with the ENA examiner and the formula and its25
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application which was approved by this Court.1

Q Can you tell me what the aggregate distribution has been2

to date to Enron North America creditors?3

A Not off the top of my head.4

Q If I were to suggest to you that the distribution report5

was filed in this case in October of this year indicates that6

Enron North America Corp. had a total distribution, if I again7

read this correctly, of $107 million, would that refresh your8

recollection?9

MR. ROSEN:  Your Honor --10

Q Excuse me, $170 million.11

MR. ROSEN:  Your Honor, if I --12

THE COURT:  One second.  Let the witness answer and13

then if you want to clarify it, you can.14

A I would have to go to the cumulative distribution report15

to be able to respond to you intelligently.  I just don't16

recall.17

MR. ROSEN:  Your Honor, what I was going to suggest18

is if Mr. Brown could hand that document to Mr. Cooper he might19

be able to testify more easily.20

Q Mr. Cooper, do you know what the total dividends to all21

estate creditors have been to date?22

A I believe a bit in excess of $1 billion.23

Q That includes some intercompany payments; doesn't it?24

A I think that $1 billion is to third parties.25
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Q You know what Enron risk management is?1

A Do I know what it is?2

Q Yes, sir.3

A No.4

Q How about Risk Management Trading Corp.?5

A Oh, that's different than Enron risk management.  I know6

what that is.7

Q All right.  If I suggested to you that it had received8

$216 million, would that tell you whether that was paid to9

third parties or to intercompany?10

A That would tell me that was paid to intercompany and it11

may have then been repaid to a third party.  I mean I just12

don't have the information as I sit up here.13

Q Would you please turn -- excuse me.  Your job was chief14

restructuring officer; is that right?15

A That was one of my jobs.16

Q All right.  As such, you saw that the duties of the debtor17

in possession were performed?18

A Yes.19

Q Were you the individual responsible for performing or20

seeing that the duties of the debtor in possession were21

performed in each of the bankruptcy cases that have been22

jointly administered in the Enron case?23

A I was responsible for ensuring the value got maximized in24

all of the debtor estates.25
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Q Was there someone else who was responsible for performing1

the duties of the debtor in possession in the Enron North2

America case?3

A No, that fell on my plate also.4

Q Now, looking at what's been marked as Exhibit 2, the slide5

show, it appears that there were no other law firms involved in6

the plan process on behalf of the debtor than Weil Gotshal.  Is7

that a correct statement?8

MR. ROSEN:  Your Honor, I rise only to correct the9

record.  What's been admitted as Exhibit 1 I believe is the10

presentation.  Exhibit 2 was the affidavit.11

MR. BROWN:  I'm sorry.  Thank you, Brian.12

Q Amending the question to Exhibit 1, the slide show,13

specifically on Page 33 if you'll pull it in front of you.14

A What page?15

Q 33.16

A Right.  What is it that you would like to know?17

Q Only Weil Gotshal was involved with you in formulating the18

Enron plan as counsel for the various debtors in possession?19

A Well, if you're looking at Page 33 and you're looking at20

the check marks, Weil Gotshal was responsible for the legal21

aspects of the plan development consummation.  But virtually22

all of these law firms by way of their responsibilities and23

duties had had activities or impact that flowed into that plan24

of reorganization.  So my view would be that virtually25
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everybody on this page was involved in the plan of1

reorganization.  Weil Gotshal was the primary drafter and2

architect of the framework of the plan.3

Q The framework of the plan included the global compromise4

among the Enron and ENA estates?5

A It was amongst all of the estates as I recall.6

Q Yes, sir.  Was that a yes that the global compromise was7

an aspect of the plan handled by Weil Gotshal?8

A No.  The global compromise was fashioned after months of9

negotiation with the creditors committee, the ENA examiner,10

meaningful other large constituents, by way of example, the11

bank group.  At the end of the day after months upon months12

upon months upon months of negotiation, compromise, re-13

renegotiation, re-recompromise, so on and so forth, Weil14

Gotshal ended up drafting the nature of that compromise that15

was included in the plan of reorganization.16

Q Was there a law firm representing debtor in possession ENA17

different from Weil Gotshal in that aspect of plan drafting?18

A Not that I recall.19

Q Now, Enron Canada assets in the plan and global compromise20

moved from Enron to ENA.  Do you recall that?21

A I believe that's correct.22

Q Who represented Enron Corp. in evaluating whether it had23

defenses to a claim by ENA that those assets equitably or24

legally belonged to ENA?25
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A All of this was part of what you refer to as the global1

compromise and the months and months of negotiation.  I'll say2

it again.  Between the creditors committee that had both ENE as3

well as, excuse me, ENA representatives, the ENA examiner, the4

debtor, so on and so forth.5

Q Because I'm trying to keep my time estimate honest, was6

there another law firm that independently represented Enron7

Corp. in the evaluation of whether those assets should flow to8

ENA?9

A Not that I'm aware of.10

Q Was there a law firm that independently represented ENA in11

the evaluation of whether preference claims should lie against12

Enron or fraudulent transfer claims against Enron?13

A Well I think reviewing that, evaluating that, sorting that14

out was part of the purview of the ENA examiner and he took15

much of that on in his role as a plan facilitator.16

Q My question is was there counsel who had a duty, fiduciary17

duty to creditors of either estate that was independently on18

behalf of those estates reviewing the questions other than Weil 19

Gotshal?20

A Well first of all, I think that's what the ENA examiner21

and Kaye Scholer were doing.  The creditors committee and Weil22

Gotshal continued to be involved in all of those issues.23

Q There was no separate conflicts counsel hired to evaluate24

the questions for either ENA or Enron?25
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THE COURT:  Well, Mr. Brown, let me see if I can1

clarify this.  I think the specific question that you want2

answered did ENA retain separate counsel to perform these3

duties?  Because I think when you say hired, your witness is4

envisioning the ENA examiner.  So I think if you left it to5

what the estate, what entity the estate may have hired, it may6

be an easier question to answer.7

MR. BROWN:  Thank you, Your Honor.8

Q Mr. Cooper, was conflicts counsel employed to look at the9

inter-estate transfer of Enron Canada on behalf of Enron?10

A Not to the best of my knowledge.11

Q Was conflicts counsel employed on behalf of ENA to12

evaluate the claims that it had against Enron?13

A Well, the estate paid the ENA examiner and their counsel,14

so my view is that they represented, vigorously I might add,15

the interest of ENA.16

Q But the estate itself did not retain conflicts counsel?17

A No, the estate just paid for it.18

Q The only counsel you're speaking to is the role of the19

examiner for ENA; is that right?20

A Yeah.21

Q The original application which is attached to your22

exhibit, to your affidavit, called for a success fee in the23

event of a non-liquidating plan and suggested a minimum success24

fee of $5 million.  You might want to look at, I believe it's25
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Page 4 of the first attachment to your affidavit.1

A You didn't give me a copy of it.2

MR. BROWN:  I believe it's been introduced into3

evidence.  You might have a copy for the witness.  Can I4

approach?5

THE COURT:  Go ahead.6

Q Page 3 [inaudible].7

A Right.8

Q You'll see that it calls for a success fee in certain9

significant instances.  Would you read that paragraph to the10

Court?11

A Which paragraph is it that you want me to read?12

Q Paragraph C.13

A This is I guess Paragraph C on Page 3 of our engagement14

letter that was never approved, so it reads, "A fee in an15

amount to be mutually agreed between the debtors and SF Cooper,16

LLC in the event that Enron succeeds in obtaining (i) a17

consensual non-liquidating restructuring of a significant18

portion of Enron's or, (ii) a final judicial order approving a19

plan of reorganization under Chapter 11 (other than a20

liquidation plan); provided however that such fees shall be in21

a minimum amount of $5 million (any amounts in excess of $522

million are subject to approval of the debtor's creditors23

committee).  In the event debtors fail to succeed in obtaining24

the results described in Clause (i) or (2) above, debtors and25
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FS Cooper,  LLC shall mutually agree on an appropriate fee1

under this Section 4(c) (subject to approval of the debtor's2

creditors committee)."3

Q Now that was the agreement that was signed by you and by4

management of Enron in January of 2002?5

A I believe that's true.6

Q That represented your level of expectation of what7

circumstances would warrant a success fee; isn't that right?8

A Well, that's what it represented I guess in January of '029

as a minimum, yes.10

Q The circumstances that would warrant a success fee, a11

consensual plan of reorganization?12

A Well, it says a consensual non-liquidating restructuring13

of a significant portion of Enron's business.  That's the first14

little (i).  The second little (ii) is a plan of reorganization15

under Chapter 11 (other than a liquidation plan). 16

Incidentally, in between one little (i) and two little (ii) is17

an "or."18

Q Thank you.  Mr. Cooper, since I want to try and keep my19

time promise, the plan contained a Schedule S subordinated debt20

schedule; didn't it?21

A To be honest with you, I don't recall.  22

Q Do you recall that on the eve of the confirmation hearing23

creditors committee proposed and the debtor embraced a24

stipulation with Blaupost [sic] Racepoint Partners?25
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A With who?1

Q Blaupost Racepoint Partners dealing with subordinated debt2

issues.3

A Well, you may be referring to Baupost.  I don't recall any4

Blaupost being involved.5

Q I may misspeak.6

THE COURT:  Be careful.  Go ahead.7

A But I don't recall any stipulation.  There may have been8

one.  I just don't recall.9

Q Under your management the debtor, Enron, has taken a10

position that it will not attack contractual debt subordination11

agreements as being in favor of Enron North America; isn't that12

true?13

A I think that's accurate.14

Q Under your management Enron North America has been15

precluded from using the estate's resources and its counsel16

from asserting that those same debt subordination agreements17

run in its favor vis a vis the subordinated creditors of Enron.18

A Well, I don't think we've used any of the estate's19

resources to pursue that particular issue.20

Q Under the stipulation the estate isn't going to do that;21

is it?  It's not going to seek to have debt subordinated in22

favor of ENA.23

MR. ROSEN:  Your Honor --24

A I don't recall a stipulation.25
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THE COURT:  Yes?1

MR. ROSEN:  I was about to say Mr. Cooper has already2

testified he has no knowledge of the stipulation.  If Mr. Brown3

has something he would like to provide Mr. Cooper with so he4

can refresh his recollection, we would like to see it.5

Q Mr. Cooper, lastly in keeping with my time estimates, your6

presentation does not include fees to Sussman Godfrey; is that7

right?8

A No, I believe it includes the fees incurred to date.9

Q That's the $6 million fixed fee but not the contingent10

fee?11

A Well, the contingent fee goes first to offset the advances12

as I recall, but that's about all I recall.  I don't recall the13

specifics.14

Q But what I'm trying to understand is in your presentation15

today whether any of the attorneys fees numbers also included16

the contingent fee estimate to Sussman Godfrey.17

A Not that I recall.18

Q Is it a fair summary then that as of today your firm has19

received in excess of $100 million in fees?20

A Is it a fair summary?  I guess it's a fair summary.21

Q The total professional fees through June the 4th according22

to your exhibit is $754 million?23

A Right.24

Q That $100 million is to be added to it because it's not25
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part of the $754 million?1

A Well, no.  I think what you would do if you wanted to do2

apples to apples is take our fees through the same relevant3

period.  You take them from December through --4

THE COURT:  July 15th I think.5

A -- July 15th because --6

Q So that would be $60 million?7

A $60 million.8

Q But to date the total distribution by all of the estates9

is under $1 billion.  The professional fees and management fees10

to date excluding Sussman is over $850 million.  Is that true?11

A Well, I think the distribution to all the estates is over12

$1 billion.  Through that period in time it would have been 75013

and you had our fees of sixty-eight ten.  I don't know what the14

distributions had been through this current time period.15

Q The distributions, there had been no distributions through16

June of '04; have there?  The plan wasn't confirmed till July.17

A The plan wasn't confirmed.  It was hard to make18

distributions.19

Q So expressing things as a percentage using today, you20

received over $100 million, professionals have received or are21

seeking another $754 million, and all creditors and all estates22

have received roughly $1 billion in distributions?23

A Right.24

MR. BROWN:  Thank you.25
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THE COURT:  We'll take a recess until about ten after1

2 at the latest.  We'll try to get started by 2:15.  Mr.2

Cooper, I'm sorry, but you'll come back to the stand at that3

time.4

THE WITNESS:  Okay, Your Honor.5

(Recess)6

THE COURT:  Please be seated.  All right.  Go ahead.7

MR. ROSEN:  Your Honor, I just have a few questions8

for Mr. Cooper. 9

REDIRECT EXAMINATION10

BY MR. ROSEN:  11

Q Mr. Cooper, Mr. Brown asked you about Enron Canada and did12

the plan compromise with respect to the reallocation of the13

interest in Enron Canada.  Was there a global compromise14

contained in the plan?15

A Yes, there was.16

Q Was there a shifting of value with respect to not just17

Enron Canada but other assets as well?18

A There were a handful of assets including RMTC, Bridgeline19

Holdings.  There may have been one or two others, all of which20

were part of the global settlement by way of assessing value21

and where to lodge it by way of a plan compromise.22

Q Was Statacona [Ph.] involved in that plan compromise?23

A Yes, I believe it was.24

Q When the parties looked at the global compromise did they25
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look at it as a -- I guess by using the word global, it was1

global, but did it matter at the end of the day as to which2

asset was actually shifted as long as the global compromise had3

been reached?4

A I don't believe so.  I mean it was one of the number of5

elements in reaching a global compromise.6

Q Was the creditors committee involved in that negotiation?7

A Extensively.8

Q The ENA examiner involved in that negotiation?9

A Very, very extensively.10

Q Did the creditors committee have constituents of all11

estates or just the corporate estate?12

A They had constituents that were involved in a number of13

the Enron estates.14

MR. ROSEN:  That's all I have, Your Honor, for Mr.15

Cooper.16

THE COURT:  Mr. Brown?  17

RECROSS EXAMINATION18

BY MR. BROWN:  19

Q Mr. Cooper, Mr. Rosen just asked you did it matter, in20

words or substance, did it matter where assets ultimately were21

lodged as to which estate the asset ended up in.  Do you recall22

that?23

A Yes.24

Q Do you recall your answer?25
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A I recall my answer with respect to the specific assets he1

was inquiring about.2

Q Now, the plan had what's called the 30-70 compromise;3

right?4

A Yeah, I think we called it 70-30, but yes.5

Q All right.  30% of a creditor dividend was on a6

substantive consolidation basis; right?7

A Well, the plan was modeled so that 70% of the value was8

treated as if it was stand alone plans, 30% of the value as if9

it was substantively consolidated.  Then there were the other10

elements of the compromise; how guarantees would be treated,11

how some of the particular assets we were discussing a couple12

of moments ago would be treated, how avoidance actions would be13

treated, so on and so forth.  So it was very comprehensive in14

its treatment of any number of elements that may have had a15

shade of gray.16

Q Now, the 70% stand alone dividend would be influenced by17

what assets the stand alone entity had in its bankruptcy18

estate; right?  That's a matter of simple logic.19

A Yes.20

Q So it would matter to a creditor even under the plan as to21

which bankruptcy estate was held to hold Enron Canada?22

A It may.23

Q The same would be true for the entity that is RMTC?  The24

estate that is deemed to own its assets would have a greater25
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creditor dividend than if it didn't have those assets; isn't1

that so?2

A Well, I think again it depends.  You have to look at the3

global compromise and you have to understand how the other4

elements would have impacted that.  I don't think it's simple5

to say if you take an isolated asset and you don't put the6

other conditionals around it.  I don't think I can give you a7

clear answer.8

Q Now, with respect to Enron Canada, that was an operating9

business; right?10

A Yes.11

Q It had revenues from the time of December 2, 2001 through12

the plan date?13

A Yes.14

Q Those revenues stayed with Enron or were they transferred15

to ENA under the plan?16

A Well, at the moment they're still with Enron Canada and I17

believe under the plan they get transferred to Enron.18

Q So it did matter which estate had the asset and which19

estate received the revenues?20

A I think that was part of the subject of the compromise,21

actually, Enron Canada now that I reflect on it.22

MR. BROWN:  Thank you, Your Honor.23

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.  You may step24

down.25
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THE WITNESS:  Thank you.1

THE COURT:  Mr. Rosen?2

MR. ROSEN:  Yes, Your Honor.  At this time we'd like3

to call Mr. Robert Bingham.  4

MR. BROWN:  Brian, is this 4?5

MR. ROSEN:  Yes.6

(Robert Bingham, Debtor's Witness, Sworn.)7

THE COURT:  Just state your name for the record.8

THE WITNESS:  Robert S. Bingham.9

MR. ROSEN:  Your Honor, if I may approach the bench10

and the witness?11

THE COURT:  Go ahead.12

MR. ROSEN:  Your Honor, I've just handed up to the13

witness and to the bench a copy of a demonstrative aid that was14

put together by Mr. Bingham.  We have also handed it out in the15

courtroom prior to coming back to the proceedings this16

afternoon.  We will offer this as Debtor's Exhibit 4.  We have17

asked Mr. Brown because of his concern with the first one18

whether he had any objections to that and Mr. Brown answered19

that he had no problem with the admission of Exhibit 4 into20

evidence.21

THE COURT:  Mr. Brown?22

MR. BROWN:  Your Honor, I told Mr. Rosen I had no23

objection to Exhibit 4 as a summary of the witness's testimony.24

THE COURT:  All right.  It's so admitted.25
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(Summary, Debtor's Exhibit 4, Received.)1

MR. ROSEN:  Thank you, Your Honor. 2

DIRECT EXAMINATION3

BY MR. ROSEN:  4

Q Mr. Bingham, could you please state what your background5

is in connection with the Enron Chapter 11 cases?6

A Since January of 2002 I've been an associate director of7

restructuring for Enron.  Since sometime last October, October8

2004, I've been the interim chief financial officer and interim9

treasurer of Enron.10

Q Have you testified in this courtroom before?11

A Yes.12

Q In connection with Enron?13

A Yes.14

Q Did you testify in connection with confirmation of the15

plan?16

A Yes.17

Q Have you testified in connection with certain asset sales18

and other compromises of settlements?19

A I don't think I've testified with respect to asset sales. 20

I have testified on other compromises and also on claims21

reserve methodology.22

Q In connection with your testimony on confirmation of the23

plan, did you testify with respect to something referred to as24

the recovery model or the Blackstone model?25
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A Yes, I did.1

Q What is the recovery model and when did you begin to2

develop it?3

A The recovery model was a model that actually Blackstone4

started to develop before we became engaged that maps assets5

and liabilities to the various entities in the Enron chain.  It6

was developed jointly by Blackstone, the debtors as represented7

by Kroll Zolfo Cooper with substantial input from Weil Gotshal. 8

Also, with input in some respects from the creditors committee9

professionals and the ENA examiner.  It was designed to model10

recoveries to the various debtors based on a variety of11

assumptions.12

Q What types of issues did the recovery model take into13

account?14

A The recovery model took into account, or allowed us to15

model alternatives as to whether all the debtors should be16

substantively consolidated, some subset of the debtor should be17

substantively consolidated, whether intercompany accounts18

should be treated as pari passu with other general unsecured19

claims, what recoveries would be at various assumptions as to20

asset valuation in various places.21

Q What were the factors that you considered in creating that22

recovery model then?23

A Well, factors that were considered were the intercompany24

account balances as reflected in the accounts of the debtors as25
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of the petition date, the estimated value of assets on a1

debtor-by-debtor basis, the estimated claims on a debtor-by-2

debtor basis broken down between those claims that were viewed3

as hundred cent payout secured priority administrative versus4

general unsecured versus potentially subordinated.5

Q Substantive consolidation was a big factor associated with6

these Chapter 11 cases, and we've already heard some testimony7

about that.  What factors did the debtors take into account or8

were considered by the debtors in connection with substantive9

consolidation?10

A Well there were I believe 31 factors that are identified11

in the exhibit to the disclosure statement and I don't remember12

them all.  But there was a joint task force between the debtors13

and their professionals, primarily Weil Gotshal and the14

creditors committee, primarily their attorneys, Squire,15

Sanders, and Milbank that looked at each of those factors for16

each of the debtors.  The major factors were there was a17

substantial overlap between the officers and directors of many18

of the Enron debtors.  There's only public financial19

information available on Enron Corp. consolidated.  We don't20

believe there was any meaningful financial information provided21

to any counter party pre-petition on any of the subsidiary22

entities.  While there is significant entanglement in terms of23

intercompany balances, we believe based on some limited24

analysis done by what was then PWC that the balances that are25
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reflected in the intercompany accounts reflect the transactions1

that were incurred between those entities.2

Q You mentioned intercompany claims.  How many debtors were3

filed in these cases?4

A 180.5

Q Approximately how many entities debtor or non-debtor are6

there in the Enron family?7

A Approximately 2,500 as of the petition date.8

Q In connection with the intercompany claims, how many9

entries or intercompany transactions are there among those10

2,500 plus entities?11

A The transactions averaged I think about two million12

transactions a month.13

Q How many intercompany accounts are there?14

A There's approximately 26,000 intercompany accounts.15

Q Taking all that into account, what was the effect on these16

intercompany accounts vis a vis Enron on the one hand and ENA17

on the other hand?18

A Well, in terms of the impact on potential value flow,19

assuming intercompany claims were treated pari passu with other20

general unsecured claims, ENA is singly Enron Corp's largest21

creditor and I believe roughly has a third of the general22

unsecured claims.  Conversely, ENA's largest creditors are Risk23

Management Trading Company, Enron Power Marketing, Enron24

Natural Gas Marketing, and Enron Corp. is the largest creditor25
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of two of those entities and the beneficiary of the residual1

value of a third.2

Q Creating a circle or triangle effect of the claims?3

A We call them circles.  The ENA examiner called them4

triangles, but we meant the same thing.5

Q Mr. Bingham, turning your attention to slide number seven6

in the Exhibit Number 4, could you just briefly describe what7

that depicts?8

A Briefly what this depicts is the major intercompany9

balances and based on the value in the disclosure statement10

Appendix C on the stand alone basis, the value that would flow11

against those intercompany claims.12

Q You've been sitting here through the first part of the13

presentation and the testimony of Mr. Cooper and you heard some14

issues with respect to the ENA and Corp. ownership, or asset15

ownership disputes.  Could you please describe what assets ENA16

and Corp. were disputing the ownership of?17

A Okay.  There were four major assets that were identified18

as potentially open to dispute as between the ownership of19

Enron Corp. or ENA.  Those four were Enron Canada Corp. -- do20

you want a description of the nature of the dispute or it's21

just enough to list them?22

Q Very briefly.23

A Very briefly, there was a transaction called slapshot24

which created a $1 billion preferred stock interest in Enron25
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Canada Corp. owned by Enron Corp.  Prior to that transaction1

ENA had the common stock and had basically the residual2

interest.3

The second one is Risk Management and Trading Company. 4

ENA owns the common stock.  A transaction called Valhalla [Ph.]5

created a $2 billion plus preferred stock interest that is6

owned by a German entity by the name of Weingold.  Subject to7

an avoidance action Enron Corp. is the beneficial owner of that8

preferred stock.9

Statacona was also influenced by the slapshot transaction. 10

If you follow the transaction flow it appears that Enron Corp.11

is the beneficial owner of the value there.  Prior to slapshot12

ENA owned approximately 80% of the equity.  The decision was to13

basically split that 50-50 should the estates retain that14

value.15

There was one other relatively small asset called16

Bridgeline Holdings where elimination or cross netting of17

intercompany accounts pre-petition was done in a different18

manner than all the other estates.  Reversal of that difference19

would transfer the value of Bridgeline from beneficially Enron20

Corp. to beneficially ENA.21

Q Was there an ownership dispute with respect to causes of22

action against third parties?23

A There were two major causes of action that at least were24

open to varying interpretations.  One was the so-called mega25
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complaint.  The bulk of the mega complaint asserts that certain1

financial institutions may have had an impact on the financial2

reporting of Enron that was perhaps less than correct.  As3

such, it might appear that those actions belonged to Enron4

Corp. as the reporting entity.  There was a contrary opinion5

that all the creditors regardless of which debtor they had a6

claim against were equally hurt by whatever those actions are7

and as such that should be shared across all creditor groups.8

The other issue is the avoidance actions.  The issue9

arises primarily because Enron Corp. was the common dispersing10

agent.  So invoices that were paid pre-petition were paid by11

Enron Corp. but in fact may have been an obligation of a12

different Enron entity.  So the view was to split those 50-50.13

Q How did these issues, these ownership issues and the14

substantive consolidation issues get resolved, these inter-15

estate issues, how did they get wrapped up and proceed16

throughout the case?17

A Okay.  All the issues were identified.  The ownership of18

the assets, the treatment of intercompany accounts, substantive19

consolidation, not to substantive consolidate, any other debtor20

to debtor potential causes of action.  There were numerous21

proposals exchanged back and forth between the debtors, the22

committee, the ENA examiner over, as Mr. Cooper said, months23

and months of negotiation tempered by going back and finding24

more facts.  We reached a consensus of what we felt was a25
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reasonable way to address all the issues and avoid a costly1

litigation.2

Q Were there other compromises that were also contained in3

the plan with any specific creditor group?4

A There were certain specific creditor or compromises with5

creditors.  The ENA creditors, and in this case I mean ENA and6

its trading subsidiaries as opposed to Enron North America,7

were given the option to opt out of what's called the common8

currency and exchange stock they would otherwise get in9

whatever platforms were distributed as stock in return for10

cash.  I believe there's $125 million available for that11

exchange.  I believe that certain creditors elected to accept12

the exchange in their ballots.13

The second one which is relatively small, the Topper's14

claims against Enron Transportation Services were also allowed15

to opt out of the common currency and I understand a fairly16

small number of those creditors did.  17

The third cash election, the Enron Wind creditors were18

allowed to elect out of the common currency.  I believe most of19

them did elect.  Also, there was $25 million of the proceeds of20

the sale of the Wind assets set aside specifically for the21

third party creditors of Enron Wind Corp.22

Q In the absence of the global compromise and other plan23

compromises, what would have been the impact on the debtors,24

their estates, and the creditors?25
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A We believe that absent the compromise we would still be1

possibly litigating toward a plan, but we don't believe a2

consensual plan was possible without a compromise with the3

major creditor constituencies including the ENA examiner.4

Q What was the economic benefit of the plan compromise?5

A We believe the economic benefit was twofold.  One, it was6

undoubtedly a substantial savings in professional fees that7

would have been incurred had we had to litigate many of these8

inner debtor issues.  Two, we believe that the distributions9

will come out much faster because of a compromise solution as10

opposed to a litigated solution.11

Q You mentioned savings of costs and expenses.  Would there12

have been costs and expenses on an estate by estate basis?13

A Assuming as Mr. Cooper did in his testimony at the14

confirmation hearing that at least most of the major debtors15

would have separate representation we believe that it would be16

a substantial increase in professional fees.17

Q Turning your attention to slide 15, or Page 15, could you18

just describe generally what the process was in connection with19

the development of the Chapter 11 plan?20

A The initial step to the process was the preparation of the21

Blackstone model because absent some way to model how the value22

flows it's very difficult to have any kind of meaningful23

discussion unless you assume out of the box that there'll be24

substantive consolidation.  The ENA examiner was appointed25
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during this process.  1

We made a presentation to the creditors committee of2

various alternatives that we saw as to how a plan could be3

crafted.  All those alternatives involved some compromise of4

the substantive consolidation issue.  That presentation was5

shared with the ENA examiner.6

Subsequent to that we made a presentation to the ENA7

examiner and his constituencies and continued to negotiate. 8

The first disclosure statement was filed in June of '03.  The9

disclosure statement hearing was in the spring of '04. 10

Confirmation was in the summer of '04, and we went effective in11

November of '04.12

Q Going back and trying to break this down just a little13

bit, what was involved in obtaining approval of the disclosure14

statement?15

A Initially we had to prepare the disclosure statement which16

is a lengthy document.  There were approximately 50 objections17

filed by 37 different creditor groups.  Those objections were18

categorized by the Weil Gotshal, put into buckets, and each19

theme of the objections was dealt with separately rather than20

going serially by objector which I believe was a much more21

efficient way to approach the process.22

In addition, unlike most other cases I've been familiar23

with, the documentation was distributed via CD rom instead of24

turning thousands and thousands and thousands of copies of a25
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2,000 page document.1

Q Did the debtors estimate what the cost savings were by way2

of printing and mailing in connection with that?3

A Slightly over $6 million.4

Q Could you briefly describe the plan confirmation process?5

A The plan confirmation process, there was a discovery6

procedure set up by Weil Gotshal.  All the relevant documents7

were filed electronically in a data room where anyone who8

requested had access to the documents.  There were five9

witnesses presented by the debtor.  We all submitted, I guess10

is the right word, to discovery and all of us testified at the11

confirmation hearing.  There were two expert witnesses.  The12

trial lasted I think nine days.  There were 99 confirmation13

objections filed most of which were consensually resolved.14

Q Were the creditors of the Enron estates supportive of the15

plan?16

A Unsecured creditors of all debtors that had votes17

supported the plan.18

Q Approximately how many ballots were distributed to19

creditors?20

A North of 60,000.21

Q Approximately how many ballots were cast by the deadline?22

A Slightly over 9,000.23

Q What role did Kroll Zolfo Cooper play in this plan24

process?25
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A One, we certainly were part of the team that1

conceptionalized how to compromise these issues when we were2

actively involved in negotiations with the creditors committee,3

their professionals, ENA examiner and their professionals, and4

also made joint presentations to several creditor groups with5

the debtor professionals, Weil Gotshal, and Blackstone and the6

creditor committee professionals Houlihan and Milbank.7

Q You mentioned that the plan went effective in November of8

2004.  When did the debtor start making distributions to9

creditors?10

A The initial distribution to allow secured priority claims11

went out in November of '04.  The first distribution to general12

unsecured claims went out in April of '05.13

Q Turning your attention to what is slide number 19 which we14

have a larger version if you'd like to see it, what does this15

reflect, Mr. Bingham?16

A It reflects the distributions to third party general17

unsecured creditors of slightly under $1 billion through18

October.  I believe the December 1st distribution will put it19

slightly over $1 billion.  It reflects the payment of all the20

allowed secured priority [unintelligible] claims.21

Q The distribution that is to take effect in April of 2006,22

do you anticipate this to be a significant distribution for23

creditors?24

A We anticipate that it will be significantly greater than25
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the distributions to date to general unsecured creditors.1

Q I think Mr. Cooper testified earlier about the2

distribution of stock being subject to a certain threshold.  Do3

you believe that that threshold will be met, and if so, what is4

that threshold?5

A In order to distribute any of the stock of the platforms6

that are being distributed subject to the other conditions7

being met, 30% of that stock needs to be distributed to third8

party creditors.  We're highly confident that that will happen9

in April of '06.10

Q Going back to the global compromise, you mentioned before11

that there were four principle assets associated with that12

compromise.  I believe they were Enron Canada, RMTC, Statacona13

and Bridgeline; is that correct?14

A Yes, it is.15

Q When the global compromise was being discussed and16

ultimately reached among the creditors committee, the ENA17

examiner and the debtors, was it a value associated with those18

four assets that you were looking at or was it the actual asset19

itself?20

A One, I'm not sure you can pull the assets away from the21

other elements of the compromise because I think it all hangs22

together.  But in fact we were concerned as to a reasonable23

allocation of value of the disputed assets between the Enron24

Corp. and ENA estates.25
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Q The distributions that would be made pursuant to the 30-701

or 70-30 formula were based upon what actual assets were2

distributed into that particular estate or allocated to that3

estate; is that correct?4

A Well, in the 30% side of the substantive consolidation5

side it really doesn't matter where you put the assets if6

they're in a debtor.  In terms of the 70% side of it, the7

allocation of value of Enron Canada Corp. goes into ENA and is8

considered an ENA asset for purposes of calculating9

distribution.  RMTC, the model assumes that the preferred stock10

ownership by Reingold is preserved and whatever value flows11

through the Valhalla structure then flows back into Enron Corp. 12

Statacona, whatever the proceeds are assuming that the banks13

are unsuccessful in their attempt to get the proceeds, it just14

assumes that it's 50-50, and Bridgeline value flows into ENA.15

Q Who were the professionals involved in working through16

with the debtors and the creditors committee on these plan17

issues?18

A Weil Gotshal and Blackstone were heavily involved in19

almost every aspect of plan development.  FTI provided support20

primarily in the analysis and the testing of the intercompany21

accounts.  From the creditors committee it was Milbank Tweed22

primarily and Houlihan Lokey.  Then from the ENA examiner23

standpoint it was Kaye Scholer and Golden Associates.24

Q With respect to that global compromise that we've been25
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discussing, did Kroll Zolfo Cooper have a particular stake in1

whether things were going to the ENA estate or the Corp.2

estate?3

A Not to my knowledge.4

Q Did any professionals of the debtors have a similar type5

of stake?6

A Not to my knowledge.7

Q In addition to developing and negotiating and implementing8

the Chapter 11 plan, were you involved and responsible for any9

other aspects of the bankruptcy administration?10

A The aspects that fell under me were the internal cash and11

transaction controls, overhead allocation, interface with the12

ENA examiner except for his role as investigating certain of13

the banks, certain employee issues, dissolution of non-debtors14

and claims compression.15

Q What was involved in establishing these internal cash and16

transaction controls?17

A The biggest issue was, as Mr. Cooper alluded to, Enron's18

decentralization.  Two committees were established where any19

cash transaction above a certain threshold, and I don't20

remember what it was but it was very low, required approval of21

the cash management committee.  [Unintelligible] was22

representing the committee, and the ENA examiner actively23

participated in the cash committee.24

In addition, there was a committee called the Bankruptcy25
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Transaction Review Committee, or BTRC, where any significant1

transaction or sale of an asset, approval of a claim, a2

restructuring of an entity was approved.  There were approval3

levels above that depending on the size that required the4

management committee, the executive committee, or the board. 5

Again, on the BTRC there was active participation by the6

committee professions and ENA professionals.7

Q Were there issues in these Chapter 11 cases concerning the8

allocation of overhead on either a pre-confirmation or post-9

confirmation basis?10

A There were significant issues on overhead allocation.11

Q Was there a negotiated resolution of these on a pre-12

confirmation basis?13

A Yes.14

Q Was there a negotiated resolution of these on a post-15

confirmation basis?16

A Yes.17

Q Would you just briefly describe what that post-18

confirmation overhead formula was?19

A I don't have the details but basically the overhead was20

allocated to debtors and the non-debtors based primarily on21

assets and open claims.22

Q How was the ENA examiner involved in your Chapter 1123

management activities?24

A In many cases I can say the ENA examiner looked at most of25
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what I was doing.1

Q You were the person primarily responsible for interfacing2

with them again?3

A Yes.4

Q Did you also deal with employee issues in these Chapter 115

cases?6

A Some, yes.7

Q And what was your role in that regard?8

A My role was to consult with Mr. Cooper about various9

compensation methods to incent people to stick around and10

finish it up.11

Q Were you involved in the issues in connection with the12

PBGC and the debtor’s estates?13

A Yes.14

Q And what was your role in that regard?15

A My role, along with the debtor’s professionals, was to try16

to negotiate a settlement with the DOL and PBGC to allow Enron17

to terminate its pension plans on a normal basis, rather than18

having the PBGC seize the plans.19

Q Did the PBGC actually make an attempt to seize the plans?20

A I believe the PBGC filed a motion in Houston to terminate21

the plans.22

Q And were you and the debtor’s professionals able to reach23

a resolution with the PBGC and the DOL?24

A Eventually.25
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Q Were you able to reach a resolution with the Tittle [Ph.]1

plaintiffs also?2

A Yes.3

Q Would you just generally describe what the scope of that4

understanding is?5

A Generally speaking, the settlement with Tittle, PBGC, DOL,6

one, the Tittle plaintiffs are allowed a claim of slightly more7

than $350 million against Enron Corp.  We’ve agreed with the8

PBGC that we will proceed with an orderly termination of the9

four Enron pension plans, which will -- the deficiency will be10

fully funded by the Enron estates, primarily Enron Corp.11

Q And is there peace on earth with respect to the Department12

of Labor and the debtors?13

A I believe so.14

Q Who is the professional or the firms that were involved in15

connection with these various employee issues?16

A Primarily Weil Gotshal.17

Q We spoke previously about the dissolution of the non-18

debtor entities.  Approximately how many debtors and non-19

debtors were in existence at the time of the petition?20

A Approximately 2,500.21

Q And how many of those entities were associated with Cross22

Country, Prisma [Ph.], or PGE?23

A Approximately 180.24

Q How many entities were either sold, transferred, or25
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dissolved as of the petition date or -- excuse me, as of now?1

A As of now, and it also includes some international2

entities that you could say we abandoned rather than dissolved,3

but it’s approximately 1,500 entities.4

Q And how many entities to you expect to be sold,5

transferred, dissolved by the end of this calendar year?6

A The plan which I think we’re on pace for is another 3007

entities.8

Q So for a grand total remaining of approximately 520?9

A That’s correct.10

Q And of the 520, how many of these entities are formerly11

Chapter 11 debtors and subject to disclosures?12

A Hundred and seventy-five.13

Q Leaving approximately?14

A Three forty-five.15

Q In order to get to this distribution that you talked of16

before, the thirty-percent threshold distribution in April,17

there’s been a large claims-compression process.  How many18

claims were actually filed in this case?19

A Over 25,000.20

Q And do you recall roughly how many dollars they were in21

the amount of?22

A The dollar amount is approximately 900 billion, but that23

excludes unliquidated amounts which, in this case, there are24

several -- maybe “several” is an understatement -- many25
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unliquidated claims that are potentially large and difficult.1

Q How did the debtors go about dealing with the claims2

compression process?3

A We formed a series of teams for each specific area, for4

instance, debt, accounts payable, structures, tax, which were5

staffed with internal Enron people, accountants, lawyers, deal6

people who were charged with reviewing each of the claims in7

their area of expertise.  If the claim appeared correct, they8

noted so and then it was approved by Enron management and large9

enough it was approved by the Enron executive committee or the10

Enron board.  If the claim was not agreed to, we attempted to11

negotiate.  If we couldn’t negotiate, then we would resort to12

the court.13

These teams report on a weekly basis to two people, one14

from our shop and Enron’s chief accounting officer to insure,15

as we go through this process, that critical issues are16

addressed first and that progress continues to be made.17

Q Turning your attention to Slide 32 or Page 32, is this a18

depiction of what you were just testifying to?19

A Yes.20

Q How many claims objections have been filed in the Chapter21

11 cases so far?22

A It’s my understanding slightly fewer than 100 omnibus23

objections for claims that have common issues, and an24

additional slightly less than 200 individual objections.25
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Q Was there an estimation process also employed in these1

Chapter 11 cases?2

A Yes, primarily for the construction claims out of Nepco3

[Ph.].4

Q At the confirmation date, approximately how many -- excuse5

me, in dollars how much of the proofs of claim had been6

expunged?7

A Approximately 700 million.8

Q And at that point in time, what did you estimate the9

aggregate amount of allowed claims to be?10

A On what’s called the “modified substantive consolidation11

basis,” which includes all the claims but only half of the12

guaranty claims, we believe that a reasonable estimate was13

about $63.3 billion.14

Q And through the claims compression process since the15

confirmation date, and using the same methodology that you just16

described about one-half of the guaranty claims, what is your17

current estimate as to what the final amount of allowed claims18

will be?19

A Approximately 51.2 billion.20

Q Turning your attention to Slide 35 or Page 35, could you21

please explain what this bar chart depicts?22

A It showed the claims status based on what had been23

reflected in BSI, which is the court’s claims agent, as of24

October 6th, 2005.  If you focus over on the right it shows25
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slightly fewer than 4,500 open claims with a liquidated amount1

reflected at about 74 billion.2

I might point out that with the Tittle settlement, which I3

believe is now final with the proposed settlement with the4

California parties, with the Brazo [Ph.] settlement, with the5

potential Chase settlement, that the open claims are well less6

than 1,000, once those settlements are reflected.7

Q In dollars do you know what that would equate to?8

A Probably -- well, again, I’m not sure the dollars of the9

liquidated is important because the unliquidateds are10

frequently the problem, but I believe it’s less than half of11

this on a liquidated basis.12

Q What was KCC’s role in the claims management process?13

A KCC’s role, jointly with members of Enron management, was14

to oversee the process, insure that the actions being taken on15

claims were consistent with the master plan of hitting the16

important ones first, and insuring accountability on a weekly17

basis if progress was being made.18

In addition, we are heavily involved in determining19

whether settlements are reasonable or not.20

Q What professionals provided services in connection with21

the claims resolution?22

A For the debtors, Weil Gotshal, Cadwalader, Kronish Lieb on23

employee-related claims, Togut Segal on many of the claims24

where Weil may have been conflicted, and FTI Consulting25
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basically handles the data base that the debtors use to manage1

the process of claims compression.2

MR. ROSEN:  Your Honor, that is my direct exam of Mr.3

Bingham.4

THE COURT:  All right.  Mr. Brown?5

CROSS-EXAMINATION6

BY MR. BROWN:7

Q Hello, Mr. Bingham.  Good to see you again, sir.8

Would you please turn to Slide No. 4 of your Debtor’s9

Exhibit 4, which is significant inter-estate issues?  Are you10

there, sir?11

A Yes, sir.12

Q All right.  When did you personally become aware of these13

significant issues?  And if the dates differ, just give me a14

range.15

A The first three, with the exception of Bridgeline, would16

have been before June of 2002.  Bridgeline I think was brought17

to our attention by the examiner, it was probably six months18

after that; the litigation issues probably six to eight months19

later.  That’s too long -- three months later.20

Q So if I can get these down, you personally were aware of21

these significant issues, the first three of them, whether or22

not the estates could be substantively consolidated, how the23

inter-company claims ought to be handled, and the inter-estate24

ownership issues as early as June of ‘02?25
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A I believe so, yes.1

Q Now I believe it’s not controversial that you did not2

engage conflicts counsel to review the rights of ENA, vis-a-vis3

Enron, in evaluating any of these first three issues?4

A That’s correct.5

Q And in evaluating these issues, at all times legal advice6

on them was coming from Weil Gotshal.7

A And Milbank and Kaye Scholer.8

Q Now Kaye Scholer was not representing the debtor in9

possession, was it?10

A No.11

Q Now there came a time when Mr. Cooper and you received a12

memorandum of legal advice from Weil Gotshal on the likelihood13

of substantive consolidation being court ordered in a litigated14

process.  Isn’t that so?15

A That’s correct.16

Q And they provided you, Weil Gotshal, with a conclusion17

that it was not a certainty that substantive consolidation18

would not be ordered, but it was also not very likely.  Isn’t19

that so?20

A I don’t remember their conclusion.21

Q Do you recall at what point in time you received the22

guidance from Weil Gotshal on the issue of substantive23

consolidation?24

A No, I don’t.25
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MR. BROWN:  Your Honor, may I approach?  I’ll hand1

the witness what was admitted in evidence at the confirmation2

hearing the memorandum from Weil Gotshal.3

THE COURT:  Go ahead.4

BY MR. BROWN:5

Q Mr. Bingham, does that memorandum help you to recall when6

you and the Cooper firm received information from Weil Gotshal7

that they deemed it not very likely that substantive8

consolidation would be ordered, but not a risk that could be9

ignored?10

A Well, since I haven’t read the -- I can, based on the11

date, assume that I saw this memo sometime in early August of12

2002.  I can’t comment on what it says.13

Q All right.  Now after June of 2002 when you were aware of14

the significant issues, and July when you were made aware of15

Weil Gotshal’s conclusions, did you or anyone on behalf of the16

Cooper firm bring the issue of conflicts between the estates to17

the court’s attention?18

A Not to my knowledge.19

Q Did you or anyone on behalf of the Cooper firm suggest20

that it would be more appropriate to have different counsel21

evaluate these inter-estate issues on behalf of the ENA estate22

and on behalf of the Enron estate?23

A I’m not aware of any.24

Q Now if I understood your testimony with respect to Slide25
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8, in each of the Enron Canada, the Staticona [Ph.], and1

Bridgeline Holding transactions, immediately before the2

bankruptcy actions had been taken by Enron Corp. that had an3

adverse financial interest and impact on ENA.  Is that a fair4

summary?5

A Not entirely.6

Q All right.  How is it inaccurate?7

A Well, it’s only true if you assume that Enron Corp. was8

insolvent when those transactions were entered into.  If Enron9

Corp. were to pay its obligations in full, then there would10

have been no damage to ENA.11

Q Now at the time of these transactions, you’re aware that12

there’s a presumption of insolvency applicable to Enron?13

A I thought the period was ninety days of the presumption. 14

I believe these transactions, at least, slap  shot was outside15

of ninety days.16

Q But within one year?17

A Yes.18

Q And do you know the definition of an insider under the19

Bankruptcy Code?20

A Somewhat.21

Q Did you have any concern as to whether they would be22

viewed as insider transactions with a greater look-back period?23

A It’s possible.24

Q For state law fraudulent transfer conveyance?25
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A It’s possible.1

Q Now you made a decision, “you” that being the Cooper firm,2

not to have separate counsel look at these issues on behalf of3

Enron, vis-a-vis ENA?4

A There was no decision to employ separate counsel for any5

inter-debtor issues for any debtor.6

Q Please turn to Exhibit 4, Page -- Slide 12.  The heading7

is “litigation issues avoided by plan compromises.”  Did you or8

the Cooper firm employ counsel on behalf of ENA, separate and9

distinct from counsel on behalf of Enron or the aggregate to10

investigate any of these issues listed on Page 12?11

A No.12

Q At all times were you relying on legal advice from one set13

of lawyers representing both Enron and ENA?14

A No.15

Q Did you investigate any of the issues found on Page 12?16

A Some of them.17

Q Those being substantive consolidation and ownership of18

third-party claims?19

A No, we had PWC, now FTI, investigate the accuracy of the20

major inter-company balances.  We did verify that, generally21

speaking, Enron Corp. did not charge subsidiaries for overhead22

prior to the petition date.23

Q All right, sir.24

A We investigated the impact of tax-sharing agreements and25
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certainly the asset ownership we investigated.1

Q Is it a fair statement to say that the Cooper firm viewed2

the multiple estates of Enron, ENA, and the other entities as a3

single business enterprise rather than discreet corporations?4

A No, I don’t think that’s fair at all.5

Q To the extent that you recognize them as discreet business6

organizations, you recognize -- and that they were Chapter 117

debtors, you recognize you owed a separate fiduciary duty to8

each one of those corporate debtors, right?9

A Yes.10

Q And you solved that inter-company estates by a compromise11

among those estates?12

A With substantial input from outside parties and the13

approval of the court, yes.14

Q And with respect to each one of those compromises --15

strike that.16

Please turn to 13, Slide 13.  These are litigation issues17

and styles avoided by plan compromise.  You see it, sir?18

A Yes.19

Q Now is it your testimony that there was no investigation20

of inter-company preferences and fraudulent conveyances?21

A I don’t remember any substantial investigation of those.22

Q And you did not focus your time or attention or counsel’s23

time and attention on the timing of the insolvency of the24

debtors?25
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A In connection with the plan compromise, no.1

Q Generally?2

MR. ROSEN:  Your Honor, I apologize for taking so3

long.  We’ve tried to sit by and hope that there was going to4

be a point to all this, but the fact of the matter is, Your5

Honor, that these are the very issues that Mr. Brown raised in6

the context of confirmation.  These are the very issues that7

are subject to this Court’s findings and conclusions of law,8

the very issues that were the subject of his appeal of the plan9

confirmation and then, upon reflection, Mr. Brown recognizes10

being moot in a letter that he sent to the district court,11

District Judge Victor Morrero.12

Your Honor, we don’t think this has any place in this13

hearing.  It has nothing to do with the fee/app process.  It is14

more just of an opportunity for Mr. Brown to bring up old15

issues that have already been resolved not once in the plan16

process, but even before that when Mr. Brown sought to have17

separate counsel in 2002 and this Court denied that request.18

So with that, Your Honor, I would ask the Court to19

have Mr. Brown move on to something a little bit more relevant20

to what we’re here for today and that all these people are21

sitting and enduring.22

THE COURT:  Mr. Brown?23

MR. BROWN:  Your Honor, the witness just testified24

that the inter-company issues did not come to his attention25
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until June of 2002.  The matter of retention of a single firm1

was brought in January of ‘02 and was litigated --2

THE COURT:  Mr. Brown, excuse me.  I fail -- first of3

all, the issue with respect to the separateness and the alleged4

conflict regarding Mr. Cooper was addressed at confirmation. 5

The objection was overruled, appeal was taken, the appeal was6

ultimately dismissed as equitably moot.7

Seems to me that that issue is final.  Whether you8

want to argue that under those same facts and circumstances Mr.9

Cooper is not entitled to a bonus, you’re certainly free to do10

that, but I don’t think we have to duplicate the record.11

Second, you have -- I am at a loss as to -- when you12

sought -- I’m not 100 percent sure you sought.  I do remember13

Wiser Oil [Ph.], if my recollection is correct, seeking14

separate counsel for the debtor and throughout that period of15

January and February of 2002 my recollection is that there was16

a serious concern expressed by certain ENA creditors that under17

the present structure of the creditors committee, under the18

present structure of the debtor, that it was likely that the19

debtor and the creditors committee would foster total20

substantive consolidation upon these cases.  And in essence,21

what you now raise as the conflict is really the opposite,22

where a memo was done by debtor’s counsel saying, we don’t23

think that the Court would ultimately find a basis to24

substantively consolidate these cases.25
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If the debtor had done a memo that indicated that the1

cases should be substantively consolidated, I don’t see how you2

wouldn’t have rose and objected then and wanted separate3

counsel for the various independent debtors because there would4

have had a much more substantial impact than under the present5

situation as confirmed and based on that memo.  So I don’t see6

how anything has changed since a request was made for separate7

counsel and that was denied.8

MR. BROWN:  Your Honor, may I respond?9

THE COURT:  Yes.10

MR. BROWN:  Thank you, Your Honor.11

The issue we’re discussing here is a fairly simple12

one that you wouldn’t be able to explain in whatever you write13

that an entity, Enron North America, which had 8 million in14

claims against Enron Corp. and which had been looted pre-15

petition with respect to Enron Canada and other transactions,16

would be represented as debtor-in-possession by the same lawyer17

who represents Enron on a representation that there is no18

conflict known to him and never a supplement to that19

representation.  It goes simply to whether or not fees are20

allowable up to the date of confirmation.21

Now the order of confirmation solved -- because it is22

final, solved that conflict by approving the global compromise,23

but the issue is simply during that time, now I understand from24

June of ‘02 until the date of compromise --25
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THE COURT:  Why wasn’t that issue apparent before1

June of ‘02?  Certainly I thought I heard that issue in this2

courtroom before June of ‘02.3

MR. BROWN:  Your Honor, I don’t know what issue you4

heard in January and February.  I wasn’t in the case at that5

point in time.  I came into the case in April, March and April.6

But the issue of separate counsel, as viewed from the7

perspective of ENA, was were the loans involuntarily made by8

ENA to Enron post-petition cause for there to be separate9

counsel.  That was the issue we urged to you and you resolved10

in a June order before, I think, anybody was aware of the scope11

of these inter-company conflicts.12

THE COURT:  Did you raise in a confirmation?13

MR. BROWN:  I raised at confirmation in the context14

of post-plan governance whether there should be an independent15

fiduciary.16

THE COURT:  Did you raise it in the context of your17

objection to the global settlement?18

MR. BROWN:  I raised the process by which the global19

settlement was achieved at confirmation, yes, Your Honor, and20

you overruled it.21

THE COURT:  And how is that process different than22

the same structure you criticize today?23

MR. BROWN:  Your Honor, the difference is a different24

question is involved, which is not whether the compromise was25
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within the zone of reasonableness, but whether the architects1

of such compromise, when wearing two hats, are entitled to2

compensation from the ENA estate.3

THE COURT:  Well, then you can argue it.  I mean,4

we’re just going over the same record.5

MR. BROWN:  Well, that’s why I’m doing it as quickly6

as I possibly could, Your Honor.  I’m merely cross-examining7

based on the --8

THE COURT:  Just point to the confirmation transfer. 9

The facts are what they are.  All right.  Move on, please.10

MR. BROWN:  Thank you, Your Honor.11

BY MR. BROWN:12

Q Now when Mr. Cooper and your firm was hired for Enron as13

restructuring advisors, officers, it was on the basis, among14

other things, that Mr. Cooper said he would not file litigation15

against existing directors and officers of Enron.  Isn’t that16

right?17

A You’d have to ask Mr. Cooper.  I don’t know.18

Q But you know that Enron didn’t file a D-in-O suit against19

the officers and directors of Enron?20

A Not that I’m aware of.21

Q Among the lawyers who are seeking fees I believe is the22

McCool Smith [Ph.] firm.  Are you familiar with the litigation23

they’re handling?24

A Very slightly.25
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Q That’s the D-in-O case brought by the creditors committee?1

A It may be.2

Q Do you know how much of their fees have been asked for?3

A No.4

Q Are you able to tell us what percentage of the fees that5

are sought for your firm are allocated and to be paid by ENA?6

A No.7

Q You haven’t worked the allocation formula?8

A The allocation formula has been worked.  It’s complicated. 9

It’s not something I can carry around between my ears.10

Q Were you requested to do so?11

A I got an e-mail yesterday from Mr. Rosen with that12

request, but it’s not a calculation that can be done in the13

time frame that was allowed.14

Q All right.  Can you give us an idea of, in ballpark terms,15

what part of the fees would be payable by ENA?16

A Which fees?17

Q Well, let’s just start with the bonus fees, if the full18

bonus is allowed.19

A I would believe that would be treated as a general20

overhead expense of all the debtors.  I believe, rough number,21

sixty percent of it would go to Enron Corp., thirty percent22

would preliminarily go to ENA, the rest would be spread among23

the residual debtors.  But bear in mind, that’s the initial24

allocation.  You need to take seventy percent of that because25
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effectively thirty of it is borne on the Subcon [Ph.] side and1

then, because of the inter-company accounts, the value gets2

shifted all around anyway.3

Q All right.  Would that general overhead also be applicable4

to the 105 in monthly fees that have been paid to your firm?5

A There may be some pieces in there that are specifically6

allocated to specific matters, in which case they would go to7

those matters.  For instance, I know some of our people are8

specifically devoted to the mega-complaint and at that time9

would be charged directly to Enron Corp. as the beneficiary of10

any value from the mega-complaint.11

Q What about attorneys’ fees to the in question firm Weil12

Gotshal?  Have you allocated those as general overhead or are13

they specifically targeted?14

A It depends.15

Q Are you able to tell us, of the confirmation task and the16

time involved in plan preparation and confirmation hearing what17

percent would be allocated to ENA of the Weil Gotshal fees?18

A I believe the confirmation task was treated as general19

overhead and would have followed that pattern.20

Q And that would be thirty percent subject to the additional21

adjustments?22

A Again, the thirty percent is a rough number.  I haven’t23

had time to diligence it.  It’s a back-of-the-envelope number. 24

It’s not even an envelope, it’s an impression.25
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Q I think your impressions are probably as much as we have1

to go on today.2

Among the costs incurred in this stay were payments3

immediately pre-petition for employee retention and post-4

petition there were, I believe, three key employee-retention5

payments.6

A I believe there were three plans.  The payments were much7

more frequent than that.8

Q Excuse me.  Now of those three plans, the first one9

included what was referred to in that memorandum as an10

employee-liquidation bonus pool.11

A There is a pool called the “liquidation incentive plan,”12

yes.13

Q All right.  And that was up to $90 million in payments to14

employees for assisting in the liquidation of basically the15

contracts and rights of Enron?16

A I don’t know.17

Q Do you know how much was paid?18

A No.19

Q Has anything been paid?20

A I’m sure money has been paid, I just don’t know how much.21

Q Who would have that information?22

A I’m sure the company does.23

MR. BROWN:  Bear with me a second, Your Honor.24

(Counsel reviews documents.)25
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BY MR. BROWN:1

Q Flip to Page 37.  On your direct with respect to the2

professionals significantly involved in claims issues, you3

identified the Togut Segal firm as being conflicts counsel?4

A It’s my understanding on those creditors where Weil had5

conflicts, Togut Segal picked up the work.6

Q Who made the decision to refer a matter to Togut Segal?7

A Well, if Weil identified a conflict, then it was generally8

referred to Togut Segal, but the identification of the conflict9

had to come from Weil.10

MR. BROWN:  Thank you, Your Honor.11

THE COURT:  You’re welcome.12

Mr. Rosen?13

MR. ROSEN:  No questions, Your Honor.14

THE COURT:  All right.  You may step down.15

(Witness excused.)16

MR. ROSEN:  Your Honor, at this time we have Mr. Winn17

to present and Melanie Gray will be handling that direct.18

THE COURT:  All right.  Mr. Winn.19

(Counsel confer.)20

MS. GRAY:  Your Honor, while people are picking up21

the summary of Mr. Winn’s testimony that’s here on the bench,22

may I approach and give the Court a copy and Mr. Winn one as23

well?24

THE COURT:  Go ahead.  We’re going to take a five-25
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minute recess.1

(Court in recess from 3:21 p.m. to 3:26 p.m.)2

THE COURT:  Please be seated.  Swear him in.3

THE CLERK:  Do you solemnly swear that all the4

testimony you’re about to give before this Court will be the5

truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth, so help you6

God?7

 THE WITNESS:  I do.8

(Mr. Winn, Debtor's Witness, Sworn.)9

THE COURT:  Well, we’ll have to tell Mr. Brown that10

you were sworn in, because I don’t see him in the courtroom.11

MS. GRAY:  Sorry, Your Honor.  I didn’t know --12

THE COURT:  I didn’t realize.  We’ll have to wait a13

few minutes.14

COUNSEL:  I’ll see if I can locate him.15

THE COURT:  All right.  Those of you that are near16

the windows, if they’re not open, you can try -- you can open17

them.  I’m not sure if it will become too noisy, but --18

A VOICE:  Hate to tell you, they’re open.19

THE COURT:  Well, I hate to tell you then it doesn’t20

get any better than this.21

(Laughter.)22

MR. BROWN:  Sorry.23

THE COURT:  That’s all right.24

DIRECT EXAMINATION25
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BY MS. GRAY:1

Q Mr. Winn, what’s your --2

THE COURT:  One second.3

MS. GRAY:  Oh, I’m sorry.4

THE COURT:  Mr. Brown, a witness was sworn in before5

I realized you weren’t here.6

MR. BROWN:  Thank you, Your Honor.7

THE COURT:  All right.8

MS. GRAY:  Thank you.9

BY MS. GRAY:10

Q Mr. Winn, what’s your position with Kroll Zolfo Cooper?11

A I am a managing director of Kroll Zolfo Cooper and an12

associate director of restructuring at Enron.13

Q Generally describe the responsibilities that you had14

during these Chapter 11 cases.15

A My responsibilities include four areas:  One is the16

coordination of Enron’s response to the examiners; two is17

resolution of the special purpose entities or SPEs; three is18

commercial oversight of the mega-complaint; and four is other19

avoidance actions initiated by the debtors.20

Q In addition to the familiarity that you have with regard21

to the work done by Kroll Zolfo Cooper in these four areas, are22

you also familiar with the work done by the other estate23

professionals in connection with them?24

A I certainly am.25
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Q Let’s start with the first one, your coordination with the1

examiners.  We’ve heard a lot about the ENA examiner.  Could2

you just give a very brief overview with regard to the work of3

the Enron Corp. examiner?4

A Certainly.  The Enron Corp. examiner was appointed I5

believe in April of ‘02 with a charge of looking into the6

special purpose entity financing arrangements that Enron had7

entered into, to look at the role of the financial institutions8

in their -- in connection with Enron and their role in the9

Enron demise, as well as to look into potential actions against10

insiders and professionals.11

Q And did the ENA examiner play any role in connection with12

these areas as well?13

A He did.  There came a time when there were certain issues14

that the EME or Enron Corp. examiner had conflicts with respect15

to and the ENA examiner stepped in and filled those holes.16

Q Describe the type of interaction between the debtors, the17

estate professionals, and the examiners in these cases as it18

relates to this type of work.19

A Well, consistent with the overall approach of openness20

with respect to a variety of investigations that were going on,21

we went through a path of full cooperation.  The examiners22

sought millions of documents from us and interviewed a large23

number of people who either were or might have been involved in24

these transactions and we created a mechanism to -- within the25
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constraints of everything that was going on to fill those1

things as rapidly and completely as possible.2

Q Do you recall approximately how many witnesses were3

interviewed by the examiners as they worked on the three areas4

you testified to?5

A I believe it’s something over 200 witnesses.6

Q And what was the outcome of all of this work and7

cooperation?8

A The outcome was extensive.  There were, I believe, four9

reports produced by the Enron Corp. examiner with some 4,000-10

plus pages of text addressing virtually all of the SPEs, as11

well as two reports produced by the ENA examiner dealing with12

certain transactions and certain professionals.13

Q How were these examiners’ reports used in connection with14

the cases?15

A Well, they were used both by the debtor and by the16

committees.  The debtors used them primarily to facilitate the17

SPE resolution, as well as a basis for the mega-complaint.  The18

creditors committee used them in dealing with avoidance actions19

with respect to Kenway [Ph.] and certainly other professionals20

and the employee committee has used that report as a basis for21

their litigation with certain insiders.22

Q You mentioned responsibility for resolution of the special23

purpose entities, or SPEs.  What was the state of these SPEs as24

of the petition date?25
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A Well, as of the petition date it was unclear.  It turned1

out that there were roughly fifty live or ongoing SPEs as2

opposed to those that had been resolved prior to the petition3

date, of which about thirty-nine were financing SPEs and the4

rest were tax, there was something north of $3 billion worth of5

assets that were held in those SPEs and well north of $136

billion of liabilities.7

Q How did you approach the resolution of these SPEs?8

A As we went through the analysis of which SPEs were there,9

we set up a priority by looking at which SPEs had the most10

value, what the right approach would be to securing value from11

the estate with respect to those SPEs, doing a detailed legal12

analysis, and creating an approach so that we would identify13

the biggest ones first that we could pursue resolution.14

We also created a joint task force between the debtor and15

the committee so that we would have a cooperative approach on16

our side of the table and a way to create a resolution and17

facilitate that process hand in hand with the committee.18

Q What was the over-arching goal of trying to reach19

resolution on these SPEs?20

A The over-arching goal was very straightforward, to recover21

assets for the estates and minimize plans.22

Q You mentioned the creation of the joint task force.  When23

did that occur, approximately?24

A Well, the task force was put in place in fall of ‘02, I25
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want to say September, August or September there somewhere. 1

That was while the examination was going on by the examiners. 2

We were able to, by spring of the following year, file our3

first settlement and then over the course of the next twelve to4

eighteen months we were able to, without significant5

litigation, resolve the significant value SPEs on a consensual6

basis.7

Q And are the SPE settlements reflected on Page 9 the ones8

that you’ve obtained approval of thus far?9

A Those are the key ones which we have obtained approval on10

so far.11

Q All right.  Now what are the results for the estate with12

regard to the work of Kroll Zolfo Cooper and the professionals13

in resolving these SPE issues?14

A Well, I think as a result of everybody’s efforts, frankly,15

this has been an extraordinary outcome.  We have recovered for16

the estate certainly north of $1.8 billion of cash and asset17

value.  We have been able to eliminate over $7 billion of filed18

claims.  And we were able to free up some of these assets to be19

incorporated into either Aprisma [Ph.] or Cross Country so that20

the value out of those platforms could be realized.21

Q Which professionals worked with you and Kroll Zolfo Cooper22

to reach the results you’ve just described?23

A Well, from the debtor’s side, the primary support was24

provided by Weil Gotshal.  From the committee’s side, the25



Winn - Direct 137

commercial leadership was provided by Houlihan Lokey [Ph.]. 1

The legal leadership was provided by Wilbank and Squire2

Sanders, depending on which particular situation it was.  And3

of course we relied on the work of each of the examiners and4

their respective counsel and accounting professionals.5

Q Of the fifty SPEs that you identified at the beginning,6

how many are left, major ones left to be resolved?7

A Well, there are about three major SPEs remaining to be8

resolved and there are sort of individual reasons for each of9

those.  Then we also have some tax transactions to get10

resolved.11

Q Let’s talk about the mega-claim litigation.  Generally12

describe what that entails.13

A The mega-claim litigation is a litigation against ten of14

Enron’s financial institutions for knowingly aiding and15

abetting in a fraud related to the financial statements, as16

well as a number of avoidance actions from the involvement of17

those firms over the years leading up to the filing.18

Q Can you briefly walk through the major developments and19

the mega-claim litigation to date?20

A Sure.  In June of ‘03 we retained Sussman Godfrey [Ph.] as21

litigation counsel relative to these -- to this litigation in22

order to help us set the strategy and pursue from a legal23

perspective these causes of actions.24

The complaint was filed on September 24th of ‘03 and has25
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been subsequently amended from time to time.  Discovery began1

sometime in ‘04 and that particular Bataan death march [Ph.] of2

fact discovery is coming up -- coming to closure very soon. 3

There’s expert discovery that will go on.  I believe the trial4

is set now for July of ‘07.5

Q Were there any special issues that made coordinating the6

discovery in the mega-claim more difficult than what you might7

otherwise face with regard to litigation of this nature?8

A Certainly.  One of the difficulties, or the complications9

I’ll say, of this whole litigation is that we are pursuing10

these financial institutions at the same time as the Nubik11

[Ph.] class action group is pursuing largely the same and some12

other defendants.  We have necessarily had to coordinate that13

discovery process among a number of financial institutions, the14

Nubik class action, ourselves, and several other lawsuits at15

the same time.16

Q Now you’ve been able to negotiate some settlements in the17

mega-claim litigation, correct?18

A Well, we have.19

Q Can you give an overview of those settlements and what20

benefit to the estate they have contributed to?21

A Over the last little while, Sussman Godfrey and we have22

led a process which has resulted in settlements with five of23

the ten financial institutions.  Those settlements have created24

well over one-and-a-half billion dollars of value for the25
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estates.1

Q How do you measure that?2

A There’s -- if you go through the settlements, there’s3

about 735 million of it which relates to the cash component of4

those settlements.  Then there’s about $3 billion worth of5

either subordination of claims or, in some cases, cash in lieu6

of subordination of claims, which has a value of somewhere7

north of $700 million.8

So between those two components, the cash and the9

subordination component, that’s what comes to the billion-and-10

a-half-plus.11

Q And how would you characterize that result for the estate?12

A Well, I think that’s an outstanding result.  It’s a result13

that, again, we were able to accomplish with the participation14

and support of the committee.  There are relatively few15

settlements of that magnitude and I think that all the people16

who participated in that and supported that have accomplished a17

lot for the estate.18

Q You’ve identified Sussman Godfrey, some participation by19

Squire Sanders and Weil.  Are there other firms who have worked20

with you, Kroll Zolfo Cooper, and the estates in prosecuting21

the mega-complaint and in achieving these results?22

A Well, there are.  Sussman is the lead counsel for really23

the fraud claims.  We also have Togut, Segal & Segal, who are24

our lead counsel on the bankruptcy side with those -- the25
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avoidance-action related claims.  We have Venable involved for1

a couple of specific transactions that have been incorporated2

in the complaint.  Weil Gotshal has helped us structure and3

move approval for some of the settlements and I referred to4

earlier to Squire Sanders’s involvement, as well as Racool5

Smith [Ph.], and of course the reliance on the work done by the6

examiners.7

Q And their counsel?8

A And their counsel and financial advisors.9

Q Now the last area is avoidance actions.  Can you provide10

an overview of the avoidance actions that have been filed in11

this case?12

A Sure.  There was a fairly-detailed analysis done of the13

payments that were made prior to the filing and which of those14

were eligible for avoidance.  We really have five categories15

that we’d like to sort them into.16

One is vendor actions where payments may have been made17

inappropriately.  There are roughly 1,000-plus of those filed18

for the value of some $622 million initially.19

We also have initiated actions with respect to the early20

redemption of commercial paper, well over $1 billion, as well21

as we’ve initiated actions with respect to equity transactions22

of about $900 million.  There are some employee and other23

actions of about $500 million.24

We also have initiated avoidance actions to avoid25
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guaranties that were put in place where -- typically where1

Enron Corp. was guaranteeing other obligations.2

Q Have all of the avoidance actions been filed in this case?3

A Most have been filed.  There are some situations where we4

have, for a variety of reasons, entered into tolling5

arrangements with the counter-parties as part of seeking a6

consensual resolution.7

Q And what resolutions -- or give an overview of the8

resolutions with regard to all of the avoidance actions that9

Kroll Zolfo Cooper, the estate, and its professionals have been10

able to achieve thus far.11

A Well, we have made significant progress on this front.  On12

the vendor actions we’ve resolved about 600 out of the 1,000-13

plus actions and we’ve recovered about $130 million worth of14

cash and eliminated $240 million worth of claims.15

On the commercial paper and equity transactions we have16

made substantial process -- progress on the litigation front.17

With the insiders and professionals and the employees18

there are outcomes of about three-and-a-half million dollars19

there in terms of cash recovery and about two-and-a-half20

million dollars worth of claims that have been withdrawn.21

And then finally, on the avoidance -- the guaranty22

avoidance actions we’ve been able to reduce those claims by23

about $365 million.24

Q And how many of those actions have been resolved that have25
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ended up --1

A The lion’s share of the guaranty actions have been2

resolved.  I think fifty-six out of seventy-odd, so we’ve --3

Q Which professionals had assisted the debtors and Kroll4

Zolfo Cooper in achieving these results?5

A Well, we’ve had -- depending on which area, we’ve had6

support from different people.  Weil Gotshal, as the7

coordinator generally of the case, has provided a lot of8

support around litigating avoidance actions, establishing a9

discovery process, and assisting with specific guaranty10

avoidance actions.11

Togut, Segal & Segal has led the way in terms of the12

progress on the vendor actions that I alluded to earlier.13

Venable is our counsel on the commercial paper and14

the equity transactions Cadwalader has participated in a large15

number of the guaranty avoidance actions.16

We’ve also had the support of Milbank for -- in dealing17

with some of the insider cases, as well as Kronish for the18

employee committee.19

MS. GRAY:  Your Honor, this concludes my direct --20

THE COURT:  Well, can I ask one question?21

MS. GRAY:  Yes.22

THE COURT:  Because I’m not sure if just my23

recollection is wrong or if we’re using different definitions24

or terms.  Wasn’t Togut’s -- isn’t Togut Segal more involved25
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with the equity swaps, along with Venable?  And the other1

derivatives in the litigation as opposed to Cadwalader, which2

is more involved in the vendor collection actions?3

THE WITNESS:  I think Cadwalader is involved with the4

guaranties.  Togut is primary counsel on the vendor actions.5

THE COURT:  The vendor-avoidance actions.6

THE WITNESS:  Right.  They are also conflict counsel7

for commercial paper and equity transactions.8

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.9

THE WITNESS:  So there are a couple of those cases10

that Togut is leading.11

MS. GRAY:  Your Honor, this concludes my direct12

examination, but I would like to move for the admission of13

Debtor’s Exhibit No. 5, which Mr. Winn used in assisting in his14

deposition -- in his examination.  I’m sorry.15

THE COURT:  Any objections?16

(No response.)17

THE COURT:  None being heard, I’ll accept it into18

evidence.19

(Deposition Assistance, Debtor’s Exhibit 5, Received.)20

MS. GRAY:  Thank you.21

THE COURT:  As a summary of the witness’s testimony.22

Any cross-examination before you step down?23

MR. BROWN:  I have none of this witness, Your Honor.24

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.  You may step25
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down, Mr. Winn.1

THE WITNESS:  Thank you, Your Honor.2

(Witness excused.)3

MR. ROSEN:  Your Honor, on the calendar I think that4

brings us to any direct case by Mr. Brown with respect to his5

objection process, or we could skip that for now and go back to6

it and deal with the fee committee, the few witnesses that7

remain outstanding.8

THE COURT:  Mr. Brown?9

MR. BROWN:  Your Honor, I am mindful of the large10

number of lawyers who have been sitting here patiently and I11

have no objection to their proceeding and advancing that on the12

docket.13

THE COURT:  All right.  Then why don’t we move then14

to -- I think, if I understood what you’re suggesting, Mr.15

Rosen, was agreed to by Mr. Brown.  We move to presentation of16

fee committee issues by the chair?  Would that then be the next17

issue?18

MR. ROSEN:  Yes, sir.19

THE COURT:  And then that would be followed by20

responses to the fee committee issues.  All right.21

Mr. Brown, do you --22

MR. BROWN:  And at what time might we come back to23

the objector’s case?24

THE COURT:  Based on these estimates, it’s25
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approximately, before we get through the presentation of1

remaining responses to fee committee issues, it’s estimated to2

be in total, I guess, an hour and a half and then the next3

issue is presentation of statements in support and opposition. 4

We won’t get to that probably until -- I assume we return to5

this --6

MR. ROSEN:  Your Honor, I think we just gained twenty7

minutes here.  Our -- twenty minutes -- just in speaking with8

Mr. Patchen, the fee committees would rely upon the9

presentation that were contained in their fee advisory reports,10

which would lead us right to the responses by the respective11

professionals.  I think there were six included in there who12

had outstanding issues with respect to the fee advisor reports.13

THE COURT:  All right.14

Mr. Patchen, it’s all right?15

MR. PATCHEN:  That’s correct, Your Honor.16

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.17

I would say at least an hour, Mr. Brown.  You’re more18

than welcome to stay or leave.19

MR. BROWN:  Thank you, Your Honor.20

THE COURT:  Or rest.21

And if anybody wants to absent themselves from this22

aspect of the hearing, please feel free to do so.23

MR. ROSEN:  Your Honor, if you recall, we provided24

for everybody a summary of the disputed final fee issues.  We25
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tried to do them by -- on the front it says who has the1

outstanding issue by issue, meaning what professional by issue,2

but in the body of it it is by professional, Your Honor, so I3

don’t know on what basis you’d like to address this.  Would you4

rather a professional come up once or come up if they have the5

same issue for successive items?6

THE COURT:  Well, I think we should do issue by issue7

and to the extent I’m able to rule on an issue, I can do so. 8

Probably it means if professionals want to be heard on any9

particular issue, they should be prepared to respond.  To the10

extent they just agree with the general presentation that’s11

made, then I’ll just -- they don’t need to comment, I’ll just12

assume that they don’t have anything to add to the argument.13

MR. ROSEN:  Well, Your Honor, taking that as the cue,14

the first item or the first issue is the retention and the15

conflicts in that issue remains for the Blackstone Group, J.16

Golden & Associates, Kaye Scholer, and Togut, Segal & Segal.17

THE COURT:  All right.  Those that are responding18

first, I would suggest you come closer to the podium in case19

you want to make a comment that’s not -- add something to the20

argument presented by those who came before you.21

All right.  Mr. Steinberg?22

MR. STEINBERG:  Good afternoon, Your Honor.  Arthur23

Steinberg from Kaye Scholer on behalf of Kaye Scholer and24

Harrison Golden of Golden Associates on the issue of retention25
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time.1

Your Honor, I think the fee committee’s2

recommendation is that fifty percent of the billed and unbilled3

time would be compensable, but the rest would not be.  The4

advisory report says that generally retention in complex times5

is compensable and should be done in a reasonable amount.  In6

fact, it says that the committee is not convinced that its7

approach on this issue is correct for all cases or even this8

case, but then concludes that this may be the best formulation9

that it can come up with.10

Your Honor, I had a presentation in general for both11

Kaye Scholer and Goldman, which I will just save to the end12

about the ability to look at the macro-type services and the13

contribution in the case, as compared to the micro-examination14

of what’s left of our dispute with the fee committee, but I’ll15

tailor our remarks to the micro-issue now.16

Your Honor, if you assume that the issue of retention17

and conflicts is normally compensable, then to start out with a18

formula that says fifty percent of it is going to be19

disallowed, whether it’s $5,000 or --20

THE COURT:  It’s normally compensable where?21

MR. STEINBERG:  Normally compensable as part of a22

fee-application process in a reasonable amount.  That’s what23

the fee committee says --24

THE COURT:  Does your firm charge your clients for25
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conflict checks?1

MR. STEINBERG:  My firm does not charge my firm for2

conflict checks, but my firm doesn’t have to do the type of3

conflicts checks in connection with a normal private retention4

as it does in connection with a bankruptcy case and we are --5

THE COURT:  And how do they --6

MR. STEINBERG:  We’re not talking solely about7

conflicts, but we’re talking about connections with the case,8

too.9

THE COURT:  So it’s a more elaborate computer program10

that runs through your client base to determine whether or not11

there may be connections?12

MR. STEINBERG:  And then to determine what the13

connections are and then to file the appropriate disclosures.14

My point, Your Honor, is, on this particular issue,15

is that if Your Honor thought that it would be appropriate to16

make some type of adjustment to the overall retention conflict17

issue, to do it on a formula which is based on fifty percent of18

the charges is not the appropriate charge.  It really should be19

much more likely to doing a flat dollar-amount analysis as to20

what should be compensable for this type of service.21

If you look at what the fee committee was struggling22

with, is they had a number of professionals had billed not what23

we did, $52,000, but had billed a half a million dollars in24

this category and they were trying to figure out what should be25
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an appropriate amount instead of allowing a half a million1

dollars.  To give some of those professionals a quarter of a2

million dollars for fee retention and to give us $26,000 for3

fee retention when we’re doing exactly the same type of review4

for internal service doesn’t seem to make sense at all.  In5

fact, there are professionals here who, because they billed --6

and they’re billed and unbilled amount, the amount of their7

reduction is the same as ours and they’re being allowed a half8

a million dollars and we’re being allowed $29,000.9

Now I don’t think that the -- I think the argument10

here is that if you want to make adjustment -- and I think the11

fee committee was right, there is a tension that in an outside12

case not related to a bankruptcy case, generally professionals13

don’t bill for their conflicts checks, but they generally do14

that in a bankruptcy context and they generally get it15

compensated in a reasonable amount.16

The quibble here is that the formula devised by the17

fee committee -- which they concede might not be the right18

approach, they just can’t think of a better one -- I believe is19

the wrong one.  I think that if you want to take the position20

that retention time should not be compensable in absolute21

dollars for what you actually billed into it, then to have a22

formula that says you only get fifty percent of your time is23

not reflective of what should be billed to the estate.  What24

should be billed to the estate is what is the fair amount to25
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charge for this type of service on an absolute basis because1

the time is the same.2

THE COURT:  I don’t understand what your theory is3

about the time is the same.  I don’t understand that.4

MR. STEINBERG:  Well, if I have to do a conflicts5

check and I’m able to do my conflicts checks in $50,000, the6

fact that someone else does their conflicts checks in $200,000,7

I’m not sure why I’m getting -- if I’m more efficient, I’m not8

sure why I’m getting paid only $25,000 while they’re getting9

$100,000.10

THE COURT:  Well, first of all, it probably has to do11

with the fact that you didn’t spend more than $50,000 in terms12

of the effort.  Second, I presume that there’s a difference in13

the number of time the conflicts check was done with respect to14

someone who billed $250,000 for it versus someone who billed15

$50,000 for it.  Otherwise, it would be absurd.16

MR. STEINBERG:  Your Honor, I didn’t study17

everybody’s fee application, I just looked at the fee committee18

report.19

THE COURT:  I mean, are you saying that the20

professionals in this case, you gave an example of fifty versus21

500, that those who bill $500,000 for retention, conflicts22

issues, were ten times more inefficient than you are?23

MR. STEINBERG:  I wouldn’t know if they’re ten times24

more inefficient or not, Your Honor.  I do think, though, that25
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to assume that everybody had the same level of efficiency and1

everybody should be halved for their time is not the2

appropriate way of looking at the issue.3

I don’t think it’s more -- I don’t have a lot more to4

say on this issue, but I think that in normal cases this is5

compensated.  For Kaye Scholer the issue is $23,000 of6

disallowed time.  For Golden Associates it’s approximately7

$10,000.  We think that in light of Golden Associates overall8

billed on this issue, which is $30,000, and the retention time9

that my firm did, which is $52,000, that that compensation --10

those amounts should be compensated in full.11

Again, it starts with the proposition, Your Honor,12

which is that we’re looking at a microscopic aspect of our13

overall application.  Most of the time, at the end of a final14

fee application, people look at what you did for your services15

and the benefits overall reflected for those services and the16

achievements in the case and it’s hard to start off a response17

to your own fees by talking about what is a relatively small18

issue of an overall fee application, but that is -- this is the19

way Your Honor is going to approach it, that is my presentation20

on this issue.21

THE COURT:  All right.  Anyone else want to be heard22

on this issue?23

MR. THOMPSON:  Your Honor, this is Mark Thompson from24

Simpson Thatcher on behalf of the Blackstone Group.25
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Your Honor, the -- Blackstone is a law firm. 1

Blackstone has not charged anything for its conflicts checks. 2

Nevertheless, the fee advisory -- and I should note those3

conflicts checks were performed in-house by Blackstone4

personnel and took many, many hours.5

Blackstone, as a necessary incident of being retained6

by a Chapter 11 debtor in a case of this size, with the7

litigation that was swirling around this case at the time that8

it filed, from time to time consulted on a very sparing basis9

with my firm to insure that its application and supporting10

papers were compliant with federal bankruptcy code, federal11

bankruptcy rules, and United States Trustee guidelines.  There12

were a number of discussions had with Ms. Thom [Ph.] and Ms.13

Schwartz, then United States Trustee, about the way in which14

the Blackstone application would be presented, disclosed, and15

submitted to Your Honor for approval.16

And again, on a very sparing basis, we handled that. 17

That grew out of an effort by numerous professionals including18

then -- now Judge Drain to work with United States Trustee’s19

office on a protocol that would apply case after case in this20

district, Enron being only the second or third example of that. 21

These were new issues at the time.22

The fee advisory committee, however, lumps this23

together as if it was a conflicts check and it wasn’t.  All24

that conflicts check work was done in-house by Blackstone, they25
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charged the estate nothing for it.  Our work is merely very,1

very isolated legal questions, sophisticated legal questions2

posed to us by our client to work with the bankruptcy3

administration or by Ms. Thom or Ms. Schwartz to try and help4

guide us through the process and, as lawyers, since Blackstone5

is not a law firm and did not have at the time any in-house6

personnel on bankruptcy matters, it was necessary for them to7

consult with outside counsel.  The amounts are minimal, ten,8

$11,000.9

The committee’s answer is to say, “We’ve considered10

Blackstone’s views, but the recommended fifty-percent allowance11

should be uniformly applied.”  But this is not a uniform12

situation, it’s a very different situation, so uniformity in13

this instance would be an abuse of discretion from the14

committee’s perspective.15

The amounts, as I say, are infinitesimal.  They’re16

less than $20,000 in dispute, but the reasoning is17

inapplicable.18

There’s a related issue.  The advisory committee has19

objected that Blackstone, when it was called upon to produce20

documents in response to third-party subpoenas, use the Willkie21

Farr firm.  Our firm was conflicted; we were involved in other22

litigation in the case.  The bill, again, is infinitesimal,23

about $15,000, and the dispute is that Willkie Farr, to protect24

the privilege and to protect work-product issues, redacted a25
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few of their time entries.1

These time entries -- Willkie Farr has been made2

available to the fee advisory committee to inquire behind3

those, but Blackstone was counseled, apparently, not to file4

those unredacted fee entries in a public record in the docket5

of this court where persons litigating with the estate could6

see them.7

So we find the proposal that those should be reduced8

by fifty percent to be form, an issue of form and not9

substance, Your Honor.  The substance was Blackstone protected10

the estate’s interest as best as it could, made these time11

records available to the fee advisory committee to review so12

they could perform their duties.  No substantive objection has13

been raised to those particular time entries.  The redacting of14

them is a pure issue of form that should be cast aside and15

those entries should be allowed in full, Your Honor.16

THE COURT:  All right.  Anyone else?17

MR. OSWALD:  Good afternoon, Your Honor.  Frank18

Oswald, Togut, Segal & Segal.19

We were likewise on the list for this issue clearly20

as to dollars.  It’s de minimis.  It’s more for the purpose of21

adopting, in some part, Mr. Steinberg’s commentary regarding22

reasonableness as opposed to just a straight formula.  As it23

relates to the Togut fee, it wasn’t conflicts, merely24

retention.25
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We’re prepared to adopt the committee’s reduction, it1

is small in number.  More importantly, we appreciate the way2

the committee has handled its responsibilities on the whole. 3

They’ve clearly been fair.  They’ve had a tough job to do.  We4

appreciate the recognition in the report, specifically as it5

relates to the Togut and Weil coordination.6

So on this point, we’ll accept their five-thousand-7

dollar reduction.8

THE COURT:  Anyone else?9

(No response.)10

THE COURT:  The next issue?11

MR. ROSEN:  Your Honor, just before the next issue, I12

think one point of clarification with what Mr. Thompson said.13

He also, while he was up here, took the opportunity14

to deal with the issue which is on the last part which is the15

fee other and Blackstone was down there for a fourteen-16

thousand-dollar number.  I just -- I think he wanted to save17

time.18

The next item now on --19

THE COURT:  And that’s the Willkie Farr retention?20

MR. ROSEN:  Yes, the blocked entry.21

The next issue on the agenda is a billing and fee/app22

preparation.  There are four professionals that have an23

outstanding issue:  Ernst & Young Corporate Finance, now known24

as Guiliani Capital Advisors; FTI Consulting; J. Golden and25
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Associates; and Kaye Scholer.1

MR. ROSE:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Joran Rose2

[Ph.] on behalf of Guiliani Capital Advisors.3

Your Honor, this issue, as we see it, is one about4

reasonableness and whether one size fits all.  We appreciate5

what the fee committee is trying to do in trying to keep all6

professionals within the same range.  The specific issue,7

though, relates to -- and this specific issue relates to fee8

application preparation process.9

We think that GCA, formerly Ernst & Young Corporate10

Finance, is different, though, and doesn’t fit within the11

formula.  We don’t ask that this Court revisit all time in this12

category, just take into account GCA’s circumstances.  The13

short history is that at the beginning of the process the14

committee and professionals agreed that fifty percent of all15

fee/app time would be compensable and the remaining fifty16

percent would be left to the end of the case.17

We got to the end of the case and the committee18

revisited the methodology and determined to allow compensation19

at a flat two percent.  That was two percent at the total20

amount of fees at issue.  This caused prejudice to DCA in two21

forms.  One, GCA, formerly Ernst & Young Corporate Finance, had22

been assisting Ernst & Young, LLP with its fee application23

process.  And, two, I think what became very clear is that24

financial professionals were harmed versus law firms in that25
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ninety percent of the, for lack of a better term, disgorgement1

give-back came from financial professionals.2

So I think what we learned clearly is that financial3

professionals may have different systems, different approaches,4

and aren’t accustomed to reporting their time, don’t have the5

same software the law firms do, and weren’t as efficient.6

So, Your Honor, I think our point is that it isn’t7

fair to hold financial professionals to the same standard. 8

Financial professionals certainly should be reporting to the9

same level and they’re required to do, but reasonable may be10

different for financial professionals here.11

THE COURT:  Why is that?  Don’t you think it’s about12

time they figured out how to do it --13

MR. ROSE:  Your Honor, I think they can do it.  I14

think the difference is that it costs more to do it because15

when a law firm, in a non-bankruptcy matter, provides bills to16

its clients and fairly detailed time, that’s not what financial17

accounting firms do, financial professional firms do.  They18

don’t provide anywhere that kind of detail so it takes them19

more effort to get to that same level.20

Your Honor, they do -- and we did and the other21

financial professionals did get to that same level.  I think22

it’s just a question about whether or not reasonableness, one23

size fits all for both law firms, financial professionals, non-24

billable firms that don’t bill in the same way in non-25
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bankruptcy cases.1

Your Honor, I think the typical range that we see in2

approved bankruptcy cases, though, is in the three-to-five-3

percent range, so the committee is asking for lower than, I4

think, average standard and when you double that with that5

financial professionals are asked to do much more, I think,6

Your Honor, that reasonableness is -- should be looked at, at7

least in light of the professional.8

THE COURT:  I always found it interesting how I sit9

here and sat here and listened to financial advisors,10

professionals explain some of the most complex transactions I11

have ever seen or heard about, but may not be able to figure12

out an efficient way to do what you’re suggesting they are13

unable to do at a level of efficiency suggested is the14

appropriate level by the committee.15

MR. ROSE:  Your Honor, I don’t suggest that we didn’t16

do it efficiently, I just suggest we don’t have the same17

systems in place and it would -- and it takes a little bit more18

time for a financial -- you know, and the other part of this,19

Your Honor, is that EYCF, under the fifty-percent regime, was20

assisting its parent and performed services that brought it21

over the applicable cap.22

THE COURT:  But what about the parent if you look at23

the parent separately?  Are they over or under?24

MR. ROSE:  Well, they’re over, Your Honor, and that’s25
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what the committee has, I think, recognized, that --1

THE COURT:  Go ahead.2

MR. ROSE:  -- were there room in the formula, they3

would have given it to EYCF or something along those lines.4

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.5

Anyone else?6

MR. STEINBERG:  Arthur Steinberg for Kaye Scholer and7

Golden Associates.8

Your Honor, the revised formula --9

THE COURT:  Go ahead.10

MR. STEINBERG:  I’m sorry.11

The revised formula that the fee committee came up12

with we believe may be fair as a general proposition, but we13

don’t think it’s fair to a professional who has been in the14

case from the very beginning and had to comply with all of the15

fee requirements.16

Kaye Scholer prepared eight fee applications and17

assisted Golden in the preparation of their eight fee18

applications and in addition did twenty-nine monthly statements19

and assisted Golden in the filing and preparation of their20

twenty-nine monthly statements.  The average cost, if you had21

to plug in a number, basically $15,000 for a fee application22

and $7,500 for assisting Golden, and two to -- $2,500 for its23

own monthly statement and $1,500 for assisting Golden in its24

fee application, we would be paid our fee application time in25
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full.1

The fact is the matter is a formula which says you2

are going to try to treat what is fair based on overall billing3

of the case I don’t think does necessarily a justice for each4

of the professionals where that formula is applied to.  I think5

clearly there is some kind of correlation between the more6

services you do, the more lengthy your fee application will be;7

however, it’s not a precise mathematical formula in any event.8

THE COURT:  What do you think I should do then?9

MR. STEINBERG:  Well, I think, Your Honor, in my view10

you look at the overall fee application that the professional11

is requesting and look to see, on an average basis, what that12

means to file an over-twenty-five-page fee application each13

time, passing through the scrutiny of the fee committee that14

makes you go through a bunch of items and see whether that’s15

reasonable, if it sounds reasonable.16

Clearly, if I was coming before Your Honor and saying17

the average cost of my fee application was $75,000, Your Honor18

would have a willingness to say that doesn’t sound right for19

what you need to do to do a fee application.  The fact of the20

matter is that we were pretty well efficient in the preparation21

of our fee application time and Golden was fairly well22

efficient in the preparation of their fee application time and23

the utilization of this formula does not give us what we think24

we need.  For Kaye Scholer the shortfall is $28,000.  For25
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Golden & Associates the shortfall is much larger; it’s1

$155,000.2

It relates to the fact, vis-a-vis Golden &3

Associates, that each month they summarize their services at4

the end of a month for purposes of us plugging into the monthly5

statements so that we can comply with the fee committee’s6

process.  I think my view on this is that, while the formula7

may have been right, it doesn’t take into account professionals8

who assist others in getting their fee applications out and,9

more importantly, I do think you have to look at the overall10

time, the number of fee applications that are filed, the number11

of monthly statements that are filed, and see whether you were12

in the range of reasonableness for the service.13

Again, Your Honor, this is an isolated service as14

part of an overall fee compensation time.  It is, to some15

extent, unfair to the professional to microscopically look at16

the hours billed on one service because, while that may have17

been an okay value, there are many other services that are18

rendered where there is substantial value attributed which are19

not captured by the hourly rate and, therefore, what you do is20

look at the overall fee application, the level of the services,21

and see whether Your Honor feels comfortable with whether this22

is an appropriate service.23

In this particular case, I feel very comfortable in24

urging Your Honor that for us to do a twenty-five-page fee25
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application for $15,000 is clearly less than what most people1

do and what we traditionally do.  We actually work pretty2

efficiently in this matter.  Golden & Associates had to prepare3

fairly lengthy fee applications and monthly statements and to4

summarize those statements for us, correlate them, and to be5

able to file them, and I think those services are appropriate6

as well.7

THE COURT:  You have to clarify for me.  Golden8

Associates’ hundred-fifty-thousand-dollar number you mention is9

a result of what?  Charging for your time for doing that?10

MR. STEINBERG:  No, no, no, no.11

THE COURT:  How does it arrive at that number?12

MR. STEINBERG:  Golden & Associates prepare the13

general gist of the monthly fee application, which we then14

layer over it and formatted it in the way that the fee15

committee guidelines expected it to be, and then did the16

service to the plethora of professionals that it had to go to. 17

So Golden & Associates did, on a monthly basis, the general18

overall summary.  Those summaries were also then utilized by us19

to put the text into a fee application form to be filed --20

THE COURT:  So how does Golden Associate have them as21

such a high cost if they were doing summaries and you’re the22

ones that were preparing the application?23

MR. STEINBERG:  I think Golden & Associates’ fee24

summaries were fairly detailed to capture their services.  We25
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utilized what we thought was necessary for the monthly1

statement, that which we believe didn’t necessarily need to be2

put into that detail for the monthly statement, but would be3

suitable for a fee application, we put in the fee application. 4

To some extent, also, the ENA examiner and his fee applications5

used the fee application process as a speaking document to his6

constituency as to what was done.  He didn’t necessarily write7

interim reports over everything that he did in the case, but8

people review the fee applications of the ENA examiner to9

understand what was going on from his basis and it was a10

communication tool as well.11

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.12

Anyone else?13

MS. GRAY:  Your Honor, FTI is listed on the chart as14

having an issue also with billing and fee application.  They15

did not file a reply and I don’t know whether -- oh, I’m sorry.16

MS. BANCROFT:  Your Honor, Kristen Bancroft from17

Orrick, Harrington & Sutcliffe, on behalf of FTI Consulting.18

We -- I actually did not come forward because we19

really didn’t have anything to add to what GCA or ENY had to20

say but FTI does -- FTI ended up in a position where it’s21

expected to give back approximately $151,000.  ENY always22

received very positive -- oh, excuse me.  FTI always received23

very positive feedback on its fee application.  The fee24

committee didn’t identify any factors about FTI’s fee25
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applications that were unreasonable; rather, it’s been now1

penalized by the application of this formula.2

FTI routinely bills in bankruptcy cases.  This is a3

working group that knows the ins and outs of billing in4

bankruptcy and so this was rather a shock when the formula was5

applied to FTI and it ended up owing money back to the estate. 6

So FTI does protest the application of the formula to its fee7

applications.8

Thank you.9

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.10

MS. GRAY:  Your Honor, the next issue is what’s been11

referred to in the case as the “rounding issue” and Weil,12

Gotshal & Manges has the largest amount, so I’ll just briefly13

touch on it.14

Our written response is summarized for the Court,15

beginning on Page 51 of the summary that has been prepared.  As16

the Court is aware, the fee committee has taken the position17

that there should be a certain number of entries if all18

professionals billed, as we are required to do, in six-minute19

increments that would fall within the range of ending between20

zero and nine.  They have used an artificial formula based upon21

an assumption for which there’s no evidence to support the22

notion that attorneys are not billing their time properly or23

keeping track of their time properly because there is a higher24

number than this formula generates with regard to entries25
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ending in zero or in five.1

We had noted in our objection that we believe this2

artificial formula is not an approach that should be taken in3

viewing the reasonableness of time entries.  Certainly there4

have been challenges to entries on Weil Gotshal’s time -- not5

many, I’m happy to say -- where the fee committee has6

questioned whether inordinate time has been taken or too much7

time has been taken and a reduction would be appropriate.8

This is not the challenge to these entries, it’s more9

arbitrary that because you took an hour to do something and you10

took an hour to do too many things, therefore, you’re not11

recording your time properly.  So just by virtue of the12

artificial nature of this premise that time entries will work13

themselves out over the spectrum of the various increments,14

there should be a reduction if any one application has too many15

time entries.16

Leaving aside the issue of whether that formula,17

which came into existence in the third interim fee application,18

is appropriate, we would point out that in the first fee19

application the fee committee had not yet developed as20

sophisticated a system in coming up with its justification for21

reducing fees based upon what they perceived as rounding.  In22

the first fee application Weil Gotshal’s reductions was23

$200,000, which far exceeded almost a factor of four how much24

time was reduced in a Weil Gotshal interim fee application once25



166

this formula was put in place.  We believe, therefore, that if1

you’re going to apply this formula, it should be applied2

uniformly and we believe that that would result in a3

significant reduction in the amount of time that our fees were4

adjusted for the first interim fee application.  And as I5

understand, the average for our fee applications on an interim6

basis was around $57,000, once the formula was put in place.7

I will also add that in the first interim fee8

application that covered the time period December through9

March, if I’m recalling correctly, that was a four-month10

period.  That was absolutely the busiest time for the11

professionals, even though our amount of interim fee12

applications stayed in that general range subsequently.  I can13

say it was certainly the most chaotic time.14

It was also a time when professionals were required15

to attend meetings at Enron, literally from morning well into16

the night and Enron regularly schedules meetings to last an17

hour.  You barely have time to get from one to the other and it18

was no surprise that we had the number of entries for a myriad19

of attorneys in the --20

(Counsel confer.)21

THE COURT:  Go ahead.22

MS. GRAY:  The first fee application we were just23

required to attend inordinate meetings that lasted an hour and,24

therefore, it at least wasn’t a surprise to me as I reviewed25
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the fees that there were as many entries ending in zero.  So we1

just ask the Court to consider whether a formula that just2

presumes that attorneys round their time if they have entries,3

too many entries ending in zero or five, and whether that4

should apply in this case.5

THE COURT:  All right.  Anyone else?6

MS. SMITH:  Good afternoon, Your Honor.  Elizabeth7

Smith, LeBoeuf Lamb.8

THE COURT:  Wait until you get to a microphone,9

please.10

MS. SMITH:  I’m sorry.  Elizabeth Smith of LeBoeuf11

Lamb.12

First of all, I just want to state that LeBoeuf13

agrees with the clarification that’s been filed by the fee14

committee concerning the amounts of the committee’s recommended15

reductions remaining subject to dispute by LeBoeuf.  There was16

some inconsistency in the numbers and we do agree with those in17

the final submission which are, in the case of the transitory18

time keepers, $109,011.50 and in the case of the rounded19

amounts, $51,415.38.20

Just briefly on the rounded amounts, Your Honor, we21

agree wholeheartedly with the statement of the debtor.  In22

addition, I want to point out that we have a very, very strong23

policy, not just a bias, toward rounding down in our firm and24

we encourage our attorneys to do so and I certainly would hate25
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to see us penalized for complying with our own policy.1

Thank you, Your Honor.2

THE COURT:  Anyone else?3

MR. STEINBERG:  Your Honor, this is a relatively4

small amount for Kaye Scholer on the rounding issue.  I think5

our response on this issue details how many entries -- and it6

relates to my time, so I guess I can take it a little7

personally.  It relates how many times during the seventh and8

eighth application I billed in a ten-minute interval, fifteen-9

minute interval, the twenty-minute interval, the twenty-five-10

minute interval, and it shows that I billed more on the ten-11

and twenty-minute intervals than the fifteen-minute interval12

and I billed more on the ten-minute interval than the twenty-13

minute interval.14

I think that the formula is an interesting formula,15

but I don’t really think it really tracks anything.  If you16

actually look at the submission made by the fee committee this17

past Friday, they said that we had taken the guidelines out of18

context.  They do not claim that by applying the formula you’re19

either rounding up or rounding down, so then I’m not sure what20

the purpose of the comment is, other than they think, based on21

an arithmetic basis, that you should be billing more in ten-22

and five-minute intervals than fifteen-minute intervals, but23

there’s no presumption that it’s -- that you’re actually24

billing more for your time.  They say you can’t tell what the25
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presumption is.1

Under these circumstances where I don’t think it ties2

into anything that you can measure with precision, which is3

what the debtors were arguing, I don’t think it’s an4

appropriate comment.5

Your Honor, I do look at the list of issues, that6

there are certain Golden & Associate issues that are not on any7

category.  There was what I consider a block entry comment with8

regard to Golden & Associates.  If I can just take that up now9

--10

(Counsel confer.)11

MR. STEINBERG:  I apologize.  I’ll wait for that.12

THE COURT:  Go ahead.13

MS. GRAY:  Your Honor, I meant to make this14

clarification of record on rounding.  The fee committee pointed15

out some discrepancies in the numbers that we included in our16

reply, based upon what they had in their report.  We have filed17

an amended reply tomorrow and I believe we are in agreement18

with the fee committee as to the amounts that are at issue,19

both regard to rounding and the next issue, the transitory time20

keeper.  And just for the record, the amount that Weil Gotshal21

is asking the Court consider for rounding is $464,343.94.22

With regard to transitory time keeper, again, it’s23

Weil Gotshal and LeBoeuf that would ask the Court to consider24

the fee committee’s recommendations as to transitory time25
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keepers and with regard to Weil Gotshal, the amount that Weil1

Gotshal is asking the Court consider to be awarded as2

reasonable is $921,207.25.3

The transitory time keeper, somewhat like the4

rounding issue, has been an issue that has evolved over the5

course of the case.  Early on, Weil Gotshal decided to drop and6

not review and submit for intern consideration any time keeper7

who had less than four hours in the case during the month,8

believing that it’s hard to evaluate such small increments of9

time on a monthly basis and decide whether or not it provided10

value.11

However, at the end of the case, when you can look at12

the overall results of the attorneys, of the time keepers, and13

the reasonableness of all of the work that each time keeper has14

put into the case, we believe that, based upon that overall15

review, then it is easier and more appropriate to make a16

determination as to whether or not that time should be17

compensated.18

The fee committee used various approaches on fee19

applications with regard to what it considered to be a20

transitory time keeper.  We were provided with the opportunity21

during the interim fee applications to respond to specific22

questions with regard to whether the attorneys’ work was23

sufficient in hours to justify an award.  But then at the end24

of the case, in connection with the final fee application, the25
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fee committee decided to review any time keeper associates with1

sixty hours or less in the overall case and without an adequate2

explanation from the applicant as to how those associates3

provided value, the fee committee does not recommend approval4

for that.5

We believe that in our response, which is summarized6

in the chart, as I said, beginning on Page 51, we’ve provided7

that explanation for how the associates provided value and8

would ask the Court to consider the award of that amount I9

earlier referenced in the amount of $900,000 as transitory time10

keepers.11

THE COURT:  Anyone else?12

MS. GRAY:  Nothing to add there, so now we are on to13

managing clerks, litigation support, paralegals, and summer14

associates.15

MR. STEINBERG:  Your Honor, with regard to managing a16

clerk time, I think the fee committee, in their report, said17

that these people who normally get billed in our cases for18

serving documents, coming to court to retrieve documents, but19

to serve documents and to do our filings on the system, that20

these persons didn’t qualify as professionals.  I think that21

they’re probably correct in that regard, but we didn’t bill22

them, as we understood it, as professionals, we bill them as23

para-professionals and their fee structure and their fee rates24

are much different than what we bill for our professional25
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services.1

THE COURT:  So you bill all your clients for the2

managing attorney’s or managing clerk’s office task?3

MR. STEINBERG:  Yes.  That’s our normal billing4

practice.  Our normal billing practice is managing clerks, our5

filing system.  In fact, our normal billing practice is to bill6

word processing as well, too, Your Honor.7

In this particular case, since it seemed to be I was8

the lone party arguing for a word processing charge, we just9

chose to drop that, which was an eighty-nine-thousand-dollar10

amount.  Lots of different law firms structure the hourly rates11

in different ways.  Some bill at a higher hourly rate and don’t12

include some of these services, hoping to haul that in as firm13

overhead, others do not do that.  Our firm doesn’t charge a14

uniform hourly rate as the other professionals in this case and15

we do charge for managing clerk time.  We do charge for our16

filing clerk time and for maintenance of our files.17

The fee committee said, in our particular case, that18

they thought our filing time appeared to be high and therefore19

they made recommendations to cut it.  But we believe that these20

services, which add up to about $78,000 in dispute, were21

appropriate to be charged.22

Clearly, if you look at the fee committee they said23

send me a CV of your managing clerk’s time to see if they have24

sort of special expertise to be able to be compensated.  I25
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don’t think we -- I think we gave a little background of our1

managing clerks, but I don’t think a CV was going to be2

illuminating.  Frankly, they are not professionals.  They are3

long-time employees of Kaye Scholer in the managing clerk’s4

office doing a function which we separately bill our clients5

for, in most cases.6

THE COURT:  What was the last thing you said?7

MR. STEINBERG:  In most cases.  I’m saying it’s our8

standard practice to do that, Your Honor.9

THE COURT:  Is it standard practice to eliminate it10

if a client were to object?11

MR. STEINBERG:  No.12

THE COURT:  All right.13

MR. ROSEN:  The next item, Your Honor, is non-working14

travel.  Professor George Benson had a four-hundred-and-fifty-15

five-dollar entry.  I don’t know if he is here or on the phone.16

MR. BENSON:  I’m here, but I don’t think it’s worth17

the Court’s (inaudible).18

THE COURT:  Thank you.19

MR. ROSEN:  The other party that had the issue is Jay20

Golden & Associates, 184,000.21

MR. STEINBERG:   Your Honor, I apologize.  I forgot22

that I was supposed to address the summer associate time.  I’d23

like to take two minutes to be able to do that.24

The amount in dispute is $30,000.  The fee committee,25
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in their report, said that they believe that summer associate1

time should be disallowed as firm overhead, except in the2

extraordinary case where a firm can demonstrate that it3

assigned a summer associate because it had identifiable special4

expertise that provided unusual valuable contribution in the5

case.6

That’s a very, very high standard that I’m not sure a7

lot of professional time --8

THE COURT:  Mr. Steinberg, what is the goal of the9

summer associate program at your firm?10

MR. STEINBERG:  The goal of the summer associate11

program is to -- is primarily a recruiting tool to be able to12

attract for permanent associates at Kaye Scholer and to give13

them an opportunity to understand what it’s like to work at a14

large firm and try to give them billable work so they15

understand what the responsibilities are at Kaye Scholer.16

THE COURT:  All right.  Do you know of any person,17

party, partner, associate at your firm that would assign18

something to a summer associate and not have to review it with19

more scrutiny than they would have had that person been a20

first-year associate?21

MR. STEINBERG:  Your Honor, I’m not sure I understood22

your question.23

THE COURT:  Let me give you an example in my own24

experience.25
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The Court has many interns and as a great aspect, I1

think in some respects, in terms of recruitment of law clerks,2

but I have yet to have an intern, that is equivalent3

essentially of a summer associate, whose work, for purposes of4

me believing that I am adequately and sufficiently reviewing5

the work that leaves my chambers, would not have to be reviewed6

with more scrutiny than I would review a law clerk’s work.7

MR. STEINBERG:  I would agree with that.8

THE COURT:  And if that’s the case, how in the world9

do you think this estate should be burdened with summer10

associate charges when I believe that you have to review it11

again, it’s a recruitment tool, it is probably something that12

you could have a brilliant summer associate -- and many of13

them, I’m sure, are extraordinarily capable people, but at the14

end of the day you can’t look at that work as if it was the15

work product of a first-year associate.  And even the same with16

a paralegal who’s used to the workings of the firm.17

So you have to have that work reviewed by someone18

who’s charging more per hour and so the incremental difference19

between what the person reviewing it would have ultimately20

charged if they did it themselves, versus the exceptional21

extraordinary first attempt work product that is really22

beneficial to the estate has to be so seldom in its occurrence23

that it hardly bears mentioning at a fee application.  I find24

it amazing to bill for summer associates because I have never25
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had any experience with any firm that didn’t write off summer1

associate as soon as the client said, what is this.2

This estate isn’t a recruitment tool for purposes of3

summer associates programs and I think that’s recognized4

throughout the industry.  And if I’m wrong, I guess you can5

demonstrate that to me, but I really find that totally6

unnecessary to take up my time dealing with summer associate7

issues.8

MR. STEINBERG:  Well, Your Honor, I’m not prepared to9

belabor this point because Your Honor has made your feelings10

fairly strong about it.  I do think, though, that when you deal11

with summer associate time, if you plan on billing it, you try12

to give them an assignment that very much a first-year13

associate or someone out of law school is capable of doing. 14

Legal research and memo writing, summarizing pleadings and15

document review are tasks that a first-year associate does, as16

well as someone who’s straight out of law school can do.17

That was what was assigned in this case.  They18

weren’t asked to review complex issues.  Their work product was19

not a worthless issue, which is what happens in this case.20

We do clearly -- Your Honor is right and I’m not21

trying to argue with you that the summer associate program is a22

program for recruitment.  We didn’t bill for participation in23

meetings or et cetera in this case and we didn’t use the Enron24

case as a case to recruit for.  We did think there was some25
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discreet assignments that were capable of being billed where it1

was capable of getting a work product that was appropriate to2

deal with and that’s all I can say on that issue, Your Honor.3

THE COURT:  All right.  Just to make my point clear,4

if I didn’t the first time, I don’t question the assignments. 5

I don’t question at all that it was inappropriate.  I don’t6

question that it wasn’t very useful in reviewing -- useful to7

the particular individual and revealing to the firm of the8

competence, skill, and maturity of this person.  I just am9

under the impression that that work has to be reviewed again in10

a way that it wouldn’t have been reviewed had it been a first-11

year associate.  And for that, that means it’s an added cost12

and for that added cost I don’t know why you’re billing in the13

first place for the summer associate.14

MR. STEINBERG:  Okay.  Well, I’m not going to belabor15

the point.16

THE COURT:  All right.17

MR. STEINBERG:  On the non-working travel time, which18

is a Golden & Associates point, Your Honor, this is a case19

where the primary charge relates to the FPE investigation and20

there was a lot of work that was done in Houston.  The reason21

why it was done in Houston is that a large part of the work was22

done with the same personnel that was handling the other type23

of ENA assignments.  The manager of the assignment was located24

in Houston on a day-to-day basis throughout the case.  It was25
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deemed that it was appropriate to have people go to Houston, to1

review the hard documents, to be able to start the project2

before the data base had been up and running, and the quibble3

with the fee committee was they questioned why so many of the4

professionals had traveled to Houston to do their job.5

This was a judgment call made by the ENA examiner as6

to who should be leading the assignment, which was Mr. Slane7

[Ph.], who was also leading a good part of the day-to-day8

operations for the Golden & Associates team in Houston.  The9

team was thought better off to be there.  They achieved certain10

efficiencies being under Mr. Slane’s scrutiny and to try to get11

these SPE reports out in a timely fashion since the assignment12

was given to the ENA examiner at a fairly late stage in the13

game and they were pressing on the two-year statute of14

limitations.15

The challenge about whether these professionals16

should have gone to Houston came after the fact.  This was17

really a judgment call.18

THE COURT:  How would it come before the fact?  I19

mean, who’s going to raise it ahead of time?20

MR. STEINBERG:  Well, Your Honor, that’s a fair21

point, but the sensitivity on travel time to Houston for the22

ENA examiner was something that is an issue that the fee23

committee could have raised as this was coming up in the fifth24

and sixth applications and if they thought there were issues25
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about the trips to Houston, then that could have been raised at1

an earlier time.2

THE COURT:  All right.  What, specifically, is the3

issue?  Is the issue the trips themselves or is the issue the -4

-5

MR. STEINBERG:  It’s the non-working travel aspect of6

the trip.7

THE COURT:  All right.  So if you’re in non-working8

travel and you’re driving, I think it’s fair to say you9

shouldn’t be reading papers.10

MR. STEINBERG:  I agree with that, Your Honor.11

THE COURT:  All right?  If you’re sitting on an12

airplane and you decide not to do any work, I guess I would13

question why you would get paid 100 percent of your billable14

rates.15

MR. STEINBERG:  I think non-working travel is at16

fifty percent, Your Honor, to start with.17

THE COURT:  No, I understand that.18

MR. STEINBERG:  So you’re only talking about fifty19

percent.  When you’re dealing with the SPE investigation and20

many other aspects of the Enron case, you’re dealing with21

confidential information.  To be able to open it up on a plane22

and do you work there sometimes creates problems.23

THE COURT:  Mr. Steinberg, you can’t actually tell me24

that you don’t read confidential documents on an airplane for25
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fear the person next to you may be looking at them.  I mean,1

you just speculating?  There may well be a concern, but are you2

just speculating that that may have been the reason why someone3

didn’t engage --4

MR. STEINBERG:  Your Honor, I’m pretty sure that that5

would not explain the full amount of 137,000 charges.  There6

may have been an occurrence when that happened and someone7

repeated that to me anecdotally, but if Your Honor’s point is8

that that doesn’t explain the full charge, the answer is yes,9

that would not --10

THE COURT:  I think so.  I mean, I think that can11

happen on occasion, but it seems to me that if you’re reading,12

getting prepared for the assignment, there are plenty of things13

to do without jeopardizing confidentiality if you choose to14

work.  Now if you choose not to, that’s certainly your option,15

but I would question why the estate should pay 100 cents on a16

dollar for those periods and that would really discourage17

people, in some respects, from doing any work.  You might as18

well go to sleep and get paid the same amount of money.19

MR. STEINBERG:  Your Honor, I know you said 100 cents20

on the dollar.  I think you meant to say fifty percent of the21

non-working travel.22

THE COURT:  See, that’s what I’m trying to get you to23

focus in is what is at issue.  Did the committee -- are you24

responding to the committee’s challenge that the trip shouldn’t25
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have been taken at all?1

MR. STEINBERG:  Yes.2

THE COURT:  Or are you objecting to that non-working3

travel is fifty cents on the dollar?  That’s what I’m not clear4

about.5

MR. STEINBERG:  Okay.  I’m sorry, Your Honor.  It’s6

not the latter.7

THE COURT:  Oh, all right.  Then my comments are8

really directed to a challenge to the latter.9

MR. STEINBERG:  No, it’s that the fee committee10

believed that the SPE investigation for a number of individuals11

should have happened in New York.  It was unnecessary for them12

to go down to Houston and, therefore, the non-working travel13

time billed at fifty percent was an expense that the estate14

should not charge.  It’s a question of how to staff a case and15

where the ENA examiner believed was appropriate for his16

professionals to be.  He made the determination that his staff17

on this assignment for a good portion of the time should be in18

Houston under the supervision of the person who was there and19

had been there for two years in the case.  He thought that20

would achieve an overall efficiency, having these people work21

under Mr. Slane, not putting a new managing director in charge,22

and therefore, the sole issue in this is whether the people who23

traveled to Houston and then billed non-working travel at fifty24

percent shouldn’t have taken the trips to Houston.25
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We did make the point to the fee committee that it1

wasn’t like a destination resort that most people would want to2

go to.  There was an inconvenience to your family to send3

people down there.  It was thought it was the appropriate thing4

for the assignment and the appropriate thing for the case and5

we believe that, for that non-working travel aspect of sending6

the people there, it should be paid.7

The same issue is also involved in non-related SPE8

investigation travel for the valuation work that was done in9

connection between the disclosure statement filing date and the10

plan.  Your Honor had asked the ENA examiner to sign off on the11

valuations or not to challenge the valuations that had been put12

forth in the disclosure statement.  That required the ENA13

examiner to do crunch work under a very short time framework14

and he sent people to Houston to make sure that he could meet15

the guidelines that Your Honor had set to move the case forward16

and to have a disclosure statement hearing towards the end of17

the year.18

There is a quibble with regard to one or two trips19

made by part of the valuation staff, again, on non-working20

travel.  It was the judgment made by the ENA examiner that it21

was appropriate to efficiently finish the job by having people22

on site to be able to do it because the time delay was worth23

more than the cost of having an assembled team in place to do a24

fairly focused assignment.25
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The other aspect, I guess, which is part of this non-1

working travel is that, in the course of the two-and-a-half2

years that the ENA examiner had his personnel in Houston, there3

were times when they did not go home from Houston on the4

weekend, they went to another location, either to meet family5

on a vacation or do to something business or personal related. 6

What the ENA examiner did was he did not charge for more than7

the travel time or the cost than he otherwise would charge if8

they had returned to New York.9

The fee committee took the position that if they10

weren’t returning to New York, that one leg of that trip, no11

matter what, should not be compensable and we believe that that12

amount, which is $38,000, should be compensable.  He did not13

charge for either greater time or greater expense.  The idea14

that you had to go back to New York and then move to where you15

wanted to go, which would just create more burden and not an16

expense for the estate made no sense at all.17

And so those are the three elements of the non-18

working travel time that’s involved.19

THE COURT:  Thank you.  Is anyone challenging the20

fifty percent for the non-working travel?21

MR. STEINBERG:  No, we do not challenge that.22

THE COURT:  No, I realize I was mistaken in thinking23

you were, but does anyone else?  Has anyone else put that at24

issue?25



184

MR. ROSEN:  Not any more, Your Honor.1

(Laughter.)2

THE COURT:  That’s one less speech I needed to make.3

MR. ROSEN:  Your Honor, the remaining issue is sort4

of a -- literally a blocked issue.  There are four parties5

which still have an outstanding issue.  One was the Blackstone6

Group and that was already addressed by counsel for Blackstone. 7

The other is Mr. Benson, with a nine-thousand-dollar issue. 8

You want to address it now?9

And then after that, Your Honor, Kaye Scholer and Jay10

Golden Associates.11

MR. BENSON:  George Benson, Your Honor.12

I’m questioning the removal of what I billed for13

several different items, partly because I really don’t14

understand it and it doesn’t seem very fair and I think15

fairness is important, at least to me.16

One of them basically is administrative and clerical17

tasks.  I don’t have a staff.  I don’t have clerks and because18

of the confidential nature of the data I couldn’t give it to19

somebody who wasn’t already vetted by Alston & Berg [Ph.], the20

examiner for whom I was working.21

THE COURT:  All right.  You’ll have to speak louder.22

MR. BENSON:  Oh, I’m sorry.23

THE COURT:  The microphone is not picking up24

everything you’re saying.25
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MR. BENSON:  Oh, okay.  I will.1

I do not -- I’m a professor at Embry University and I2

do not give anything not related to my university duties to my3

secretary or to anyone related to the university because that4

would be wrong for me to do that and I do not, as a5

consequence, so I have to do my own typing and my own billing6

and look at the material; there’s no one else to give it to.7

Further than that, had I had someone to give it to,8

the time it would have taken me to explain what it was that9

they had to do would have been more time that it would have10

taken to do it myself.11

I designed a spreadsheet for myself to keep the time12

that was required in this, something I’ve never had to do13

before, and I did that.  I put the material together as a14

consequence, and I thought rather efficiently, but anything15

that had to be done, I had to do personally that which wasn’t16

done for me and there was no one else to give it to, one,17

because the material is confidential; and, two, because even if18

it weren’t, the truth is I have no one to give it to who would19

not take longer to do it than it would take for me, even at my20

hourly rate.  So I questioned why that was taken away from me.21

By the way, it has been my practice, both in prior22

cases in which I’ve been an expert witness, and in cases in23

which I’m now involved to charge the same rate for my time no24

matter what I do:  travel, testify, do analyses, write,25
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whatever, because time is my scarce resource.  I understood1

that I could only travel -- charge fifty percent travel time,2

which is the only time I’ve ever done that, but I did in this3

case.  Those are the rules, I follow them.4

The second thing is inadequate descriptions and this5

is predominantly -- I was present at the -- the fee committee6

did not tell me what was inadequate so I couldn’t respond to7

it.  I have to say it’s sort of ironic to be charged with8

inadequately describing something and then the charge that I’ve9

inadequately described is given to me in such a way that I10

can’t respond because it’s inadequate.11

I wasn’t told where it was.  No one ever questioned12

all of the time sheets I put in.  I tried to be as careful as I13

could.  I thought I was.  Given that, again, one doesn’t want14

to spend a lot of time doing this kind of work because it’s15

costly to the estate and to me.  16

So I don't know how to respond to that one because I17

don't know exactly what I've been charged for. 18

The third major item is I was present at the19

deposition of Robert Jaedicke, who was the Chair of Enron's20

Audit Committee, or happens to be a former colleague of mine. 21

And I was there, I came -- attended when the attorneys asked me22

to, was present with them, left when the hearing was over and I23

put down in my time sheet a Jaedicke deposition, listened,24

asked questions as I was asked to.  In fact, at one point I was25
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asked to participate in the deposition on a technical matter. 1

I don't quite know what I could have done differently in terms2

of describing what my -- I said, I gave and inadequately 3

described that I don't know what I could have done wrong other4

than what I did do.  I don't think there was any question that5

I was there because the place was filled with lawyers and they6

-- we were all there together.7

The third one was, after that we had a dinner meeting8

with Plante and Moran and I was very concerned because I don't9

like to travel if I can possibly avoid it, even when I'm10

getting full paid for it and I wanted to know do I have to --11

did I have to come back to Houston to look at more documents,12

which I thought I was going to have to do.  And while they may13

have considered it idle chit-chat, I considered it a very14

serious conversation to question them as to what they found,15

what they'd looked for, or that they had any indication whether16

I could find the documents I thought I needed to look at and I17

realized from that, in fact, I didn't need to make another trip18

to Houston, that they had done a very thorough search, had19

asked the right questions and there was nothing I could have20

added to it so I canceled my request to go to Houston to do21

more work because I didn't, again, want to incur the cost for22

the State as well as my own time.  I consider that to be a very23

valuable use of time and, again, I'm careful about what I put24

down and I'm -- even though it's a relatively small amount, I25
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do not wish to have it believed that I would pad my accounts in1

any manner.2

The other thing is a small number that I don't even3

understand, $97.4

THE COURT:  I couldn't hear what you said.  The small5

number?6

THE WITNESS:  There's another -- there's a last issue7

is trivial.  It's $97 for something and I don't even understand8

what it is.9

THE COURT:  All right, thank you.10

THE WITNESS:  Thank you, sir. 11

THE COURT:  All right.  Mr. Steinberg?12

MR. STEINBERG:  Your Honor, I'd like to address the13

Goldin Associates points first.  There were three issues14

involved in this category.  The first is what I had started to15

address, which is the Harrison, Goldin time keeping issues. 16

This was a similar issue that was raised in the first B17

application. Mr. Goldin's time entries were something that the18

fee committee thought needed further amplification.  They19

thought they were -- there were more of a lumping-type entry so20

Mr. Goldin resubmitted the time entries and the fee committee21

basically said too late on it.  It was the same issue and22

argument that we had with regard to the first fee application23

and Your Honor ultimately allowed it to be submitted and24

awarded the fees for the amount.  The amount that's stated25
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there is about $54,000.1

The second time relates to the time keeper, Tom2

Foster, the $62,000.  Mr. Foster was primarily involved on the3

SPE investigation.  The fee committee, looking at the SPE work,4

believed generally that the SPE work product was an excellent5

professional product, that there was no issue of quality or6

value of the work and that the Goldin Associates' team7

concentrated intention on the important function.  That's the8

macro review.  The micro review of one particular person whose9

entries they thought were less than precise, they believe that10

two thirds of his time involved in the concentrated SPE work11

should be disallowed.  Goldin Associates disagrees with that,12

that we believe that the person functioned appropriately on the13

case, contributed to the SPE project and the time should be14

compensable.15

The third item is the item of David Prager for $4000. 16

It's an isolated minor entry.  In this particular case there17

was an issue raised as to whether there should be a separate18

examiner for Enron Corp. and there was a motion filed by19

Balpost and in conjunction, if that was going to be litigated,20

we were going to participate in the response for that.  Mr.21

Prager participated in outlining some of the arguments that22

would -- that might be used as a reason why that should be23

denied.  Ultimately the motion didn't go forward.  The fee24

committee asked for the work product for this $4000 entry and25
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by the time they asked for the work product, the records1

relating to that aspect of the planned facilitation process had2

been destroyed.  So there was nothing to give them.  3

I think for those who know Mr. Prager and his4

involvement in this case and the highly sophisticated work that5

he did in the trading book and work that he did at the BTRC,6

this is just a matter of personal privilege that he performed7

outstanding services in this case and to single him out for8

this task as being compensable, I think people found, irks him9

because clearly, his value to this case was way beyond what he10

had charged on his reflected hourly rate.11

Your Honor, the Kay Scholer points on this regard are12

work that was done is about $29,000 in connection with the13

preparation for the confirmation of the plan.  There were14

depositions scheduled for and taken of six professionals15

related to the debtor and then Mr. Swayne's deposition was16

notice for a deposition on behalf of the ENA examiner and Mr.17

Goldin's deposition was noticed as a possibility after that was18

done.  We did send two people to the Cooper and Bingham19

depositions at my instruction.  The second one prepared20

deposition summaries for the client and for me because I did21

not attend.  The fee committee said that the deposition22

summaries weren't really used.  I don't believe that that was23

the case.  They were used certainly by me to understand what24

the general topics were without having to read the full25
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transcripts.  They were available for the client to look at and1

especially if Mr. Goldin had to either be deposed or if he was2

going to be a witness at trial.  All of that was on the table3

when the decision was made to send somewhere there who can4

prepare overnight summaries of the deposition transcripts. 5

There were six depositions.  We sent two people to only two of6

the depositions and this was for the attendants the preparation7

of the deposition summaries.  Those are litigations calls that8

I made.  I believe it's appropriate to be compensated for that.9

The other two charges, Your Honor, I had eluded to10

before.  They are in the nature of Kaye Scholer charges for its11

filing and maintenance system.  We believe it was an12

appropriate charge.  The fee committee thought it was a charge13

higher than what they think is compensable.  I don't have a lot14

more to add than I already spoke about that on this issue.15

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.  16

MR. STEINBERG:  Your Honor, one last item.  There are17

two expenses which are still being challenged.  The one by the18

Blackstone Group for in-house publishing on -- is Mr. Thompson19

still here?  And the other, Togut, Siegel & Siegel.  20

Your Honor, the only remaining open expense charge21

was the $13,000 and change.  It was an actual charge and22

expense to our outside computer consultants, Templeton23

Associates.  It is a charge that we incurred in connection --24

the first three weeks of the case when -- to assist -- while25
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what they were doing in Houston, we sent five of the attorneys1

down.  We camped out basically between the Houston, Weil Office2

and the Enron Offices for the first three weeks.  To make our3

MAC systems compatible with both Enron computer systems to let4

us network back and forth with the office, we'd incur the5

charge.  There was no hardware charges here including the6

laptops themselves or the printers.  But we did have this one7

out of pocket expense which the committee viewed as an overhead8

expense.  A one-time charge and that's the only one that's9

open.  10

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.  Blackstone?11

MR. THOMPSON:  Mark Thompson of Simpson, Patrick for12

the Blackstone Group. 13

Very briefly, Your Honor.  I believe the issues with14

the advisory committee have been narrowed based on out of Court15

discussions referenced by the Fee Advisory Committee.16

Initially this was characterized by the Fee Advisory17

Committee as $177,0000 of "word processing".  They now, after18

meeting with Blackstone and understanding that this is not19

generic word processing, but these were specialized20

presentations created for expert witness testimony,21

presentations to creditor's committees, etc., by more22

specialized people, not just your average word processor.  The23

committee now recognizes that these are in the nature of24

"desktop publishing" as opposed to word processing. 25
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Nonetheless, the committee recommends that they not be allowed.1

The committee offers two arguments for not allowing2

it.  I think their -- the first argument is a semantic one and3

I believe it should be rejected because it is purely semantic. 4

In the retention letter between Blackstone and Enron, the5

debtors agree to pay Blackstone reimbursement of "all6

reasonable out of pocket expenses incurring this engagement,7

including but not limited to" and then omitting irrelevant8

materials, "direct identifiable data processing and9

communication charges".  10

So this is a -- clearly a direct identifiable data11

processing charge that Blackstone incurred directly for Enron,12

identifiable.  There's no overhead being allocated here.  But13

the committee finds the word out of pocket to be dispositive14

and again I think that's just semantic.  It's just -- it's15

clear what the intention was.  The word out of pocket is not16

meant to be limiting since it specifically identifies this type17

of charge in the next line.  So we think this semantic argument18

should be rejected.19

The second argument they offer is that Blackstone20

charges fees that excuse it from keeping time records.  And21

again, that's not true.  Blackstone has kept time records. 22

They are not super-detailed the way attorneys are, but they're23

reflected in the fee application and they're totalled up and so24

forth.25
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So the Fee Advisory Committee says Blackstone should1

not be permitted to charge hourly rates for its personnel in2

the guise of expenses.  But that's how the fixed portion of the3

fee was calculated, by leaving these things off as variable4

expenses.  So that's where the line was drawn in this case so I5

think it's improper to sort of take that division and then say6

well, because some of it was fixed, all of it should have been7

fixed.  That's not how the fee was built here and this was a8

heavily negotiated fee, as Your Honor knows.  It took several9

months to get it negotiated and approved through the process10

with the committee.11

Your Honor should also just be aware of the12

economics.  I don't think they're any longer in dispute, but I13

just want Your Honor to just be aware of them.  The14

uncontroverted allegations of Blackstone in it's application15

are that it would pay third party vendors $85 to $95 an hour to16

provide these services.  They're charging here $52 an hour to17

the debtor.  They're charging a 20 percent discount to18

Blackstone's own actual costs for hiring these people and19

paying them to perform these specialized services and20

Blackstone's own costs are naturally below what the third party21

vendors would be.  So were this to be an out of pocket expense,22

it would be 50 percent or so higher.  Instead of being23

$177,000, it would be roughly $250,000.  It's a net savings to24

the estate and it's something that the estate should bear25
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because it fits with the language of the engagement letter.1

Your Honor, that concludes the outstanding issues2

with the Fee Committee, which would bring us back to the3

presentation of --4

THE COURT:  One second.  Mr. Hopkins?  5

MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry about that.6

MR. HOPKINS:  Your Honor, Mr. Patchen asked me to7

speak.  We just have two things that we made, additional for8

the Court's benefit.  We made a disk which has the relevant9

computer analysis reports that are referred to in the10

Committee's Advisory reports.  Those are not otherwise readily11

available.  All of the applicants have them.  But I don't think12

the Court has access to them so we put them on one disk. 13

They're all Excel documents.14

The other thing is the document, that while provided15

-- that identified all the transitory time keepers and it has16

on it the notations that the committee made as they decided yea17

or nay on each one, this would show the Court what each one of18

them did and whether the committee agreed with it.  I'd just19

like to submit those.  I don't have a copy of this document20

because it's actually our original and we had no chance to copy21

it.22

MS. GRAY:  We have no objection, Your Honor, to those23

being submitted to the Court.24

THE COURT:  All right.  You may hand it up.  Mr.25
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Kaplan, come in through the --  Thank you.1

MR. HOPKINS:  Your Honor, if I may just have one2

minute?  3

On behalf of Goldin Associates and Kaye Scholer, it4

was a little uncomfortable rising on this in connection with an5

issue by issue basis.  I did want to have the final word that I6

would say at the hearing on this issue today, to say that we7

understood that the Fee Committee had a difficult job in8

approaching these issues.  We think that the relative small9

differences that we had remaining with the Fee Committee for K.10

Scholer, it's $242,000 for Goldin and Associates.  It's11

$385,000 of fees and $85,000 expenses reflects much more than12

what you've heard today, a general agreement on how these13

issues to be approached.  14

I do think at the end of the day, when you look at,15

in the case of K. Scholer, a $5.6 million fee application and16

the case of Goldin Associates and $11.8 million fee17

application, it is sometimes important to look at the forest18

from the trees and I won't belabor what I think the19

contribution of either K. Scholer or the examiner was to the20

case.  I think Your Honor certainly has enough information to21

draw your own conclusions.22

I will say though, without speaking about Kaye23

Scholer, that I would echo the sentiments that the Fee24

Committee made about Goldin Associates, I do believe that they25



197

turned out quality work product and advanced this case, the1

confirmation and their work is excellent.  Thank you.2

THE COURT:  Thank you.  Mr. Rosen?  We'll take a3

break, but let's talk about for a moment how we'll proceed from4

here.5

MR. ROSEN:  Your Honor, what I see remaining on the6

calendar is going back to the presentation of the objection and7

the direct case by Upstream Energy which was projected by Mr.8

Brown to be 30 minutes.  There would then be the presentation9

of statements and support and opposition to the motion of SFC,10

LLC for a payment of a success fee, which also was projected to11

be 30 minutes.  12

Then there was the presentation of the 503(b)13

applications by the three applicants with a total of 60 minutes14

and then possible cross examination and other objections by the15

debtors, the creditor's committee, Balpost and the U.S. Trustee16

of approximately 60 minutes. 17

Then the closing remarks of the United States18

Trustee, the creditor's committee and Your Honor.  19

THE COURT:  That's about 10:00.  So we'll take a20

half-hour break.  We'll finish -- if we do the applications,21

move to the 503(b)s and I guess I'm not sure -- I lost track of22

the hierarchy with respect to Zolfo Cooper success fee.23

MR. ROSEN:  It went first, the presentation by24

Upstream Energy and then the Kroll, Zolfo Cooper right after25



198

that.1

THE COURT:  All right.  I would imagine this has to2

be at least 6:30 before we begin the 503(b)s.  Somewhere3

between 6:30 and seven.  So if -- I mean I can make a4

commitment now, not to begin until 7:00 in case you want to go5

elsewhere in the interim.  Those are the -- it's up to the6

individual parties, whatever they want to do.  7

So we'll take break, a little less than a half hour8

and try to pick up again at 5:30.9

MR. BROWN:  Your Honor, just one quick question10

before you leave.  There's been a question by several of the11

applicants with -- the 330 applicants, whether or not you would12

like them to remain for the balance of the hearing or perhaps13

leave at the conclusion of the 330 piece.14

THE COURT:  No.  I think, to a certain extent, I'll15

be in a position to rule on a great deal of 330 at the16

conclusion of the 330 and then the parties can choose to do17

whatever they wish at that point.18

MR. BROWN:  Thank you, Your Honor.19

MR. ROSEN:  Your Honor, in terms of the committee's -20

- the creditor's committee's statement, is that after the 330's21

or before the correction?22

THE COURT:  Well, I don't think it needs to be, once23

you close out the 330 applications, you need the creditor's24

committee's statement to the extent the U.S. Trustee wants to25
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then comment again.  It's up to the my editor.  1

MR. ROSEN:  Your Honor, while they asked for the U.S.2

Trustee, we've made our comment that we did make on the 330's.3

THE COURT:  All right.  So I think what we'll do is4

close out the 330, hear from the committee, hear the closing5

arguments in general on the 330's and in all likelihood, the6

issues are raised with these applications and, as where the7

difference with the Fee Committee, I will not be in a position8

to rule on those tonight.  So I think I can probably do, in9

many respects to with respect to the balance with the 33010

applications that are not in controversy and possibly with11

respect to one that's in controversy and an issue other than12

the Fee Committee issues that are raised.  So in that regard I13

would expect of the -- on a great deal of the 330 applications. 14

MR. ROSEN:  Your Honor, how long would you like to15

break for?16

THE COURT:  Well, I'll try to -- I guess depends on17

me not -- I don't want to restrict anybody's ability to go and18

get something to eat.  But I will just assume start at 5:30-19

5:35, which limits everyone's ability to --20

MR. ROSEN:  That's fine.21

THE COURT:  It doesn't bother me.  22

MS. GRAY:  We had a late lunch.23

MR. ROSEN:  Thank you, Your Honor.24

THE COURT:  You want to say something, sir?  Just one25



200

second.  People can remain in whatever position they're in.  1

MR. MELKO:  Good afternoon, Your Honor.  My name is2

John Melko.  I'm here on behalf of Roysno Advisors [Ph.].  We3

have -- there is a -- and I have a pro hac vice motion pending4

before Your Honor.  We have one objection pending.  It is a5

limited objection from the Creditor's Committee.  We've been in6

discussions with the Creditor's Committee.  My client has7

agreed to a slight reduction, which I believe is acceptable to8

the Committee.  And the reason I bring this up now in terms of9

scheduling is, I would like to get my client on a red eye10

flight back to the west coast.  11

THE COURT:  Committee?12

MR. BROWN:  That's accurate, Your Honor.13

THE COURT:  All right.14

MR. MELKO:  And the reduction -- thank you, Your15

Honor.  For the record, the reduction was $300,000 in the16

amount so that would be the only objection to the Roysno17

Advisors, formerly known as Batchelder Partners, Inc.18

application.19

THE COURT:  All right, thank you.20

MR. MELKO:  Thank you, Your Honor.21

THE COURT:  Let's try to get back.  I guess we'll22

pull a full half hour by a quarter to six. 23

[Off the record]24

THE COURT:  Please be seated.  Did Christine speak to25
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you?  Are you able to stay?  Are you able to stay as long as it1

takes?  2

All right.  We have everybody we need to at this3

point? 4

MS. GRAY:  This is Mr. Brown.5

THE COURT:  Go ahead.  Oh, Mr. Brown.6

MR. BROWN:  Your Honor, as you are aware, certain of7

the companies represented by Upstream Energy is pagent,8

objected to the Weil Gotshal  fee in limited aspect and9

objected to the success fee.  10

The way this matter has been presented, you have had11

testimony in support of those applications.  I presume that was12

the purpose of the testimonies of three witnesses before.  And13

I would only wish to add in limited respect some additional14

testimony because it was not appropriate to get it from the15

witnesses tendered.  I have alerted Mr. Rosen, but I intended16

to call him as that witness and I would do so at this time.17

MS. GRAY:  Your Honor, given that thus far, with18

regard to the cross examination of Mr. Cooper and Mr. Bingham,19

it is all information material that was either covered in the20

two challenges to Weil Gotshal representation of ENA, along21

with Enron Corp., that being first the Wiser challenge and then22

Upstream's challenge in April of 2002.  The Court has made23

findings regarding the joint representation, both in connection24

with the findings in support of confirmation of the plan.  And25
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then, more recently, in connection with the post confirmation1

overhead allocation where the Court found that there was no2

evidence of any breach of fiduciary duty or inadequate3

representation.4

There is -- unless Mr. Brown can identify some area5

that has yet to be covered by all of that, I don't believe it's6

appropriate to have him put on cumulative repetitive testimony7

in opposition to the two applications that he has objected to.8

THE COURT:  Mr. Brown?9

MR. BROWN:  Your Honor, an applicant for fees must10

show that he is entitled to fees at all times during the case. 11

That is the mandate of 328 of the Code.  He must neither hold,12

nor represent an interest adverse to the estate from which he13

is seeking compensation. Compensation is sought by Will Gotshal14

from the ENA Estate. There's been testimony today for the first15

time that the management company, Zolfo, Cooper, became aware16

of the inter-estate conflicts and the magnitude of them in17

June, subsequent to the times you heard.  18

I have very limited direct of Mr. Rosen.  It covers19

three areas that we've previously discussed.20

THE COURT:  What specific information do you want, or21

questions do you want to ask, that have not already been put in22

the record?23

MR. BROWN:  Your Honor, the first is whether or not24

there was an inter-debtor tolling agreement between Enron and25
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ENA on fraudulent transfer or preferences. That time period1

would have expired in the absence of an agreement two years2

from the date of bankruptcy, which would have been December of3

'03.  Global Compromise didn't go -- get Court approval until4

July of '04.  Whether or not there is such a recognition of5

potential litigation between the states is relevant to whether6

or not they held, or represented an interest adverse to the7

estate.  It's a factual matter, either was or wasn't, they did8

or they didn't.  Relevant to your considerations.9

Second, that there -- and it's a matter of10

evidentiary point that there had been no supplementation to the11

affidavit.  Will Gotshal was not aware of the conflict among12

the estates.13

THE COURT:  Well, that sounded good, that it was on a14

docket or it's not on a docket.  It is what it is.  So I don't15

think -- did you find anything on the docket?16

MR. BROWN:  I didn't find it, Your Honor.  and the17

question I was going to ask them was whether they recognized it18

might be necessary and if it is on the docket, I'd like to be19

advised of it.20

THE COURT:  All right.  Ms. Gray?21

MS. GRAY:  Are those the -- all the areas?  You had22

mentioned two -- or three?23

MR. BROWN:  Well, the third has to do with the24

question, the zealous representation which has to do with the25
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subs -- with Schedule S and the position of neutrality as to1

which estate owns what asset.2

MS. GRAY:  Your Honor, with regard to the first3

issue, the inner debtor totalling agreement, I'm advised by Mr.4

Rosen, that there was such an inner debtor totalling agreement5

and we'll stipulate that there was an inner debtor totalling6

agreement.7

THE COURT:  There was.8

MR. ROSEN:  And it was entered by the Court.9

THE COURT:  I remember entering -- I know it became10

an issue.  My recollection is I think Mr. Mayer, if I'm11

correct, representing one aspect of a special Tom Mayer12

representing a particular aspect of a special purpose vehicle,13

took issue with that.  When it was entered as to some of the14

entities in which Enron, I believe, was on -- controlled the15

board and they were jointly held by non-debtor owners.  So I16

have a vague recollection of that hearing.17

MR. BROWN:  Well, the Will Gotshal stipulate us to a18

time range when it was entered?  19

MS. GRAY:  When it was entered?  Yes.20

THE COURT:  You know, if someone made a two-year21

statute of limitations period which would have been the fall of22

'03.  23

MS. GRAY:  Your Honor, with regard to the24

supplementation of the affidavits, both the original affidavit25
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and supplemental affidavits or additional disclosures, are part1

of our final fee application and part of this record already as2

part of what you are required to file.  And so what we have3

filed are the disclosures that we have made with regard to4

Weil's meeting the standard of disinterestedness under the5

Bankruptcy Code and asking Mr. Rosen -- I mean if we felt it6

was necessary to file additional affidavits, of course we would7

have done so.8

Then the zealous representation:  we've already had9

testimony with regard to the aspects of the global compromise10

that part of the confirmation record.  And to put Mr. Rosen on11

the stand with regard to the aspects that was negotiated by the12

principals, the creditor's committee, the ENA examiner, I just13

do not believe is the appropriate use of time in connection14

with this hearing because it's already there with regard to15

what it is.  It's legal argument about whether or not, while16

satisfied the disinterested standard, which of course we think17

we do and whether it's appropriate for Mr. Brown having filed18

his motion in April of '02, seeking separate counsel for ENA,19

having lost and then never having raised the issue again with20

regard to our representation and challenging fees until this21

point, we believe is inappropriate. 22

MR. BROWN:  Well, we'll stipulate that the affidavit23

as to no knowledge of conflict was not amended.  24

MS. GRAY:  Well, the affidavits are in the record.  I25
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mean they are what they are.  1

THE COURT:  Theoretically they may have been amended.2

MS. GRAY:  Yes.3

THE COURT:  They are what they are.  You know.  They4

wouldn't have stipulation probably that they were amended to5

reflect the type of conflict that you allege.6

MS. GRAY:  Yes.  Your Honor, just for the record,7

there was the original affidavit and then five supplemental8

affidavits that were filed.  9

THE COURT:  None of those affidavits, I presume10

reflect any disclosure with respect to any inter company11

alleged conflict.12

MS. GRAY:  I believe that's correct, Your Honor,13

other than possibly the very original affidavit that it14

reflected, just the fact that there were numerous debtors.  I'm15

not certain whether inter company claims were actually re-16

disclosed in that original affidavit.17

THE COURT:  Mr. Brown?18

MR. BROWN:  Your Honor, with those stipulations, I19

don't need Mr. Rosen's testimony.20

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.21

MR. BROWN:  I will be prepared to argue whenever you22

want to do it. 23

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you. 24

What's next then?  We have --25
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MR. BIENENSTOCK:  Well, Your Honor, I thought it1

would be at this point in time either closing arguments on the2

330's and closing arguments, but for the reservation of rights3

that we know of with respect to the SFC, LLC, the enhancement4

motion.5

THE COURT:  All right.  Let's have the closing6

arguments with respect to the 330 applications.  And then Mr.7

Brown, I assume that you'll have your argument -- your time for8

the argument there with respect to Weil Gotshal and then we'll9

move to the SFC request for success fee and you'll have your10

time there.  11

MR. BROWN:  Thank you, sir.12

 THE COURT:  All right.  All right.  I'll hear from13

those parties in support of the 330 applications.  14

MR. SPIERS:  Your Honor, Jeff Spiers of Andrews &15

Kurths and I appreciate you to allowing me to be here before16

Your Honor without my coat on.17

Just a housekeeping matter.  At the outset of the18

hearing Mr. Rosen made a statement.  And in that statement, one19

of the things he said was that Andrews & Kurth had an amount20

recommended for award by the Fee Committee that was in excess21

of amount requested by Andrews & Kurth.  Just to put a little22

more color on that and then a suggestion for Your Honor.23

With respect to fees, our fees request were well in24

excess of amount of fees rewarded recommended for award by the25
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Fee Committee.  There was a delta of some several hundred1

thousand dollars.2

With respect to expenses, our fee application3

actually requested $949,207.93.  The Fee Committee recommended4

award of $949,215.20, a difference of $7.27.  Rather than put5

Your Honor and it's staff through the time of reviewing a6

supplement to deal with that $7.27, we would waive any right to7

the $7.27 and request entry, assuming Your Honor agrees with8

the recommendation to go by our number as request with respect9

to expenses.  Otherwise, obviously, we would support the Fee10

Committee's recommendations with respect to additional --11

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.12

MR. SPIERS:  Thank you.13

THE COURT:  Anyone else?  The debtor in general?14

MR. FERGUS:  Your Honor, this is Gary Fergus on the15

phone.16

THE COURT:  Yes, sir?17

MR. FERGUS:  I fell in the same category of where the18

recommendation by the Fee Committee was larger than the19

application.  The reason for that was the Committee had changed20

it's views on a couple of policies of the increases, $3000 or21

$4000.  I would add leave to file the supplemental application22

just correcting the numbers to conform with the recommendation23

of the fees in which I accept and so that it will fall.  But I24

understood from Mr. Rosen that adopting for the Court.25
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THE COURT:  All right.  Need was granted to that1

extent.2

MR. FERGUS:  Yes, Your Honor.3

THE COURT:  Mr. Steinberg?4

MR. STEINBERG:  Your Honor, I had given, I thought my5

final presentation, but when I returned to my seat, the ENA6

examiner pointed out to me that he thought there might be a7

confusion on one point with regard to the Goldin Associates fee8

application time. 9

Your Honor had asked me why the $155,000 charge,10

which is in dispute for the Goldin Associates time seemed to be11

high.  I had omitted to tell Your Honor, although the argument12

was made in our reply papers, was that Goldin Associates had13

not been given the full credit of the two percent cap, that if14

you had given them the credit for the two percent cap, the15

amount in dispute would be roughly $50,000.  And instead of16

writing a letter to Your Honor tomorrow to make that point, I17

wanted to clarify that point today.18

The only other issue -- I don't have another comment19

on the applications that I've made already, but I do have a20

housekeeping issue regarding the 503B substantial contribution21

applications and my participation there at, I don't mean to22

take away that time, but I do have a time constraint that I'd23

like to be able to address Your Honor in the next half hour24

about that issue.25
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Roughly, I have a child meeting me at a location at1

7:30 and there's an issue as to whether the statement that I2

filed in support of the substantial contribution applications,3

where I had said to everybody that I would rest on my4

statement, unless Your Honor had a question.  Whether that5

would require me to be at the hearing and perhaps to testify on6

that issue.7

THE COURT:  All right. Mr. Rosen?  8

MR. BIENENSTOCK:  Your Honor?9

THE COURT:  Yes?10

MR. BIENENSTOCK:  We're fine with the statement as11

long as it's taken as argument.  We don't have any need to12

examine as long as it's argument.13

THE COURT:  Mr. Bennett?14

MR. BENNETT:  Your Honor, David Bennett from Dunhill15

Group. 16

We've discussed this issue.  Your Honor, in our view17

it's evidence.  We're not asking Mr. Steinberg to be our18

advocate.  He's not our advocate in connection with the19

application.  He's making a statement as an observer of what we20

did and opined as to it's efficacy.  So we believe it should be21

accepted for what it is, which is evidence.22

Your Honor, having said that, we don't see any need23

for Mr. Steinberg to stay.  We don't think Mr. Steinberg should24

be more subject to cross examination than Mr. Rosen on these25
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matters.  We think the statement speaks for itself and should1

be accepted by the Court for --2

THE COURT:  You had -- we had the deposition, right?3

MS. GRAY:  Yes, Your Honor.  We did take the4

deposition of Mr. Steinberg.5

MR. BENNETT:  You can let the deposition go in as the6

record of your --7

MS. GRAY:  That's fine, Your Honor.  Part of the8

conclusion was that the statement, purported to be the9

statement of Mr. Goldin, it was not signed by Mr. Goldin.  It10

was signed by Mr. Steinberg and we were not certain whether it11

was going to be evidence of Mr. Steinberg or Mr. Goldin or12

exactly how they were going to use that.  But if we can13

introduce the deposition of Mr. Steinberg, then we will not14

have any further cross examination here for hearing.15

THE COURT:  I appreciate that.  Thank you very much.16

MR. BENNETT:  Thank you, Your Honor.17

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.18

All right.  Mr. Bennett, what am I going to hear from19

you on the subpoena stuff?  I forgot which question I asked20

before.21

MR. BENNETT:  Weil Gotshal's 330.22

THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  Go ahead.23

MR. BENNETT:  Your Honor, regardless of how the Court24

ultimately rules on Weil Gotshal's application for final fees,25
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we wanted to take just a couple of moments to talk about what1

was important in this case, which we know the Court will factor2

in to it's rulings on our fees and probably many fees.  But3

they are the dominant considerations.4

The legacy of this case, Your Honor, is that 24,0005

jobs were saved, $16.4 billion of value without including a lot6

of more litigation recoveries were obtained for creditors. 7

Virtually every business was saved.  The trading operation --8

it was the first time a trading operation has been saved in a9

Chapter 11 situation.10

But beyond that, this was done in two and a half11

years with, as per Mr. Cooper's testimony, the business plan12

underlying the plan term sheet was given to the Creditor's13

Committee in less than a year from the time this case started. 14

Why did that happened?  It happened initially because of the15

way the Court organized the case from a viewpoint of fairness,16

from a viewpoint of sunshine, from a viewpoint of procedure. 17

And whether that be the fee committee which saved all parties18

amazing time and created an amazing sense of fairness.  Or the19

system of checks and balance whereby J. Goldin was appointed an20

examiner so that the ENA creditors would have confidence that21

their interests were being zealously represented and then his22

duties were expanded to be a plan facilitator and advocate of23

ENA creditors.  24

Or whether you look at the appointment of Neil Bapsom25
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as examiner, whose main role was to make sure that the Sunshine1

Policy was complied with in this case so that everyone who was2

losing money knew exactly what had happened, who was3

responsible and why.  Or whether you look at the cooperation4

between the committee advisors, primarily Milbank Tweed, the5

Hoolihan Firm, Squire Sanders, with the debtor's advisors,6

primarily Blackstone on the financial side, Batchelder7

initially and Weil Gotshal, together with the Togut firm.  8

There was a sense of cooperation unparalleled that9

resulted in maximizing jobs, maximizing value and minimizing10

expense, notwithstanding the absolute expense figure, is11

considerable.12

That's what the legacy of this case ought to be, Your13

Honor, from our point of view.  We believe, based on the14

results achieved, that while Gotshal managers could have15

applied for and satisfied the standards for a fee enhancement,16

we did not apply for that for a lot of reasons, one of which17

was the contribution of Steven Forbes Cooper and his group was18

paramount anything anyone else did because as CEO, he went up19

and down with what happened.  A lot of things not really under20

his control even, especially at the outset of this case and the21

results speak for themselves.22

Your Honor has heard the issues -- and I'm not going23

to belabor them at five after six in the evening, Your Honor. 24

We know, whatever this Court does on the individual remaining25
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straggling fee issues, is going to be eminently fair and it's1

not even an issue.  But we wanted to make very clear that what2

was important to us was the way this Court -- the Southern3

District of New York presided over the most complex  case ever4

and got the best results anyone could have anticipated.  Thank5

you.6

THE COURT:  Anyone else?  The committee?7

MR. DESPINS:  Actually, I'm speaking on behalf of8

Milbank here, Your Honor. 9

Very briefly, we decided to accept the Fee10

Committee's recommendation, but we wanted to point out that we11

accept their monetary recommendation, a reduction of fees and12

expenses.13

There was some language in the Fee Committee's report14

about, for example, the fact that Milbank should have been15

coordinated the litigation on mega claims, which of course we16

couldn't because we had a conflict.  We want to make sure that17

the fact that we accepted their recommendation would not be18

read as an endorsement of that comment.  Thank you.19

THE COURT:  Anyone else?20

MR. BIENENSTOCK:  Your Honor, I'll be brief.21

THE COURT:  You can leave your jacket there.22

MR. DESPINS:  Your Honor, to echo by what Dennis23

Connelly here on behalf of the Enron Corp. examiner and Mr.24

Thatson, as well as Alsenberg and the other professionals,25
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Judge, I just want to echo Mr. Despins' comments.  We did not1

have sufficient disagreement with the Fee Committee monetary2

recommendations to justify a response other than, obviously,3

Professor Benstin.  However, certainly we appreciated the Fee4

Committee conclusions with respect to the quality of the work,5

but there were some issues that we are not totally in agreement6

with, but we decided not to burden the Court with any further7

dispute on that and we'd appreciate the opportunity to serve in8

the case.  Thank you, Judge.  9

THE COURT:  All right.  Having heard that statement10

twice, I did believe -- well, let me put it this way.  I did11

not take anyone's assent to the recommendation as a particular12

concession on the legal issue raised in a context of the Fee13

Committee's recommendation.  I look at it as an economic14

judgment and it rises and falls there.  So although my memory15

is pretty good, I won't use it against you.16

Anyone else?  So the Creditor's Committee then -- Mr.17

Despins, do you want to speak on behalf of the Creditor's18

Committee and the 330 applications in general?19

MR. DESPINS:  Sure, Your Honor.  Your Honor, the20

Creditor's Committee recognizes that the amount of fees and21

expenses for professional in these cases are very substantial. 22

But we wanted to make sure people consider them in the context23

of these case.24

The first point is that this was an often highly25
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contentious case in that, in fact there were many cases within1

the case in the sense that ENA itself could have been a debtor,2

one of the largest filings ever on it's own.  There were other3

issues that made this case very, very different than any other4

cases we've dealt with.5

In addition to that, the high level of activity in6

the cases resulted from a lot of factors that were outside of7

many parties' control.  For example, the numerous governmental8

investigations that needed to be dealt with, really are not9

present in most cases and that explains a lot of the fees in10

this case.11

In addition to that, the U.S. Trustee appointed an12

employee committee.  The Court directed the appointment of the13

Enron Corp. examiner as part of a settlement with numerous14

parties and the Court [inaudible] appointed the ENA examiner.15

All of these factors -- and I also -- I would say16

that the Court approved the retention of counsel for individual17

Enron employees.  All of these factors taken together, the18

facts that I just listed you know, reflect probably $13519

million in fees in this case.20

So considering all of that, although the committee is21

not ecstatic about the amount of fees in this case, the22

committee is satisfied that those fees are acceptable.23

The Court early on recognized the need to have a24

process to deal with fees and appointed the Fee Committee and,25
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frankly, that's a system that we chose and we chose to live by1

that.  And the Creditor's Committee has reviewed the -- the2

recommendations of the Fee Committee and agrees with those3

recommendations in terms of monetary recommendations for all4

the professionals.  I'm saying this on behalf of the committee5

and not on behalf of Milbank or any other professionals to my -6

- with my apologies for my colleagues in the Bankruptcy Bar,7

the Creditors Committee opposes any objections that are raised8

to the Fee Committee's recommendation and I think it's9

important that the Court understands why.10

I think, Your Honor, the way the committee looks at11

this is that this is beyond the merits of various adjustments. 12

We adopted a system, which was the Fee Committee system and we13

agreed to live by it and we have to take the good with the bad. 14

To use a sports analogy, you know, if we have a referee, we15

don't like all the referee's calls, but we have to live with16

them.  And that is why we believe that all monetary17

recommendations of the Fee Committee should be adopted and18

that, you know, we cannot lose site of the fact that there's19

probably $700 million or so in fees that are going to be paid20

in this case.  21

Although it is possible that the Fee Committee may22

have erred on some issues -- we're not saying that's the case -23

- but that's part of the process and it's not fair for firms to24

say I'll take all the positive recommendations, but please25
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allow me to challenge all the others.  We have to take the good1

with the bad and that is why the Creditor's Committee believes2

that the Court should uphold, absent some manifest error, like3

an error in calculation or something like that, the Creditor's4

Committee would like the Court to uphold the Fee Committee's5

recommendation.  And I'm saying this, knowing full well that6

the professionals for the Creditor's Committee are probably7

statistically more hardly hit by the recommendations of the Fee8

Committee.  You know, I don't have to give examples, but we all9

know that some of the professionals on the Creditor's Committee10

side are being asked to forego millions of dollars in fees.11

Therefore, our view is that there should be an12

extremely high burden for an applicant to have the Fee13

Committee's recommendations overruled.  If people are concerned14

about the presidential effects of such a ruling, I think they15

can take -- they can use Mr. Butler's pleading of the file -- I16

guess a few days ago that basically said this is a sewer17

generous case and nothing I'm agreeing to in this case will buy18

me another case and I think that's fine. 19

But in terms of the monetary recommendation, Your20

Honor, I emphasize that, as opposed to the editorial comments21

of the Fee Committee, the Creditor's Committee endorses those22

and hopes that the Court will enforce them.  Thank you.  23

THE COURT:  Anyone else?  Mr. Brown?24

MR. BROWN:  Thank you, Your Honor.  With respect to25
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the aggregate amount of fees and the distributions to date,1

it's actually unfortunate that you're having this hearing at2

this point.3

The case is not as far along in advance in terms of4

distribution as we expected it might be when you set this5

process for this time.  6

THE COURT:  Why is that?7

MR. BROWN:  Because the distributions to date total8

slightly more than $1 billion according to the testimony and9

the professional fees and expenses come to more than three10

quarters of $1 billion.11

THE COURT:  Well, I guess --12

MR. BROWN:  When you --13

THE COURT:  One second, Mr. Brown.  I think we have14

to, at least in my prospective, make the record clear.  The15

distributions from a practical standpoint, have been made to16

the extent that could be made taking into consideration17

reserves.  I mean as to beginning, they don't end of all of18

this.  The issue about reserves more lies with me than anyone19

else.  If I could make decisions faster than I make them,20

distributions will occur soon.  So at the end of the day, if21

distributions are delayed, it probably falls more on my22

shoulder than anyone in this courtroom.23

MR. BROWN:  Your Honor, the point is that one in the24

civilian press and in the popular literature will look at how25
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much has been given to creditors on their claims at the same1

that three quarters of $1 billion or more in fees is given to2

case professionals.3

THE COURT:  That's only if they choose to remain4

ignorant of the facts and I cannot combat ignorance.5

MR. BROWN:  Your Honor, the second proposition is6

that you will need to explain to the general public why the7

code -- while the code sections that required disinterested8

zealous representation of an estate, do not apply to this case. 9

And however you decide will be debated, critiqued, written10

about for generations to come because this case will be a lead11

case on how multi-debtor conflicted cases can be handled by a12

single set of lawyers.  A lawyer has a duty of zeal and a duty13

of loyalty and his loyalty is to his client and is patent that14

the client of Weil Gotshal was an amalgam of all estates and15

not the specific interest of any of the estates.  They took the16

position, as you recognize earlier -- a few months ago -- that17

they took the position of neutrality with respect and18

transparency with respect to which estate had the asset.  But19

it was an ENA asset, Enron Canada, makes a difference to20

creditors of ENA and they were entitled to zealous21

representation to the income that that generated.22

Similarly, whether Enron owned Enron Canada made a23

distributional difference to the creditors of Enron and they24

were entitled to zealous representation, that that asset25
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belonged in Enron.  They didn't get it because the parties were1

being represented by a single entity forcing a compromise.  We2

don't say that the compromise was bad.  We are forced by the3

order of confirmation to accept it.  We have objected to the4

process and to the lack of independence by counsel.  The only5

place we get to raise that issue because a compromise can be6

less than arm's length as long as it appears reasonable, is7

here at the Fee Ap hearing because 327 and 328 require --8

specifically 328C -- that he not hold or represent an interest9

adverse to the interest of the estate with respect to the10

matter on which such professional person is employed.  That's11

328D.  12

Weil Gotshal was employed to deal with how to resolve13

and move the assets among the estates, as was Cooper.  But they14

were not employed as philosopher kings, they were not15

authorized to abdicate the role for which they had been hired16

which was lawyer.  Now, lawyer is a zealous advocate for his17

client's interest.18

We've cited you to case from the Supreme Court, make19

it patent that an attorney may not simultaneously represent20

adverse interest where both sides of actual or probable21

litigation and Courts may deny employment -- deny compensation22

to ensure the duties of loyalty.23

THE COURT:  How would this have been solved in your24

view?25
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MR. BROWN:  Your Honor, there was conflict counsel1

available throughout, to represent one of the estates.2

THE COURT:  Which one should I choose to have it3

represent?4

MR. BROWN:  Well, Your Honor, you could have engaged5

a second firm of conflict counsel for the estate you choose --6

didn't choose target for.7

THE COURT:  So in your view there are only two8

estates in conflict.9

MR. BROWN:  In our view, the evidence that you've10

heard shows the four transactions that were described, which11

estate held the asset made a difference to creditors and those12

are the ENA and Enron case.  There may have been others.  But -13

-14

THE COURT:  Wouldn't there be a conflict with every15

inter company under the presumption of insolvency with 180 or16

so debtors, if you presume that they're all insiders, presume17

they're all insolvent within a year?  Don't you really end up18

with 180 different conflicts?19

MR. BROWN:  Possibly, Your Honor, but not20

necessarily.  I haven't been able to walk my way through the21

triangles to see whether all of the issues made a difference. 22

THE COURT:  Well, you said --23

MR. BROWN:  But I do know that these four do.24

THE COURT:  Mr. Brown, you just said potential25
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conflict.  Don't you have then a potential conflict with every1

single one of these entities?2

MR. BROWN:  Perhaps you do, Your Honor.  The problem3

is --4

THE COURT:  So your solution is really at -- to a5

great extent possible, but extraordinarily financially6

burdensome.7

MR. BROWN:  Maybe not.  Some of those potential8

conflicts can be examined in the question of cost versus9

benefit decided, but --10

THE COURT:  But who are they going to be examining or11

by whom?12

MR. BROWN:  By someone independent representing the13

estate at issue.14

THE COURT:  So I end up with 180 independent15

representatives.16

MR. BROWN:  Your Honor, the problem is not of your17

making, but of Congress'.  Congress didn't give you a big case,18

multi-debtor, interrelated exemption for cases of this nature19

as they did in husband and wife cases or primary issue cases.20

They told you it represents an estate, singular.  There has21

been no merger of Enron with it's subsidiaries or nor was there22

an order of substantive consolidation which would have been a23

bankruptcy equivalent, although extra judicial.  Extra code.24

THE COURT:  I call your attention though, in your25
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objection you had a footnote and the footnote, if I recall it1

correctly, juxtaposed conflicts counsel for the Creditor's2

Committee with conflict situation that you allege exists with3

respect to debtor's counsel and, if I understood it correctly4

and I'm not sure I did, you were saying they did it right, the5

Creditor's Committee and the debtor didn't do it right.6

MR. BROWN:  No, what I said is that you deemed that7

significant when you were dealing with the question, whether8

Milbank could represent the committee.9

THE COURT:  Well, how then did Milbank represent the10

committee, vis-a-vis, all these 180 or so debtors if there11

wasn't the very same issue confronting Weil Gotshal and how did12

conflict's counsel for the committee address that issue, if at13

all?14

MR. BROWN:  Your Honor, you wrote the opinion.  I15

don't have to say that I agreed with your logical conclusion.16

What I will say is that we've requested multiple committees to17

deal with the issue and that was steadfastly refused.  18

THE COURT:  It was only refused once.  All right? 19

And it went up on appeal and it was affirmed.  Whether I was20

right or I was wrong, it's the law of the case at this point.21

MR. BROWN:  Yes, sir.22

THE COURT:  All right?  So then --23

MR. BROWN:  And whether --24

THE COURT:  So why not object to Milbank's fees under25
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the same theories?  They had a client who argued to the Court1

that they could represent all these debtors and not be in2

conflict.  And I said you can and you understandably -- I3

understand your position -- say I was wrong and I should have4

been reversed.  Now, if that's so you juxtaposed that with Weil5

Gotshal, everybody is in the same boat.  So we might as well6

object to everybody's fees that had anything to do with more7

than one debtor because you're all in this situation so we end8

up with 180 creditors committing and 180 debtors represented by9

360 different counsel.  Then under your argument, I say that's10

what Congress mandates.11

MR. BROWN:  Your Honor, with respect to the12

Creditor's Committee, my answer is very narrow and succinct.  I13

was not so instructed by my clients.  Whether the logic would14

suggest that an objection on the same grounds had been filed or15

not, is open to discussion.  The question, however, is one of16

whether Weil Gotshal had active representation of estates in17

conflict that was then solved by the entry in July of '04 of a18

confirmation order approving a compromise between the estates. 19

If there were no conflict among the estates, there was no need20

for a global compromise.  If there were no potential litigation21

between the estates for recovery of preference or fraudulent22

transfer, there was no need for a tolling agreement.23

We simply have a situation.  Congress didn't write a24

statute to permit what has transpired and it's not a question25
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of hiding behind the log.  We have told parties and object in1

papers filed both in connection with the appeal where it really2

wasn't right, but was meant to show the questions and concerns.3

THE COURT:  But it doesn't change the outcome meaning4

the appeal.  What I don't understand is why you didn't -- and5

it may not in your view impact the validity of your legal6

argument tonight, but why not move to disqualify all these7

counsel?  I mean it's not -- when you moved for another counsel8

or separate counsel, by definition you were arguing that9

debtor's counsel was in conflict and if they're in conflict, as10

a practical matter, they really can't represent either one as11

opposed to one versus the other.12

MR. BROWN:  Your Honor --13

THE COURT:  So why do you wait three years to say oh,14

by the way, you really shouldn't have been representing more15

than one debtor and you should have been disqualified?16

MR. BROWN:  Your Honor, we filed an objection, a17

request to require special counsel -- separate counsel -- for18

ENA, due to the involuntary loans and sweeps of assets from ENA19

to Enron in the Cash Management System.  That is the kind of20

conflict that you said could exist under 327C and which permits21

representation because of the party's employment for22

representation of the creditor.  Unless there is an objection23

and the Court, after a hearing disapproves the employment if24

there is an actual conflict of interest.  What you did in the25
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separate counsel matter and in the appointment of the examiner1

in dealing with the Cash Management System, was to effectively2

say okay, it's an apparent, but not real conflict.3

THE COURT:  Isn't 327C talking about your ability to4

be debtor's counsel in one situation and represent a creditor5

in an unrelated matter?  I mean you're not saying 327C stands6

for the proposition that you can represent a creditor in that7

case?8

MR. BROWN:  I have seen it stretched to that.9

THE COURT:  And you're saying I did that?10

MR. BROWN:  Well, Your Honor, you've permitted the11

representation of -- by Weil Gotshal of Enron while it was the12

account debtor for the cash sweeps and the representation of13

ENA, while it was the account lender with respect to the cash14

sweeps. So I presume that is what you intended to be doing.  15

THE COURT:  I didn't cite a 327C, did I?16

MR. BROWN:  No, sir.17

THE COURT:  All right.  18

MR. BROWN:  But the -- what you said with respect to19

our motion was that we hadn't produced any new information.  We20

took the debtor's word, we took Weil Gotshal's word through the21

April hearing that there was no new information, that there22

were -- the interest of the estates were aligned and that Mr.23

Rosen, as he said in his affidavit, was not aware of any24

conflict between the estates.  The actual words of his25
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affidavit, and I hesitate to quote, but here it is:  "Certain1

inter-relationships exist among the debtors.  Nevertheless, the2

debtors have advised WG&M that the debtor's relationships to3

each other do not pose any conflict of interest because of the4

general unity of interest among the debtors.  Insofar as I have5

been able ascertain, I know of no conflict of interest that6

would preclude WG&M's joint representation of the debtors in7

these cases.  That's the state of the record through at least8

June of 2002.  9

Now, Ms. Gray made a comment that the first months of10

this case were chaotic. I believe here.  I think they were11

chaotic through the point where I don't tax Weil Gotshal with12

knowledge of the actual conflicts until Mr. Bingham tells us13

when he was aware, or shortly thereafter.14

THE COURT:  But I don't know whether you were15

involved in the case during the motion for a separate16

committee -- the hearing on a separate committee,17

disqualification of creditor's committee counsel.  And there it18

was made very clear, for example, the CLN note holder issue,19

there was serious concern raised with respect to the actions by20

Enron Corp to burden the ENA Estate with the CLN notes. 21

So it's been apparent since earlier on in this case22

of the intercompany issue.  So I'm not -- it's just not clear23

to me at all as to what new information has really been24

provided.  And if anything, that new information that flowed25
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from the Weil Gotshal memo about substance consolidation,1

unless I was missing a lot of things that were going on in2

front of me, seemed to be the opposite recommendation that was3

anticipated about whether E&A occurs.4

MR. BROWN:  Your Honor, the -- I can't comment about5

the CLN note holder's litigation or any of those matters.  I6

didn't participate in them.  I can only comment on the record7

that is before you at this hearing.  And with respect to the8

way the code is written, there is a problem with allowance of9

fees during a period when there was an actual or potential10

conflict, unless you are to rule that there was no conflict.  I11

don't know the way around it. 12

Now, we said in our moving papers we don't think it13

has to be all or nothing.  We think conflicts can be cured, but14

we can't help the way the code was written.  If you are going15

to take a position that the code doesn't mean what it says, I'm16

sure you will have substantial grounds for it and we will take17

a hard look at what you have to say.  But the case -- case law18

is clear that, even those few cases in the Second Circuit where19

they've allowed an inter company claim to be -- not to be20

grounds for disqualification, they've been diminimous.  They21

haven't been $8 billion of debt between the two estates and22

they haven't been $2 or $3 billion of assets fraudulently23

transferred on the eve of bankruptcy and there haven't been24

cases where there's been an abdication by management of whether25
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subordinated debt instruments favor a class of creditors, Enron1

North America or an abdication of advocacy as to which estate2

should have assets located within it that impacts on the3

distribution, even under this plan of a creditor in ENA or4

Enron.  It's just not a situation of our creating, it's not one5

we enjoy.  It's one we, and hope not, ever to have to bring. 6

Not because -- and I say it most earnestly, we do not think7

that Weil did a bad job at all.  We think the issue of how the8

case was resolved might have been different with independent9

counsel, but it might not have been.  It is the process under10

this code which creates the problem.  And you don't,11

unfortunately, get to write a code for a big case.12

Your Honor has been very lenient and tolerant of our13

arguments.  It has been a pleasure appearing in this Court,14

notwithstanding the heat and I thank you for your attention.15

THE COURT:  The heat is attributable to GSA.16

MR. BROWN:  I want to ask whether there's any truth17

to the rumor that GSA has an interest in a dry cleaning firm.18

THE COURT:  Mr. Bienenstock?19

MR. BIENENSTOCK:  Thank you, Your Honor.  Your Honor,20

there was testimony at the confirmation hearing based on -- and21

findings -- based on the analysis performed by Mr. Steven22

Cooper.  I'm not sure I remember the exact words, but I think23

the catch phrase Mr. Cooper used was tell us a story and it was24

really a word, apple sauce and I think everyone in this25
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courtroom who heard that, knows exactly what I'm talking about. 1

It was posited to Mr. Cooper at confirmation.  So, what would2

happen if the global compromise is not approved and instead3

each debtor has separate counsel and goes their own ways?  And4

Mr. Cooper testified, based on his being CEO of Enron and his5

long experience known to virtually everyone in the insolvency6

and reorganization field about the parade of horribles which,7

so is not to belabor the record at 6:35, Your Honor.  I'll just8

say his phrase, apple sauce sums it all up and at least he9

should get the award for euphemism of the year.10

This note -- I'm reminded, Your Honor, that Mr.11

Bingham actually said the same thing today.  12

MR. BROWN:  He didn't say apple sauce. 13

MR. BIENENSTOCK:  Your Honor, we could have, in this14

case, squared off with 177 or 180 different law firms for the15

different debtors and I don't think any reasonable people in16

this courtroom could content that that's what Congress or any17

higher Court would have wanted us to do because, bottom line,18

creditors would get less and they would get it later.19

This Court, from the outset of the case, created a20

system to take into account every potential disadvantage that21

any party in interest could have and probably the best example,22

especially in respect of the issues Mr. Brown is raising, are23

the ENA examiner.  He was not simply an ENA examiner, but his24

role and his powers were incrementally increased through the25
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case so that ultimately he was really an advocate for the ENA1

creditors.  That was in contrast to every other estate that had2

to have a set of professionals that took all their interest3

into account and as far as we know, the creditors are extremely4

happy, both for the brevity of such a large complicated case5

and for the actual return that's coming out of it.6

The problem also with what Upstream is doing is that7

it's trying to re-litigate in the context of a fee application,8

an issue that it lost a long time ago.  It did not have Weil9

Gotshal or any of the debtor's other professionals10

disqualified.  It did not content that any actions were ultra11

virus.  This Court's orders approving the retention of our firm12

have never even been challenged by Upstream and it hasn't13

challenged, to my knowledge, the retention of any other firm14

for the debtors.  Yet, at the time of the final fee15

application, apparently Upstream feels now is the time in a16

case that lasted two and a half years, now is the time to say17

that the objections it didn't raise almost three and a half18

years ago, it would like to raise now at the time of the final19

fee hearing.20

Your Honor, it's conduct speaks for itself.  It's21

estopped, there is res judicata, there is collateral estoppel. 22

There are any number of reasons why it's ploy today to try to23

take a shot at some professional fees so that maybe we will24

turn around and allow Upstream, Mr. Brown's client, to have a25
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secured claim when it should only have an unsecured claim, will1

occur.  I can say on the record and every professional in this2

courtroom would agree, that will never occur.  3

Upstream put on no evidence showing that the global4

compromise should not have been approved.  It put on no5

evidence showing that our retention should not have been6

approved, it put on no evidence in an application to have our7

retention terminated.  It has instead come today to talk about8

this concept that every single debtor should have had separate9

attorneys, a concept that would have elongated the case and,10

based on the testimony of Steve Cooper at the confirmation11

hearing, would have resulted in a lower return especially in12

the cases of ENA and Enron, ENA being the case that Upstream13

should be concerned with.14

Your Honor, the objection by Upstream is obviously15

not well taken by us but for reasons of res judicata for being16

about four years late by being estopped by this Court and the17

Appellate Court's rulings on the Milbank application and being18

estopped by this Court's approvals of our retention19

application, as well as the other debtor's attorney's retention20

application.21

The bottom line is that Upstream, along with all the22

other creditors of ENA, are getting the best possible -- the23

maximized return because of how this case was organized by the24

Court and the United States Trustee and to date Upstream has25
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put on no evidence and no reasoning to indicate that what1

they're asking for would have increased their return in any2

way.  3

Why didn't they -- why didn't Mr. Brown come here4

today and show the Court how his client would get more money if5

we had organized the case with a separate debtor's attorney if,6

instead of the cash management system that we worked out, if7

ENA had gone it's own way and had to buy services from the8

other Enron debtors to support it's various operations?  Why9

didn't he come and tell the whole story?  Because if this Court10

were to do now, or if it had done at the beginning what Mr.11

Brown is saying the Court should do now, his clients would all12

be worse off.  Your Honor, if his client is as secured as it13

purports to be, then it has no interest and no standing in this14

issue.  So the debtor takes all of Upstream's presentation at15

this hearing as Upstream's admission that it's not secured and16

it should be treated as a simple unsecured creditor and that17

will be part of the record of this case.18

Finally, Your Honor, off point, but I do want to19

apologize earlier when I was mentioning in connection with my20

last statement at the podium, the different law firms for whom21

Enron is grateful and achieved the result, etc., I left out22

Skadden and I shouldn't have and I just want to apologize for23

that.24

Unless the Court has any questions, that's all we25
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have to say about Mr. Brown's attack.1

THE COURT:  No.  Mr. Brown?  2

MR. BROWN:  First let me say that Upstream does not,3

by this presentation, admit in the slightest that it's -- that4

the Upstream agent claim is not fully secured.  Upstream agent5

is a party in interest and that is all the standing that is6

ever necessary under the code, whether you secure it or7

unsecure it.8

Judge, the problem with Mr. Bienenstock's approach is9

where the burden of proof is in a party seeking fees from a10

bankruptcy estate.  The burden is not on the objector.  The11

burden is always on a party asking for fees to show his12

entitlement and the propriety of the amount.  It's not on the13

objector.  And the code makes it clear that the parties seeking14

fees must have retained itself -- kept itself in a position to15

be entitled to fees throughout the period of it's engagement. 16

The penalty can be disallowance, or even in extreme case,17

discordial.  That's the Second Circuit law and I -- in a case18

called Futuronics and the Second Circuit law in the Arland19

Department Stores case, that's not something we made up, it's20

not something new.  It's old settled law. 21

In fact, in the Agricam case in the Second Circuit22

back in '99, the Court -- Second Circuit made it clear that23

you, Your Honor, as the Bankruptcy Judge, need to make these24

decisions based on a factual record and it's incumbent on the25
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lawyer who seeks the retention or thinks there may be a1

conflict, to bring it to your attention, tee up the question,2

give you the facts and get a ruling.  The record here shows3

they didn't change their affidavit to disclose what the knew4

about the inter estate conflicts.  And without such a record,5

they're stuck.6

There was reference in the prior argument to a sense7

of estoppel.  We waited too long and that we didn't bring up8

evidence to show -- to attack the global compromise.  Your9

Honor would not have tolerated and I hear Mr. Rosen's objection10

to it and we attempted to raise as evidentiary points those11

matters again today.  We've accepted that you approved a global12

compromise and we said to you that serves as an end gate of the13

conflict between the estates.  14

But it doesn't answer the problem from the time the15

conflict was actually recognized, not theoretically recognized,16

but actually recognized, to that time.  And under the New York17

BAR standards they were obliged to come in and tell you and get18

your permission.  Because had they gotten that permission, we19

would have a different set of orders.  They might have been20

litigated at that time.  But in the absence of the order and21

disclosure of the conflict, we don't see how you can permit22

full compensation.23

We said in conclusion of our papers that it's not a24

happy event.  We're not looking for complete disallowance of25
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fee.  We suggested to you that it might be appropriate to1

remand to the Fee Committee some elements of the application to2

take a look at what elements of conflict could be identified.3

We stand by our moving papers and our presentation,4

Your Honor, and it's not with any joy and it's not a litigation5

strategy --6

THE COURT:  Mr. Brown, on top of my desk is a7

transcript from August 10 that I can read into the record and8

it is abundantly clear based on your statements -- and it could9

be August 14 and I think I have August 10 -- that you made it10

clear to this Court that you wanted mediation to occur to11

attempt to resolve your issues with the estate prior to the12

deadline of having to file any objection to fees of Mr. Cooper13

or Weil Gotshal.14

Now, did you say that you wouldn't do it?  Had you15

reached an amicable result?  No.  But that transcript read in16

context was very, very clear as to why you are here today and17

you have a right to be here and I have provided you the ability18

to articulate your position and exercise your client's rights. 19

But don't engage in revisionist history with me.20

MR. BROWN:  Thank you, Your Honor.21

THE COURT:  You're welcome.  Does anyone else wish to22

be heard?23

All right.  With the 330 applications, I think the24

record is very -- I think clear is an understatement, I think25
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as for the reason -- overall reasonableness of the fees.  I1

think there were probably different courses of action this2

Court could have taken.  The treatment early on to follow 3

and many of those facts, the creditor interest to where they4

thought this case should go.  I think it was clear in January5

or probably late December of '01 and January of '02 that this6

really was going to be ultimately a creditor case.  It was sad,7

as in many tragedies associated with Enron, that equity would8

be out of the money.  It was tragic that many of the equity9

holder's lives were altered so dramatically by Enron's fall. 10

But at the end of the day this was run by the creditors.11

I asked Mr. Cooper the involvement of the Creditor's12

Committee for a very good reason in his selection.  Because I13

think that balance between the Creditor's Committee and the14

debtor eliminated certain battles that I think would have been15

ultimately detrimental because I don't think there would have16

been a simple answer to how many trustees you're in bed with if17

there's a motion for a trustee.  I think, with respect to a18

trustee, you would have had enormous difficulty finding a19

trustee who was disinterested to represent this one estate or20

many estates.  21

So at the end of the day it was Enron, the debtor,22

but behind Enron, the debtor was the will of the creditors.  I23

may have been wrong and certainly parties can differ, but it24

was my intention and now there's another issue to attempt to25
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perverse value and maintain the integrity of this system at the1

same time.  2

Now with respect to the 330 applications, again3

extraordinary complex.  There was a great deal of litigation. 4

I think much of that litigation was not spoiled by individuals5

who take advantage of entities, trying to take advantage of one6

and other.  But I think it was spoiled more by the emotion that7

was involved in this case and a tremendous lack of trust and8

anything that had the name Enron.  That cost a lot of money.9

But did we have to go through the process?  I don't think we10

had much of a choice.  So I did find the record totally11

supports the advocate and their fees.  12

What happens with respect to the particular13

objections is -- I believe it's nine firms.  I will address14

that and I plan to address that by, I believe the date I set15

for this was -- at this point is going to be Tuesday, November16

9, I believe on those outstanding objections with respect to17

the Creditor's Committee.18

Now, with respect to Weil Gotshal, the only objection19

-- but I think they had no objection to me submitting a20

creditor committee, but the objection with respect to the21

conflict, I do not believe that Weil Gotshal had an22

impermissible conflict of interest under the facts and23

circumstances of these case.  I think on three different24

occasions I addressed that issue.  The oversight of the25
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Creditor's Committee and ENA examiner as to, among other1

things, the inter company disputes, addressed any concern of2

the zealous advocacy.3

My recollection at the confirmation hearing was that4

Mr. Cooper made a point and I believe in the findings of fact5

by the Court that I agree with it that he had no particular6

interest in any one estate receiving any asset benefit.  So he7

was able to make those judgments very effectively as a trustee8

would have made those judgments.  And I think his counsel could9

advocate as zealously for one particular estate and turn around10

and may present a counter argument for the other.  I don't11

think there was any root conflict that could not be addressed12

by the vehicles that I just expressed existed in this case.13

So for these reasons and generally for the reasons14

stated, I allow Gotshal and their respondents in dealing with15

various issues of occlusion, etc., the Court will overrule the16

objection of Upstream with respect to any alleged conflict and17

it's alleged impact that they should be on the compensation18

granted to Weil Gotshal -- to be granted.  19

Now, what I think should happen with the 330's is20

Weil Gotshal should prepare a number of orders that reflect21

those applicants whose fees are not in dispute and I have not22

taken under advisement and I'll try to get those docketed as23

soon as possible and then move on.  Hopefully, if I'm able to24

rule by the 29th on the outstanding issues I'm going to make as25
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many, if not all, of those applications by that date.1

All right.  I will take a five-minute recess and then2

I presume we hear argument on Zolfo Cooper's success and then3

move to the 503B's.4

MR. ROSEN:  Your Honor, can those 330 applicants be5

excused at this time?6

THE COURT:  Certainly. 7

MR. ROSEN:  Thank you, Your Honor.8

MR. BIENENSTOCK:  Thank you, Your Honor.9

MR. FERGUS:  Thank you, Your Honor.10

[Off the record]11

THE COURT:  Please be seated.  Mr. Rosen -- I don't12

know if everyone is here.  I assume we begin with the debtors13

or support for Mr. Cooper's application?14

MR. ROSEN:  I think first, Your Honor, we're going to15

start with a statement by Ms. Kardos.16

THE COURT:  All right.17

MR. ROSEN:  Then the debtors will lend a supporting18

hand and to the extent that there are any oppositions.19

MS. KARDOS:  Thank you, Judge.  I'm Beth Kardos, the20

General Counsel of Krall, Zolfo, Cooper and Steven Forbes21

Cooper, LLC.22

The first thing I just wanted to do was incorporate23

into my presentation the comments of Mr. Bienenstock that were24

made earlier, I think approximately six p.m.25
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I think, by any metric that you use, this case was an1

enormous success.  Today you heard the testimony of Steven2

Forbes Cooper, of Scott Winn, Bob Bingham, you saw the3

demonstrative aids.  In addition, the Court has before it the4

motion of Steven Forbes Cooper, LLC for the payment of a5

success fee, a reply that was filed and the affidavit of Mr.6

Cooper, which was admitted into evidence today.7

Mr. Cooper and Steven Forbes Cooper, LLC were8

retained on January 28, 2002 as management to Enron with Mr.9

Cooper acting at interim CEO, CRO and later, as President.  Mr.10

Cooper also is the managing member of Steven Forbes Cooper,11

LLC, the sole purpose of that entity being to hold the Enron12

contract.  I know that Steven Forbes Cooper, LLC is -- and13

Kroll, Zolfo Cooper also used interchangeably, they are in fact14

affiliates and I wanted to make sure that the record was clear15

on that.16

Under the retention agreement between Enron and17

Steven Forbes Cooper, LLC, the firm was paid its regular fees18

based on rates, times, hours and in addition, the retention19

agreement provided that Steven Forbes Cooper, LLC was to be20

paid a success fee subject to Bankruptcy Court approval.21

At all times throughout this engagement, as you heard22

today from Mr. Cooper, Mr. Cooper maintained overall23

responsibility for the matter and for driving the efforts while24

assigning key senior people to manage the different functional25
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areas.1

Mr. Cooper and Steven Forbes Cooper, LLC brought2

leadership where there was total free fall.  In the face of the3

largest corporate scandal in history, Mr. Cooper and Steven4

Forbes Cooper, LLC brought leadership, direction and5

communication.  Within days of being retained in this case Mr.6

Cooper created a management vision.  And with that, the Firm of7

Steven Forbes Cooper, LLC brought to bear the expertise8

necessary to implement his plan.9

This vision included three objectives that you heard10

about today and they were outlined to the Board within the11

first few days of Steven Forbes Cooper, LLC's involvement in12

this case.  They were to maximize value, distribute that value13

and preserve jobs.  14

The first has exceeded these expectations by15

enhancing the value and compressing claims well beyond any16

reasonable creditor expectations, confirming a largely17

consensual plan in two and a half years and having begun this18

distributions and preserving virtually 100 percent of the jobs19

with the exception of corporate and certain residual trading20

organizations.21

Mr. Cooper's vision was laid as follows:  In the area22

of maximizing value, he stabilized the company, he organized23

its resources and he communicated its expectations, its plans24

and results.  25



244

The value maximization was achieved through the six1

buckets that you've heard about today, being core business, non2

core assets, wholesale and retail activities, litigation and3

investigations, Chapter 11 activities and other, including the4

SPE's.5

In the area of distributing value, the claims6

compressing activities, if you recall, the testimony today was7

that the value of claims to be resolved in this case approached8

$1 trillion and making the actual distribution, which are9

ongoing and will continue.  In the area of preserving jobs, you10

heard a lot of testimony about what that strategy was and how11

that was able to preserve nearly 100 percent of the jobs.  As a12

result of all of these efforts, $8.2 billion in incremental13

value has been produced over and above any realistic14

expectations.15

In the direct areas of our fees, we are seeking a16

success fee of $25 million.  That success fee was part of our17

original fee structure from the outset of these cases.  As part18

of our agreement with the committee to gain their support of19

the fee application, the payment of our fee, if it is granted20

by this Court, will be made in four truancies, which will be21

tied to the distribution of value.  That concept was designed22

to insure our ongoing involvement and insure that the company23

would continue in it's ongoing business after our exit on this24

case, which Mr. Cooper testified today would be no later than25
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April 30 of 2006.1

THE COURT:  I'm not clear about when you said part of2

the original structure.  Which original structure are you3

talking about?4

MS. KARDOS:  I'm taking about the structure of the5

payment in four traunches.6

THE COURT:  So that goes back to -- my recollection7

was September of '04.  I don't know if that's accurate, but it8

was around that time when the application I thought was filed?9

MS. KARDOS:  That's correct.10

THE COURT:  You're talking about the agreement with11

the Creditor's Committee at or around that time?12

MS. KARDOS:  That's correct, Your Honor.13

THE COURT:  All right.14

MS. KARDOS:  Lastly, this request compares favorably15

with other large cases where success fees were awarded.  By all16

accounts, this case was a success.  Given where the company was17

situated in late 2001 and early 2002, this case has been an18

enormous success not matter what matrix you look at.  The goals19

were outlined by Steven Cooper and Steven Forbes Cooper, LLC20

and all of the professionals under Mr. Cooper's direction21

worked to meet those goals.  22

The firm should be awarded a success fee for23

outlining those goals and working diligently to meet and24

surpass those expectations and working with Enron and it's25
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professionals to achieve all those goals.1

As to the success fee, as I mentioned, we have a2

filed a motion for allowance.  The demonstrative aids which3

were introduced today, the testimony of Mr. Cooper, Mr. Bingham4

and Mr. Winn, the reply to the objections, together with the5

supplement and the affidavit of Mr. Cooper.6

As to this motion there are -- there were four7

objections which were filed.  Only one of which is being8

pressed today and that is the objection of Upstream.9

I just wanted to take a moment and talk about the10

U.S. Trustee just so that we have a clear record with respect11

to our application today.  As the Court is aware, the U.S.12

Trustee did make, several weeks ago, an informal request of KZC13

and other affiliated firms for certain documents in connection14

with today's fee hearing.  We have been fully cooperating with15

that request and have produced many of the documents that are16

responsive.  We -- in that connection we've actually made one17

fairly large production.  We are gathering the additional18

documents and plan to make an additional production.  I'm19

hopeful that that will be made by early next week.20

With that, I am also very hopeful that that will be21

the totality of the documents that will be responsive and/or22

that we have -- I have discussed with the U.S. Trustee would be23

what they were looking for in terms of the documents that they24

needed to review the issues that they are reviewing.25
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In connection with that informal request, we reached1

an agreement with the U.S. Trustee that their deadline to2

object to our success fee motion would expire 30 days after the3

last production of documents is made.4

So, for all of the reasons that we've set forth, we5

would ask Your Honor to overrule the objections obviously6

subject to the timing issues with the U.S. Trustee and now7

today with Mr. Brown as it relates to that one exhibit to the8

affidavit, to overrule the objections and to approve the9

payment of our fee in accordance with the schedule that we set10

forth and the motion that the creditors have approved.11

THE COURT:  All right.  Mr. Rosen?12

MS. KARDOS:  Thank you, Judge.13

THE COURT:  Thank you.14

MR. ROSEN:  Your Honor, I rise here, essentially15

wearing three separate hats.  First wearing my hat as debtor's16

counsel, second wearing my hat as a member of Weil, Gotshal &17

Manges and third in my individual capacity.  Excuse me.18

THE COURT:  For some reason they work at night.  No19

idea why.20

MR. ROSEN:  With respect to the debtor's Your Honor,21

it is clear from our debtor's perspective that this was an22

agreement that had been reached and supported by Enron's Board23

of Directors.  It was filed -- the request was filed with the24

full support of that Board and from a debtor's perspective, we25
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support the request as it was filed because we can't think of a1

better statement as to what sort of benefits that Kroll, Zolfo2

Cooper and SSC, LLC brought to this matter.  3

Wearing my Weil Gotshal hat, we can certainly say4

that from a legal perspective and working alongside the5

professionals at Kroll, Zolfo, Cooper, that we saw the utmost6

professionalism and with always a drive to get matters done for7

the benefit of all creditors, for all estates and to do it in8

the speediest time possible.9

Wearing my individual hat, Your Honor, I can say that10

it was with great pain and suffering that I was involved in11

working with the Kroll, Zolfo team only because Mr. Cooper and12

his staff demanded that there was always a sense of13

responsibility and I think using Mr. Cooper's words on14

occasion, accountability and explained to me the difference15

between those as to how we had to do this and how we had to do16

it a very quick, speedy manner and that there wouldn't be any17

excuses undertaken or accepted for not getting this done in an18

expeditious time frame.19

We heard the testimony today of Mr. Cooper, Mr. Winn20

and Mr. Bingham about the chaos that was there at the inception21

of these cases.  And wearing all three hats, Your Honor, and my22

three-sided hat here, I can say that Kroll, Zolfo, Cooper and23

Mr. Cooper in particular and SFC, LLC brought a sense of24

reality to these circumstances, a sense of direction and a25
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sense of purpose to getting this matter done as quickly as1

possible and with the right result.2

As Your Honor indicated in connection with the 3303

applications, this was a creditor's case and Kroll, Zolfo,4

Cooper and Mr. Cooper and SFC, LLC were always cognizant of the5

interest of creditors and what was right for creditors.  It was6

with that approach that there was always the open kimono and7

providing information to as many different factions as possible8

in these case.  And it was always with that in mind that Mr.9

Cooper and his staff were willing to consider all perspectives,10

whether it be from the ENA examiner or the Creditor's Committee11

or from some individual factions that were out there in order12

to fashion a plan that would be acceptable and ultimately13

determined to be consensual by every voting class in these14

cases.15

So with that, Your Honor, I rise wearing a three-part16

hat -- or a three-pointed hat and state that we support Mr.17

Cooper, SFC, LLC's application for the fee enhancement as set18

forth in their particular application.19

THE COURT:  The creditors?  Anyone here from the20

Creditor's Committee that wishes to be heard?21

MR. McGINNIS:  Yes, Your Honor.  James McGinnis of22

Milbank, Tweed on behalf of the Creditor's Committee.23

As is discussed here, back when the original24

application was filed in September of 2004, I believe, the25
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Creditor's Committee did vet the fee and reviewed it and1

subject to the changes that were made, that the fee would be2

structured in a way to have Kroll, Zolfo, Cooper's continued3

involvement in the cases that the community did support that. 4

THE COURT:  Thank you.5

MR. McGINNIS:  Thank you.6

THE COURT:  Anyone else in support?  Opposition?  7

MR. BROWN:  Your Honor, in light of some of your8

rulings on the 330 application, I'm going to limit my remarks9

because I anticipate your rulings on those other points would10

be the same.11

The original fee application and fee contract called12

for a success fee in the event of a consensual restructuring of13

a significant point of Enron's business.  That didn't occur.  A14

plan of reorganization that's finally and judicially approved,15

other than a liquidating plan.  That didn't occur either.16

It's said that the fee would be at a floor of $517

million.  That was the contract that was issued and noticed to18

creditors, the January contract. 19

The amended contract that was presented to you and20

was approved by your order of retention, changed the threshold21

conditions to eliminate that there be a consensual non-22

liquidating plan or a consensual non -- excuse me -- consensual23

non-liquidating restructuring or confirmation of a non-24

liquidating plan.  Instead, it just said they have a right to25
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apply under all the facts and circumstances.  Then they1

contracted for what some of those facts and circumstances would2

be. 3

Among other things, the factors included Cooper's4

dedication of himself and SF Cooper, LLC to Enron on short5

notice to the exclusion of other business.  No evidence of any6

other business excluded.7

Second element, comparable fees.  That, I presume is8

what the purpose of what Exhibit 3 is about which I will make a9

statement at the end.  10

Results achieved:  You've heard evidence on the11

results achieved and parties might differ on that.  Value12

maximization and diligent progress and efforts.  My clients do13

not disagree that Mr. Cooper individually worked hard or drove14

others to work hard as well.  Their concern is simply, as it15

might be said in Yiddish, that at some point there has to be16

ruffmunis [phonetic], there has to be some restraint, some17

modesty.  Fees of $107 million paid to date and accruing18

through April 30 at the same rate.  And an additional $2519

million for success, most of which is payable immediately under20

the committee's benchmarks, confirmation and a distribution.21

I return to the notion that as of today when this fee22

will be announced -- or shortly thereafter when it will be23

announced and will be paid in material part, creditors have24

received nominal distributions.  They're promised more, but25
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they haven't seen it.  We suggested to you in our oppositional1

papers that the timing of payment is a factor you can deal2

with.  We also suggested to you that it might be appropriate to3

prune the allocation formula with respect to ENA and that deals4

with the issues of conflict that you've already ruled on.5

But, Your Honor, at some point the notion that one6

should be adequately compensated for serving in Bankruptcy goes7

to the point where it becomes excess and largess.  Working in a8

bankruptcy case should be fairly compensated and was by the9

Loadstar fee negotiated in this case.  The Loadstar fee didn't10

change when the conditions for -- conditional thresholds for a11

success fee changed.  So we have to take, as given, that the12

Loadstar fee was fair and adequate compensation, simply ought13

not be augmented.  Thank you.14

MR. ROSEN:  May I respond?15

THE COURT:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Brown.  You don't16

need to -- well, too late.17

MR. ROSEN:  Your Honor, we're not at -- in a18

proceeding where anything should be decided on word games.  To19

say that this is not a consensual reorganization with billions20

and billions of dollars of accepting creditors, creditors who21

accepted by margins of as much as 95 percent to five or in some22

cases, higher.  For anyone to stand up here and say it wasn't23

consensual because maybe Mr. Brown's client voted no, is a word24

game.  For anyone to say in a case where we saved virtually all25
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the jobs where all those businesses are flourishing as going1

concerns is not as liquidations, to say that it wasn't a going2

concern plan because we sold some pieces as going concerns, is3

a word game.4

Whether you give creditors the stock or you sell the5

stock and give them the cash, the question is whether the6

business survive with it's jobs and it's contribution to the7

economy and all of that happened here to everyone's amazement8

based on the state of facts that these Zolfo Cooper people9

found when they were brought into this situation.10

The second word game that Mr. Brown is playing is his11

word game went something like this:  Mr. Cooper's dedication of12

himself to the exclusion of other matters, no evidence of13

exclusion.  Your Honor, that's a word game.  We know here that14

Mr. Cooper took himself down to Houston and sat in Enron's15

offices day and night, whatever it took, weekdays and weekends. 16

If that's not exclusion -- and what does Mr. Brown think?  That17

he was in Enron's offices working on other cases?  Funny thing,18

we didn't hear about any other cases 'till the end of this19

case.20

Modesty, he talks about.  Your Honor, the problem21

that professionals have and they had it big time in this case,22

was that when people thing you're on a big case and have no23

time to work on anything else, even if you have a little time,24

they don't believe it and that's the -- that's the actual25
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situation that Mr. Cooper found himself in.1

To do this case -- the question, Your Honor, that I2

think the Court is being asked for is was there something3

exceptional about this, because obviously Mr. Cooper and his4

firm were paid at the negotiated rates throughout the case. 5

The exceptional things about this case are that all the6

businesses did survive.  The jobs did survive.  All those7

people are going to have a Christmas this year because their8

jobs did survive.  Whether you talk about the pipelines, the9

expiration companies or virtually anything else in Enron, even10

the trading is coming back to life in the hands we found for it11

in the early stage of the case.12

No one -- no one ever expected that to happen.  No13

one expecting the trading company to survive, which it did.  No14

one expected that the returns in this case would be anywhere15

close to what they are.  No one expected that the claims would16

be cut down as much as they have been and no one expected that17

the biggest, most complicated case in history in the sense18

certainly of complication, if not of total assets -- maybe it19

was second in total assets to WorldCom, but otherwise it was20

first in all categories.  No one expected that it would be21

confirmed in two and a half years with actually Mr. Cooper22

having unveiled the foundation for the plan in less than one23

year.  This was exceptional.24

Finally, Your Honor, when you're in a firm like Mr.25
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Cooper's and the people who made this case successful, with him1

Mr. Winn and others, this was their life.  Everyone associated2

this as their life, even if they, on occasion, had time to do3

something else.  No one's asking anyone to feel sorry for them4

because this was, on the one hand, a great opportunity, a great5

accomplishment and it's what people in our industry strive to6

do.  But on the other hand, they achieved results far in excess7

of what anyone would have expected at the beginning of this8

case.  And to have those tremendous results totally ignored in9

the name of word games, that it wasn't a consensual10

reorganization and it wasn't a going concern plan, is really a11

travesty.12

Your Honor, a moment ago I left out the name of Bob13

Bingham and I shouldn't have and the problem with this case is14

whenever you start naming names, you leave people out, but --15

my partner, Your Honor, shows me that the trading price of the16

debt went from roughly $10 or 10 percent on roughly August 2917

of '02 to near $40 recently.  If that isn't the sign of success18

from the viewpoint of all the economics stake holders, nothing19

is.  20

But more importantly, the 20-plus thousand jobs that21

were saved, the businesses that were saved in the energy22

industry, the entire reorganization, which was global, is23

something no one at the beginning of this case could have said24

was in the cards.  What was in the cards was a very unfortunate25
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melt down which all had to be turned around virtually1

immediately.  No one could have expected and no one did expect2

this result.  It was a tremendous result.  There was just3

nothing -- nothing else one can say about it.4

The 20 or 25 percent fee request that they're making5

is from the point of view of the billions of stake holders who6

are getting billions of dollars more for the $25 million7

they're asking for.  It comes down to one thing, Your Honor. 8

Does a result of this magnitude, should it be encouraged so9

that people will do it in another case?  And I think the answer10

is it has to be encouraged.  Thank you.11

THE COURT:  Anything further?12

MS. GRAY:  Judge, if I just --13

MR. BROWN:  Your Honor, I meant to say something14

about this exhibit, the restructuring success fee analysis. 15

You gave me an opportunity to 12:15 because of the surprise. 16

I'll let you consider it for whatever weight you want to17

consider it.18

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.  Go ahead.19

MS. KARDOS:  Judge, I just wanted to add to what Mr.20

Bienenstock just said.  Two things.  I'm not going to, at this21

late hour, go through line by line all of the -- our responses22

to the objections that were just raised by Mr. Brown are23

contained in our reply and in the affidavit that were submitted24

to this Court.25
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I just also wanted to clarify one thing that Mr.1

Brown said.  He talked, or intimated that fees would continue2

at the run rate that they have been going.  I don't even really3

know what that means.  Because clearly, as has been the record4

in this case and the testimony today, we have been winding off5

of this case for some time.  That continued taking staff away6

from Enron and deploying them other places will continue7

pursuant to a transition plan that we have worked out with the8

board.  So I’m not really sure what Mr. Brown was alluding to,9

but to indicate that the fees will continue at this same rate,10

again, I don’t know to what, is clearly not the case here.11

Thank you.12

THE COURT:  Anything further?  All right.13

With respect to the issue raised by Mr. Brown as to14

the conflict, for the reasons set forth previously and for the15

reasons set forth at confirmation and various other hearings, I16

will overrule that aspect of the objection.  The balance of the17

objection I will address when I ultimately address the total18

success fee issue.19

All right.  Let’s move now to the 503(b)’s.  You want20

a couple -- I’ll take a short break and people can set21

themselves up.22

MR. ROSEN:  Thank you, Your Honor.23

THE COURT:  Go ahead.24

MS. KARDOS:  May Mr. Cooper, Mr. Winn, and Mr.25
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Bingham be excused at this point?  I will continue to stay in1

the event that --2

THE COURT:  Well, you may as well, if you choose to.3

MS. KARDOS:  I’m sorry?4

THE COURT:  You may stay or you may leave.  That’s5

fine.6

MS. KARDOS:  Okay.  Thank you, Judge.7

THE COURT:  All right?  Thank you.8

(Court in recess from 7:33 p.m. to 7:37 p.m.)9

THE COURT:  Please be seated.  I don’t know if the10

ventilation will improve with less people, but we’ll give it a11

try.12

COUNSEL:  We still have some hot air, Your Honor.13

THE COURT:  I avoided it all day.14

(Laughter.)15

MR. ETKIN:  Your Honor, before I -- Michael Etkin on16

behalf of the Dominion entities, one of the three 503(b)17

applicants.18

Before I get into my remarks, Your Honor, I was out19

of the courtroom when Mr. Steinberg had indicated that he had a20

commitment and he had to leave and I think the resolution was21

that since his deposition had been taken, that the transcript22

will be introduced by agreement of the parties.23

THE COURT:  Yes, the transcript will be treated as24

direct and cross and I think I asked Mr. Bennett to confirm25
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that and debtor’s counsel, but I believe that was the1

understanding.2

MR. ETKIN:  As a result of that --3

THE COURT:  One second.4

Mr. Bennett?5

MR. BENNETT:  I was just going to confirm it, Your6

Honor.  David Bennett from the Dunhill Group.  We certainly7

agree that the transcript in its entirety may come into8

evidence and will speak for itself.  I think Mr. Etkin may have9

a suggestion regarding citations to the record that we may want10

to make of that transcript, just to bring it to the Court’s11

attention, those parts that we think are relevant.12

THE COURT:  Mr. Loden?13

MR. LODEN:  Your Honor, I just rose to state that the14

debtors are also in agreement that the transcript itself can be15

admitted into evidence.  I intend, during my remarks today, to16

point the Court to certain sections of the transcript and have17

no problem with Mr. Etkin having a reasonable period of time to18

do the same.19

THE COURT:  Before we even get started, let me get on20

the record my schedule.21

I think, going through the nine outstanding issues22

with respect to 330 will probably, as I said, take me until the23

29th.  Thereafter, the earliest I would probably rule on the24

503(b)s would be December 8th.  If I’m on track to rule on25
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December 8th, obvious, as has been stated many, many times1

before, there’s no need for anyone to appear in court.  I’ll2

just render the ruling, you participate by phone.  You’re more3

than welcome to be present.  I assume it will be colder out, so4

it won’t be hotter in here, as hot in here.5

But putting all that aside, I don’t plan on ruling on6

these tonight so you will have -- if you need more time -- I7

doubt you need more than a week to designate the record.8

MR. ETKIN:  Your Honor, it only relates to the9

transcript since the only thing I’ve seen is a dirty copy and I10

haven’t seen a clean copy of the transcript.11

THE COURT:  All right.  So I think we can keep to12

that, work on a mutual date on which you’ll both make your13

submissions in terms of designating portions of the deposition14

transcript.15

All right.  Go ahead.16

MR. ETKIN:  Thank you, Your Honor.17

Your Honor, the prospect of these substantial18

contribution applications by the three applicants, what was19

introduced early on in this Chapter 11 case, these particular20

substantial contribution motions were obviously anticipated. 21

Frankly, Your Honor, if you go back even to the Court’s ruling22

on the request for the appointment of a separate ENA committee,23

the Court, at Page 28 of that opinion, alluded to the fact that24

it is clear that the movants -- and I’m quoting -- “have25
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impacted the decisions made by the Court, whether their efforts1

resulted in contributions that will ultimately be determined to2

be beneficial or necessary, cannot be determined at this time.”3

Well, we’ve gone a few years later, Your Honor, and I4

believe now is the time and I also believe that there’s a5

fundamental question that the Court must answer in the context6

of this evening’s hearing.  That is that, absent the efforts7

and participation of the applicants, would ENA creditors have8

fared as well in these Chapter 11 cases?  We believe, Your9

Honor, that the answer is no.  We believe that these three10

applicants have made a substantial contributions on behalf of11

ENA creditors generally and that that contribution has enhanced12

the ultimate treatment of ENA creditors generally in this case.13

At the outset of this Chapter 11 proceeding, Your14

Honor, the applicants perceived and, indeed, believed that15

there existed a void in connection with a separate voice from16

ENA creditors, a void that the applicants felt compelled to17

fill.  What’s obvious, Your Honor, is that ENA, on its own, was18

one of the largest Chapter 11 cases to ever file, except for19

(indiscernible), from Enron and the other subsidiaries.20

It had the most available asset value, at least when21

viewing the initial filings in this case.  It was the largest22

generator of cash, essentially feeding Enron and the other23

debtors.  And again, if you looked at the initial filings in24

this case, it was clear that ENA had the most substantial asset25
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value.1

Now equally apparent, Your Honor, from the outset of2

the Chapter 11 cases the debtor pretty much gave the applicants3

the back of its hand and the committee almost viewed our4

participation and the positions that we took as trespassing on5

their turf.  The debtor and the committee staked out those6

positions early and the objections that have been filed to the7

substantial contribution applications are reflective of those8

positions even today.  The fact that we were perceived as9

irritants should perhaps be something that we should mark with10

pride, if nothing else.11

Your Honor, in my remarks I want to focus on what we12

believe are the two watershed events from the standpoint of13

these applications and the standpoint of ENA’s -- the evolving14

treatment of the ENA in these cases.  Mr. Bennett, I know, will15

go into these issues in some more detail.16

First is the cash management motion that was filed17

early in the case and litigated rather heavily, and the second18

is the combination of the expansion of the ENA examiner’s role19

to one of plan facilitator and the establishment of the ENA20

sub-group, which was brought to Your Honor’s attention at the21

hearing of December 10th of ‘02 in the context of one of the22

hearings on exclusivity and the extension of exclusivity.23

With respect to the cash management litigation, in24

viewing in particular the creditor committee objection, I think25
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there’s some revisionist history going on there.  I think the1

record will reflect, Your Honor, that the creditors committee2

did not originally support a modification of the cash3

management order, the proposed cash management order.  The4

committee, in fact, did not offer an amended cash management5

order or a modified cash management order until after the6

objections of the applicants were actually filed.  And that7

proposed order that the committee propped up a couple of days8

prior to the hearing still did not go far enough.  Additional9

revisions were made and provisions added.10

That cash management litigation, Your Honor, led to11

the sua sponte appointment of the ENA examiner in this case and12

if you look at the objections to the 503(b) applications, the13

implication is that the Court’s intention in appointing the ENA14

examiner in the first instance was to shut up the vocal ENA15

creditors.  Well, we don’t propose to get inside the Court’s16

head.  The Court is well aware of its reasons for appointing an17

ENA examiner; however, we prefer to believe that if the18

committee alone was in a position and the Court believed that19

the committee alone was in a position to foster the environment20

for a consensual plan in these very difficult and complicated21

cases, that the ENA examiner would not have been appointed.22

We also prefer to believe, Your Honor, that the23

appointment of the ENA examiner in the first instance -- and as24

the Court ultimately indicated, the Court did hear our voice in25
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this case.  The appointment of the ENA examiner in the first1

instance was a recognition that there was some imbalance in the2

case that needed to be addressed, perhaps not to the extent of3

a separate ENA committee, but some independent fiduciary who4

would operate on behalf of ENA creditors.  Again, Your Honor,5

speculation, I admit, but I think educated speculation.6

Ultimately, Your Honor, and after, I might add, the7

Court approved the expansion of the examiner’s duties to8

include plan facilitation, the Court, in June of ‘02, denied9

the motion for the appointment of a separate ENA committee.10

Now all of the objectors appear to argue that if we11

were committee members we would not be entitled to12

reimbursement of legal fees.  Well, that’s true.  But the fact13

is that a separate committee was not appointed and the fact is14

that Kaye Scholer did not represent particular ENA creditors or15

the ENA creditor body.  Kay Scholer represented the ENA16

examiner.  That was their client.17

The alternative, which is why we’re here today, Your18

Honor, was even foreshadowed by the Court, so the argument19

that, as committee members, we would not be entitled to seek20

reimbursement of our legal fees is really an empty argument. 21

I’ll point to the Court’s own words from the decision denying22

the appointment of a separate ENA committee.  Again, I’m23

quoting, “The only missing component is the movant’s access to24

immediate compensation for their efforts.  Their ability to be25
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compensated has not been foreclosed and the movants may file an1

appropriate application for administrative expense payment for2

substantial contribution to the estate, pursuant to 11 U.S.A.3

Section 503(b) at an appropriate time.”4

Now again, Your Honor, that is not, by any stretch of5

the imagination, even an implication as to what the Court’s6

decision would be on these motions, but clearly it gives some7

indication as to what the Court’s thinking was at the time in8

terms of alternatives available for those ENA creditors who9

wanted to stay involved, were invited to stay involved, and10

became an important part of the plan process by virtue of11

serving on the ENA sub-group.12

Your Honor, this entire period played out in full13

view of the Court and we believe, frankly, that the Court is in14

the best position, from a factual standpoint, to determine the15

merits of the applications through this time frame.  Indeed, we16

cite the U.S. Lyons [Ph.] case in our reply holding that the17

Court’s own firsthand observance of the conduct of the18

applicants is a sufficient basis upon which to award a19

substantial contribution under 503(b).20

The second threshold event, watershed event, Your21

Honor, that I referred to earlier is the formation of the ENA22

sub-group formally back in December of 2002.  If you take a23

look at the transcript from that hearing, Your Honor, even Mr.24

Bienenstock had to admit at the time that it is a useful group25
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for the examiner to have to try to fulfill his plan1

facilitation role.  And that, indeed, is the role that we2

played for the next year plus.  And that, indeed, is the focus3

of the ENA examiner statement filed in support of these4

substantial contribution applications.5

Your Honor, and I think this was testified to earlier6

by Mr. Bingham with the slides that he presented to the Court,7

that the first proposal by the debtor and the committee -- and8

I believe that it was a proposal by the debtor and the9

committee in connection with the plan -- came in February of10

2003.  I don’t believe, Your Honor, that it could be11

controverted that from February of 2003 to confirmation of the12

plan approximately fifteen months later, that the treatment of13

ENA creditors reflected in that initial proposal was far less14

attractive than the treatment ultimately received under the15

confirmed plan.16

Your Honor, I believe the Court should appreciate the17

dynamic that was going on at the time.  While we were not18

consistently at the table with the committee and the debtor,19

each time the examiner met with the committee and the debtor,20

each time there were discussions and negotiations, it was21

followed with a meeting or conference call with the examiner22

and his professionals to go over the status of the23

negotiations, reflect our input, take that input, and continue24

with the negotiations going forward.25
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From our standpoint at the time, the committee and1

the debtor were more often aligned than not in the context of2

those negotiations.  Certainly, the committee was not3

championing the position of the ENA creditors at the time. 4

That was the ENA examiner’s job with our consistent, direct,5

and substantive support and input.6

A word needs to be said, Your Honor, about another7

theme that goes through the objections, and that is that the8

work that we’re seeking reimbursement for under 503(b) was work9

for our individual client’s benefit and work that was10

furthering our own particular agenda.  Your Honor, we tried to11

be very careful in terms of the time records and the12

application that we put before the Court which the Court is13

considering.  We do not and never intended to seek14

reimbursement for any such services and I can tell you, Your15

Honor, that those services for my clients have been significant16

in this case, well beyond what we’re seeking reimbursement for17

for these 503(b) applications.  And those services, yes, were18

services that were for the benefit of my client and could not19

be and should not be considered in the context of this20

application.21

However, the efforts to improve the lot of ENA22

creditors generally, although they certainly enured to our23

client’s benefit, those are the services that are at issue24

here.  Your Honor, we believe that the best evidence of the25
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applicant’s contribution as members of the ENA sub-group is1

that provided by the ENA examiner’s statement and that which2

the Court will see in connection with the deposition of Mr.3

Steinberg, which is being submitted in lieu of his live4

testimony.5

Your Honor, we cite to, again, the U.S. Lyons case in6

our response and I think this particular citation was extremely7

important in the context of these applications.  That is where8

the court in U.S. Lyons indicated that the statement of the9

third party has been found to be determinative in connection10

with the issue of a substantial contribution, a corroborating11

statement by a disinterested party.  The Court has often12

referred to the ENA examiner in this case as a disinterested13

party and his support is clearly and should be a decisive14

factor with respect to these applications.15

I think it’s also important, Your Honor, to take a16

look at the fee committee report that was filed in connection17

with the final compensation of Mr. Golden of Golden &18

Associates, LLP.  There are some telling references in that19

report.  At Page 9, for example, the fee examiner indicates,20

and I’m quoting, “Golden’s work with the ENA creditors appears21

to have played a significant role in reducing the22

contentiousness that had manifested itself in the large number23

of filings by ENA creditors in the early months of the Enron24

case.”25
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The fee committee goes on at Page 10 to say that in1

his second role as ENA plan facilitator, Mr. Golden assembled2

an ad hoc group of ENA creditors to function as a substitute3

for an ENA committee.  He tried to bring the most contentious4

ENA creditors into the process.  I don’t know whether that’s5

intended to be complement or not, Your Honor.6

Originally they worked on a separate ENA plan --7

THE COURT:  I think it was intended to be a8

complement to Mr. Golden.9

MR. ETKIN:  Well, that’s clear.  That’s clear.10

Originally they worked on a separate ENA plan, but11

they modified their strategy and worked on agreement on a12

consensual joint plan.  That is, in fact, what happened, Your13

Honor.  That was the purpose of forming the ENA subgroup in the14

first instance and the ENA subgroup functioned in that capacity15

and according to Mr. Golden and his counsel, who have the best16

vantage point to review those efforts, those efforts made a17

difference in this case in connection with the ultimate18

distribution to ENA creditors.19

Now in the debtor’s supplemental objection, Your20

Honor, an implication is raised that there was some quid pro21

quo for the ENA examiner support.  Nothing could be further22

from the truth.  There was no deal.  There was no quid pro quo. 23

There were no promises.  The support being provided by the ENA24

examiner and his counsel in connection with these applications25
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is because they believe that these applications are appropriate1

on the merits, nothing more and nothing less.2

Your Honor, many of the objections that have been3

filed in the case and in connection with these applications4

deal with issues relating to the amount of the request as5

opposed to the threshold issue of whether these applicants made6

a substantial contribution that deserves some reimbursement7

from the estate.  I believe that, in connection with the8

Court’s original order scheduling these hearings, that the9

Court made it clear that that threshold issue was the subject10

of tonight’s hearing and that the issue of amount will11

hopefully be an issue that’s left for another day.12

And with that, Your Honor, I’ll yield the podium to13

Mr. Bennett.14

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.15

Mr. Bennett.16

MR. BENNETT:  Thank you, Your Honor.17

Again, for the record, David Bennett for the Dunhill18

Group.19

Your Honor, I will, at this later hour, try not to20

repeat Mr. Etkins’s remarks, but hopefully add to them and add21

understanding of why we’re here today.22

A couple of preliminaries that I want the record to23

be clear on, we are advancing three applications to be24

reimbursed under 503(b).  The total amount for which we are25
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applying for today is $1,352,509, Your Honor, that consists of1

the Dunhill Group, $741,770; the Independent Producers Group,2

$260,739; and the Dominion entities, $350,000.3

Your Honor, our record evidence in support of our4

applications today collectively are comprised of three5

different components:6

One, the applications themselves and the exhibits to7

the applications, in particular, our time records, which speak8

for themselves;9

Second, the statement of Mr. Golden and the10

deposition of his counsel, Mr. Steinberg, which the examiner11

statement was filed on November the 7th, as the Court is aware.12

THE COURT:  November 7th, 2003?13

MR. BENNETT:  I’m sorry.  November 7th of this year,14

a week ago or so, Your Honor.  It was a statement in support of15

our applications.16

THE COURT:  Oh, all right.17

MR. BENNETT:  And then, Your Honor, we also filed18

yesterday a request that the Court take judicial notice of19

pleadings and other matters in connection with the bankruptcy20

case.  We think the record of the case speaks for itself.  We21

agree that the Court is in the best position to evaluate our22

efforts and the efforts of our clients in connection with this23

matter, but we did try to select those pleadings and orders and24

statements and ENA examiner reports that we felt were most25
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pertinent to our application so we filed yesterday and are1

asking the Court today to take judicial notice of those2

matters, all of which are matter of the record in this case. 3

I’m not aware that there’s any opposition to any of that.4

MR. LODEN:  Your Honor, if I may, Steve Loden on5

behalf of the reorganized debtors.6

The debtors do not have any objection with respect to7

items on that list that were filed as a matter of public record8

in this case or adversary proceedings related to this case;9

however, the list goes beyond that and, frankly, goes beyond10

the letter agreement that we negotiated with the applicants11

concerning evidence for today’s hearing.  That letter agreement12

said that applicants would only rely upon public -- documents13

found in the public record in support.14

What the list contains, though -- oh, and the letter15

agreement also said they would not rely on any witnesses other16

than Mr. Steinberg.17

What the list contains, though, are deposition18

transcripts that were taken during the cash management19

litigation, deposition transcripts of Tim Despane [Ph.] on20

behalf of the debtors, Jeffrey McMillan [Ph.] on behalf of the21

debtors, and, in fact, one deposition transcript of Exco22

Resources [Ph.] which is, I believe, a member of the Dunhill23

Group, on behalf of the applicants, again, in connection with24

the cash management litigation.25
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So we think that it’s entirely inappropriate for1

those deposition transcripts to be admitted into evidence. 2

We’re certainly willing to stipulate that applicants took those3

depositions in the context of pursuing their objections to the4

cash management proposal that the debtors had made, but they’re5

admitting those deposition transcripts into evidence for the6

truth of the matter asserted therein we believe, Your Honor, is7

inappropriate.  That is the first category of items on the list8

that we do have objections to.9

The second category of items on the list would be10

pleadings from related proceedings, such as the Securities and11

Exchange Commission proceedings and the Newby and the Tittle12

complaints filed in Judge Harmon’s court.  Those complaints,13

again, while they admittedly relate to these proceedings, we do14

not believe that, first of all, applicants were responsible for15

them and there’s no basis of how they are relevant at all, a16

basis shown as to how they are relevant at all to today’s17

proceeding.18

Again, we’ll stipulate that the SEC has commenced19

actions.  We’ll stipulate that Tim Despane was the subject of a20

U.S. Department of Justice criminal action, which is another21

matter that they’ve identified that complaint.  We’ll stipulate22

that all those matters occurred, but again, without an23

evidentiary showing of the basis for why those documents are24

relevant, we do object to their admission.25
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MR. BENNETT:  Your Honor, I am actually looking at1

our filing and I will invite counsel to do so.  Do you have a2

copy of that?  Just take a moment because I think if he looks3

at it I think, if I’m not mistaken, the level of contention4

here will go down considerably.5

MR. ETKIN:  Your Honor, I think if I can just help,6

perhaps.7

THE COURT:  Wait a minute.  We’re going to make this8

more complicated than it needs to be.  If you’re going to help,9

you’re going to have to say who you are so we can attribute the10

help to you.11

MR. ETKIN:  It’s Michael Etkin for the Dominion12

entities.13

What we did in the case pursuant to the letter14

agreement was provide lists to the committee of the reorganized15

debtor of documents that we may look to and consider for16

purposes of the hearing.  Yesterday we filed jointly with the17

Court a request to take judicial notice, which was a list of18

documents but not all-inclusive as to what we originally19

identified to the debtor and the committee pursuant to the20

letter agreement that resolved the discovery disputes, which we21

had to provide to the debtor and the committee by I believe it22

was October 31, so that may be the source of confusion, Your23

Honor.24

MR. BENNETT:  Your Honor, and I’ll just clear it up,25
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there was a difference between a discovery response and what we1

filed last night.  What we filed last night contains references2

only to matters that are in the record of this case.3

We will accept counsel’s stipulation and appreciate4

that.  I think that will facilitate the hearing today, but also5

we point out that none of the matters that are in our request6

for this Court to take judicial notice are outside the record7

of this Court.  I don’t think we refer to any deposition8

transcripts, nor do we reference any litigation outside the9

Enron bankruptcy case.10

MR. LODEN:  Your Honor, I did just briefly look at11

the list that was filed last night and it does eliminate the12

items that I referred to previously, so with that elimination,13

we are fine with the Court taking judicial notice of the14

pleadings that were filed in this case.15

THE COURT:  All right.16

MR. LODEN:  And the transcripts of hearings which are17

also on the list.18

THE COURT:  The transcripts of hearings are on the19

docket, or notice of the transcript is on the docket if the20

transcript itself has not been filed on the docket.21

MR. LODEN:  Correct, Your Honor.22

THE COURT:  All right.23

MR. BENNETT:  So, Your Honor, I did not mean for that24

to become more of an issue than it is.  We again think that the25
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Court, quite frankly, without regard to what we point out, is1

in the best position to evaluate what we did in this case,2

although we also think that the examiner’s statement regarding3

our efforts is also relevant, particularly to the face of the4

case, quite frankly, made up the majority of our efforts, which5

was that which went beyond what we call the litigation phase6

that dominated the early and what has been described as chaotic7

part of this bankruptcy case.8

It is true, Your Honor, that the Dunhill Group, the9

Independent Producers Group, and the Dominion entities, along10

with some other active ENA creditors, waded into the early11

stages of this case that at that time was in a state -- we12

agree with the description of the state of affairs that we all13

have found ourselves in, including the Court, as somewhat14

chaotic.  We were concerned about the separate and distinct ENA15

interest.  We were concerned about we did stake out that16

interest very early on in this case and became the champion of17

the ENA interest.18

I think the record of all of these hearings today19

points out the success that has been achieved and we aren’t20

here to dispute it, that success, and we’re not here to re-21

litigate matters that have long since been compromised or22

otherwise resolved and in some ways I guess it’s unfortunate23

that an application like this requires us to revisit and touch24

on disputes that, were it not for this application, perhaps25
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would long since have been resigned to the history of this1

matter.2

The activist litigation phase for our clients really3

was relatively short, Your Honor.  Yes, we took positions on4

behalf of ENA.  We waded in on a number of disputes very early5

on.  Cash management in particular was a focus for us and we6

did so at a time when there was no separate and distinct ENA7

voice.  We believe that the success a number of parties have8

described and attributed to the ENA examiner was also, in part,9

our success, Your Honor, and we think that the statement of Mr.10

Golden and Mr. Steinberg’s deposition bears out our11

contribution in that regard.12

There really isn’t, if you read the objections and13

our application, a real dispute about what the legal standard14

here today is, Your Honor.  I don’t think any party would15

contend that there is an issue of law that the Court needs to16

decide.  We agree that we must show that there were direct17

benefits to ENA and its creditors from our client’s effort.  We18

agree that we must show that they were significant and19

demonstratively positive and that we did not duplicate our20

efforts.21

Your Honor, the issue of duplication is one that has22

been raised by a number of the objections.  There was so much23

to be done, particularly in the early stage of this case.  The24

fact that there was more than one client group acting in25
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concert for the benefit of the ENA creditors doesn’t deny that1

we did so with an allocation of work that appointed a lead2

counsel on a particular issue, wherein other counsel sought to3

provide support on those issues, but there was plenty of work4

to be done in a very compressed time frame and there wasn’t5

really opportunity, particularly in the early stage of this6

case, for us to duplicate our efforts7

The areas -- the particular areas that we are seeking8

reimbursement are outlined in our application.  I won’t belabor9

those here this evening, but I think the ENA examiner says it10

well in his statement when he says that the ENA sub-group and11

the applicants in particular played an important active role in12

achieving the global compromise.  Their efforts enured to the13

benefit of all ENA creditors and we do thank our clients who,14

quite frankly, represented a relatively small portion of ENA15

creditors in the aggregate, did bear a disproportionate amount16

of the cost for advancing the ENA interest.17

Early in the case, and in particular in connection18

with cash management, we obtained a cash freeze, which was put19

in place prior to our objections.  More than $500 million had20

been swept out of ENA into Enron Corporation.  There were21

budgets, as I recall at the February 2002 hearings, that22

projected as much as $3 billion would be advanced by ENA to23

Enron.  It is true that Enron ultimately was able to repay the24

amount that had been swept up from ENA and that’s a good thing. 25
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But were it not for our efforts, it is certain that those1

advances would have continued.2

One element that was omitted from the original cash3

management structure was an interest rate factor in favor of4

ENA and the other lending debtors.  That interest factor alone,5

by the end of the case, accounted for a benefit in favor of ENA6

that is many times greater than the approximately $1.3 million7

that we’re seeking here today.8

Of course, as the Court is aware, the ENA examiner9

was appointed in part, we believe -- we’re not purporting to10

read the Court’s mind about why it ruled the way it ruled, but11

it is revisionist history to say that the ENA examiner’s12

appointment and the continued expansion of his powers were not13

something that we contributed to, we just did.  It was a part14

of the cash management ruling and his appointment led to the15

representation of the ENA interest and led to, ultimately, a16

global compromise that has been hashed out here today,17

benefitted all the estates including ENA.18

Your Honor, once the ENA examiner was appointed, our19

litigation efforts slowed down considerably.  We fell in line20

at that point, Your Honor.  We became part of the ENA sub-group21

that was organized in December of 2002 to support the ENA22

examiner, to embody his constituency.  There was no official23

committee.  It was necessary for us as creditors, the parties24

that had, as Mr. Golden continually told us, the skin in the25
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game, to be active.1

We took up the mantle, for example, in connection2

with the overhead allocation formula.  We took up the mantle of3

Mr. Golden’s report.  We were the party that advanced his4

report as an objection, objections which were ultimately5

compromised, quite frankly, for the benefit of ENA and all of6

the estates.7

That dispute had its roots in the early stages of8

this proceeding, the cash management fight.  The embodiment of9

the overhead allocation formula or the implementation of the10

overhead allocation formula was something that grew out of,11

again, our cash management efforts.  We believe those early12

efforts in the case were fruit for these estates.13

Yes, there was tension.  Yes, there was discord. 14

Yes, maybe even to this day there is reflected in some of the15

objections some of the hard feelings perhaps that were created16

in the early stages of the case, but we were advocates for our17

clients but we were also advocates for the separate and18

distinct ENA interests that we helped stake out and that we19

helped bring to the attention of this Court, which interests20

would not have been staked out in the same way or as favorably21

for the ENA creditors, we believe, had we not done what we did. 22

We did so for an amount that was, in the grand scheme of this23

case, and given the assets involved and the benefits involved,24

relatively small.25
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Mr. Golden, in his application to define his post-1

effective-date role, I believe in Footnote 14 of that2

application, states that in comparison to the deal that ENA3

would have received had the initial compromise which had the4

support of the debtors and -- I’m sorry, the debtors and the5

official creditors committee, in comparison to the deal that6

was ultimately approved by this Court, the ENA estate and its7

creditors were $1 billion better off; that the shift of value8

that occurred after the initial proposal through the ultimate9

approval of the global compromise consisted of $1 billion in10

additional value.11

Well, Your Honor, we are not here today to take12

credit for all of that.  What we’re here to say, that if it13

weren’t for our efforts early in this case, if it weren’t for14

the appointment of the ENA examiner, and if it weren’t for our15

role as part of the ENA sub-group and the modifications to the16

cash management system that we’ve highlighted, that the ENA17

stake and its creditors would have been -- would not have been18

well off as they ultimately proved to be.19

Your Honor, if you look at the global compromise on20

its face, it benefitted the ENA creditors.  The Court may21

recall, and it’s described starting on Page 33 of the22

disclosure statement, the plan actually projects that ENA23

creditors would receive distributions that were, in the case of24

ENA creditors without guarantees, fifteen percent greater than25
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ENA or Enron creditors, and in the case of ENA creditors with1

guarantees, nearly double that which Enron creditors received. 2

We think we helped create that delta.  We think we did so and3

did so while bearing a disproportionate amount of the cost.  We4

have tried diligently to select those activities that were for5

the common good and having waded into what has been described6

repeatedly today as one of the most complex and largest7

bankruptcy cases in U.S. history, Your Honor, and having become8

a catalyst, in the words of Mr. Steinberg, for the ENA interest9

and its creditors, we believe that our clients deserve -- well,10

that, in fact, our clients made a substantial contribution to11

the ENA bankruptcy case and as that the Court favorably12

consider our application.13

Thank you.14

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Bennett.15

MR. AIREY:  Your Honor, Jonathan Airey from Vorys16

Sater on behalf of the independent producer group.17

I’d like to support and adopt the items outlined by18

my colleagues in connection with the substantial contribution. 19

At this late hour I’d simply like to suggest that it’s a modest20

application for fees for efforts that provided a clear benefit21

to the ENA estate and leave it at that for now.22

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.23

Mr. Loden, before you get up, I think you prematurely24

put on your jacket.  We’ll take -- I’ll take a break until 8:3025
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and I presume we should be near finish by nine o’clock.  Is1

that a fair estimate?2

MR. LODEN:  Certainly, Your Honor, my presentation3

will be concluded by that time.4

MR. BENNETT:  We agree, Your Honor.5

THE COURT:  Then you agree that Mr. Loden will6

conclude by nine o’clock?7

MR. BENNETT:  We agree that we will all be concluded8

by nine o’clock.9

THE COURT:  All right.  Who else will be heard? 10

United States Trustee’s office?11

MS. LEONHARD:  We will be heard very briefly, Your12

Honor.13

MR. MALEK:  And the creditors committee will have a14

brief statement as well.15

THE COURT:  All right.  Well, let’s try and get it16

done by nine, 9:15 the latest.  All right.17

I’ll return in a few minutes.18

(Court in recess from 8:24 p.m. to 8:31 p.m.)19

THE COURT:  Please be seated.  Mr. Loden20

MR. LODEN:  Thank you, Your Honor.  Steve Loden on21

behalf of the reorganized debtors.22

There's no dispute that the applicants were active23

participants early and throughout these cases and there’s no24

dispute that they’ve vigorously pursued their client’s best25
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interest. When I heard counsel speaking about those pursuits1

though and how they brought a benefit to the estate, I was2

reminded of a quote from Judge Bernstein in the Granite3

Partners case where the Court there was faced with a similar4

active group seeking a substantial contribution application and5

the Judge in ruling on that application said that the6

application is not unlike naming a person, losing the ensuing7

lawsuit and then demanding CUDOS for clarifying the law of8

battery.  Your Honor, that’s the debtor’s belief of what9

happened here.  10

The application that we have before the Court, the11

three applications that we have before the Court are virtually12

devoid of any supporting evidence and the evidence that the13

Court has taken judicial notice of and Mr. Steinberg’s14

statement in his deposition and Mr. Goldin’s statement filed,15

still don’t satisfy what is a very high standard, one that’s16

intended to limit awards to only those extraordinary17

circumstances where a creditor’s efforts made one, a direct18

substantial and demonstrative positive impact on the estate. 19

Substantial contribution is not a way to get around a general20

rule that attorneys must look to their clients for payment. 21

It’s not for use when applicant services were duplicative of22

those provided by other court appointed officers and it’s not23

as counsel suggested this morning satisfied by just being an24

irritant in the case.  25
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The fact that Mr. Bienenstock may have said early on1

in the case that the ENA subgroup may be useful still doesn’t2

satisfy that high burden.  Instead, the inquiry is fact3

intensive and it is the applicant’s burden to demonstrate and4

produce evidence to demonstrate that three questions which the5

Court must answer should be answered in the applicant’s favor.6

First, where the activities for which reimbursement7

is sought undertaken for the benefit of the entire estate as8

opposed to the applicant’s own benefit; second, did those9

activities confer an actual substantial and demonstrable10

positive effect on the estate; and third, were those efforts11

duplicative of services provided by other parties.  I believe12

counsel, Mr. Bennett stated this evening that the parties are13

in agreement on that statement and, in fact, that is the14

standard that’s recited in the applicant’s papers.  15

Your Honor, the applicants have failed to adduced16

sufficient evidence to enable the Court to answer those17

questions.  There’s no evidence to allow the Court to review18

each activity for which reimbursement is sought and answer19

those three questions.  Instead, the applicants point to a20

laundry list of objections that they filed, objections to cash21

management, sale of the trading business, CURP motions,22

extending exclusivity and objections to the disclosure23

statement, none of which were granted.  24

They ask the Court to take judicial notice of scores25
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of pleadings filed in these cases but there’s no explanation of1

who those pleadings demonstrate that they have satisfied those2

three questions that the Court must answer in a substantial3

contribution context.  They ask the Court to find effectively4

on blind faith that a substantial contribution was made because5

Mr. Steinberg said so in his deposition and because Mr. Goldin6

says so in his filing with this Court.  7

Mr. Steinberg’s deposition transcript does not help8

the applications at all because the applicants would not agree9

to waive any privileges with respect to their dealings with the10

examiner.  Plus, his entire support of the applications is11

questionable because that support was bargained for years ago12

before the confirmation hearing, before the applications were13

filed.  It was bargained for as a way to resolve one of the14

pending issues in the global compromise negotiations.15

So, Your Honor, to review the evidence that the16

applicants have offered with respect to the activities for17

which they seek compensation.  First, they seek compensation18

for the participation in the cash management litigation.  The19

assertion is that their participation highlighted interests20

specific to the ENA creditors and that it led to termination of21

the cash management sweep, the cash management plan, and22

increased the tension to ENA and eventually to appointment of23

the ENA examiner.  As evidence, they cite to the cash24

management litigation pleadings and the hearing transcripts25
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from those proceedings.  Mr. Steinberg’s statement and Mr.1

Goldin’s statement are not evidence in support of those2

assertions because neither of them were active in these cases. 3

In fact, I checked the docket last night and Mr. Steinberg did4

not appear until March 31, 2002, at docket entry number 2301,5

when he filed an affidavit in support of Mr. Goldin’s request6

to retain Kaye, Scholer.  So neither Mr. Steinberg nor Mr.7

Goldin have personal knowledge of what happened in the cash8

management litigation.9

So the first question the Court must ask, were the10

applicants’ objections to continuation of the cash management11

plan made for the benefit of the entire estate.  Well, when we12

look at the application, or the objections that were filed,13

they were all filed individually and the applicants were paying14

their lawyers to pursue those objections we believe for one15

reason, and that was to insure that there was more money in the16

ENA pot so that their clients could get bigger distributions. 17

Any benefits provided to other creditors were merely18

incidental.19

THE COURT:  I think we have a fundamental issue that20

you may not -- I don’t think you agree with the applicants21

here.  To a great extent I think their argument is they22

benefitted the ENA estate with their efforts and it may have23

had a residual benefit on the whole case, but I don’t think24

that they would disagree with you that their efforts at the25
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cash management was solely to insure whatever value belonged to1

ENA remained at ENA.  So I don’t think -- not to say that --it 2

may sound strange because I don’t think they disagree with you,3

but I think you raise it to counter their argument but I think4

that they would tend to agree with you that their substantial5

contribution application I think is the substantial6

contribution they believe they made to the ENA estate.  So in7

that regard I don’t think they really dispute that their8

motivation was to that estate.  I think your argument that if9

they’re motivation were not to the entire Enron, all the Enron10

estates that they shouldn’t get substantial contribution.  11

Now, you may be right.  I’m not ruling on that, but I12

think the both of you are arguing two different standards in13

effect.  You’re arguing I think it has to be a substantial14

contribution to the estates in general and they're arguing that15

they're entitled to compensation under 503(b) for making a16

substantial contribution to the one estate that they are a17

creditor of.18

MR. LODEN:  I understand the distinction the Court's19

drawing.  My point of referencing that assertion and the20

evidence offered in support of it was to point that -- point21

out that, in fact, under the case law creditors are presumed to22

be acting on their own behalf.  Mr. Steinberg affirmed, at23

least in some instances, where the creditors were objecting to24

extending exclusivity that they were, in fact, acting on their25
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own behalf on behalf of their individual interests as opposed1

to the estate's interest, and when I reference the estate I was2

referring to the estate of Enron North America, not to the3

global Enron 183 debtor estate that's been referred to earlier4

today.5

So, Your Honor, we think that the evidence with6

respect to the objections that were filed, the evidence before7

the Court with respect to those objections demonstrates that8

they were acting on their own personal interests and not on the9

interest of the ENA estate.  Any benefit to the ENA estate was10

merely incidental to their pursuit of their own interest.11

Secondly, did the applicant's cash management12

objections confer a benefit to the ENA estate.  Now, if those13

applications -- if the objections had been granted they would14

have succeeded in separating ENA from the resources that it15

needed to complete the bankruptcy process.  While applicants16

may believe that forcing a Chapter 7 liquidation for ENA would17

have been beneficial, the Court has already found in context of18

the plan confirmation that distributions to ENA creditors were19

greater under the plan as opposed through a liquidation.20

The ENA examiner confirmed in his cash management21

reports that Enron Corp. had enough to repay those loans in22

full.  So if at all the cash management objections should have23

been filed only if the ENA examiner were to report that ENA was24

in danger of not being repaid.  Of course that never happened25
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so there was no benefit in the distracting litigation that was1

commenced early in the case because we know that all of the2

sweeps that occurred prior to the ending of the cash sweep were3

repaid.  Now, counsel can speculate that Enron Corp. may have4

not been able to repay those loans in the future had the sweep5

continued, but that speculation is not evidence to support a6

substantial contribution application.7

Third, did the applicants act alone in objecting to8

continuation of the cash management system, the pre-petition9

cash management system.  Clearly, the answer is no if the Court10

looks at the record.  Applicants were only three of many11

creditors who objected and in fact the statutory committees12

proposed form of order was ultimately entered with13

modifications, not the applicants' proposed form of order. 14

There is no evidence of how the applicants' efforts made an15

impact any different than the objections and the impact of the16

objections of other ENA creditors who I might add are not17

seeking a substantial contribution award.18

So with respect to the cash management litigation,19

the conclusions that the reorganized debtors draw is that the20

only evidence that they've offered to show that there was a21

benefit are the pleadings, none of which were -- excuse me --22

are the cash management objections or the pleadings, none of23

which were filed by the applicants on behalf of the entire24

creditor body -- creditors and many of which were they granted25



291

would have resulted in actually detrimental effects to the ENA1

estate.2

The record indicates that applicants were far from3

below voice objecting to the pre-petition cash management4

system and ultimately it was all one big distraction because5

ENA had sufficient assets to repay ENA in full.  So we would6

submit that there was no substantial contribution by pursuit of7

those cash management objections.8

Now, the applicants also claim responsibility for9

appointment of the ENA examiner and part of that claim for10

responsibility is based upon pursuit of a cash management11

objections.  Again, Mr. Steinberg acknowledges in his12

deposition transcript which has been admitted that it would be13

supposition and presumptuous for him to tell the Court why the14

Court appointed the ENA examiner.  So his testimony is of no15

use in determining whether the ENA -- the applicants made a16

substantial contribution in that regard.17

So the first question the Court needs to ask, were18

the applicants acting on their own behalf or on behalf of all19

ENA creditors when they were so litigious early in the case. 20

The applicants point to their motion seeking appointment of a21

separate ENA Creditors Committee and again all those pleadings22

were filed individually by the applicants, and even those23

pleadings do not show an intent to benefit the entire ENA24

estate.  The pleadings show that they clearly wanted a25
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committee to more forcefully -- to allow them to more1

forcefully argue their cases.  Any benefit to ENA creditors,2

other ENA creditors was incidental.3

Did applicants efforts confer a positive benefit on4

the ENA estate.  As was acknowledged in the applicant's5

presentations, the ENA examiner was appointed sua sponte and6

the courts previously explained its reasoning for appointing7

the ENA examiner and that was in the transcript of the October8

7, 2004 hearing before this Court concerning the post-9

confirmation role of the ENA examiner.  The Court stated10

essentially that the examiner was appointed to alleviate the11

debtor's burdens so they could focus on stabilizing their12

business rather than responding to concerns based upon "deep13

suspicions" about everything debtors did or said or should have14

done.15

As counsel pointed out, the Court's reasoning in16

appointing the ENA examiner was ultimately vindicated in these17

cases as reported by the Fee Committee.  The Fee Committee18

reported favorably on the examiner's activities including his19

ability to calm down a contentious ENA creditor group and gain20

their trust.  The only part applicants played thus in the21

decision of this Court to appoint the examiner was that they22

threw so many stones, to use the Committee's words in their23

objection -- that they threw so many stones early in the case24

at the debtors that it threatened the debtor's ability to25
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stabilize their business.  That is far from a benefit to the1

estate.  Again, in the Granner Partners case cited in our2

brief, a similar active group of creditors threw similar stones3

early on and through litigation in that case and the Court in4

denying these essential contribution applications made the5

reference to maiming a person and then seeking -- for6

clarifying the law of battery.7

Clearly, a creditor does not make a substantial8

contribution by being so obstructionist that the Court is9

forced to appoint an estate funded official to quiet the10

disruptions caused by that creditor.  In the Fee Committee's11

report that the estate funded and an examiner was successful in12

calling the irritant creditors to use counsel's language,13

doesn't evidence a substantial contribution.  14

So, in the end, all the applicants motions were15

denied and there's no showing of how those motions to appoint a16

separate Creditors Committee confer to benefit on the ENA17

estate.18

Your Honor, with resect to the other activities for19

which compensation is requested, I would just briefly touch on20

an activity which is related in the papers but not today, and21

that was the applicant's objections to extending ENA22

exclusivity, their objections to CURP objections, the23

objections to the sale of the trading business to UBS and their24

overhead allocation objections.  Again, the evidence on those25
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assertions is the pleadings reflected in -- that reflect1

applicant's individual participation in the litigation on those2

topics.3

The question, were those efforts taken on behalf of4

the entire ENA estate.  Again, the pleadings were filed5

individually.  In fact, Mr. Steinberg in his deposition which6

the Court will see noted that when the objectors objected -- or7

the applicants objected to exclusivity extensions in contrast8

to what the examiner was asking the Court to do and through his9

reports that those objections were certainly brought on behalf10

of the applicants individually, not on behalf of the ENA11

creditor body.  So there's no evidence that those objections12

were pursued on behalf of the ENA estate.  Nevertheless,13

they're seeking reimbursement for those applications -- for14

those objections.15

In this regard, the applications are similar to the16

instance in Granner Partners where the court found that17

instances where a creditor's disputed actions taken or18

recommendations made by a court appointed official that that19

dispute does not make a substantial contribution to the case.20

Your Honor, with respect to the final assertion of21

how they made a benefit to the estate, the assertion is that22

applicants' participation in plan negotiations made a benefit23

and, in fact, Mr. Bennett said this evening that that24

constitutes a majority of their application.  25
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The evidence again is the pleadings and then references by1

Mr. Steinberg and Mr. Goldin to discussions that they had with2

the applicants about the plan negotiation process, but there's3

no evidence in the record before the Court on how those4

discussions made a substantial contribution to the estate.  In5

fact, there's no evidence of the details of those discussions6

at all.  Mr. Goldin's statement says that the ENA -- that the7

ENA examiner brought the applicants "inside the tent" to get8

them more comfortable with the plan negotiation process. 9

During deposition we discovered though that the tent that the10

examiner is referring to isn't the tent where the debtors, the11

Creditors Committee and the examiner were sitting together to12

negotiate the plan.  Instead, he's referring to a separate tent13

erected only to hold the ENA subgroup and the examiner where14

they discussed plan issues.  And they won't let us -- let the15

Court or us know what occurred inside that tent despite16

repeated requests which the Court will see in the deposition17

transcript.  Instead, applicants just say in effect our18

conversations with the examiner inside that ENA subgroup tent19

made a substantial contribution because the examiner's lawyer20

says they did and that's all the Court needs to do -- needs to21

review in order to grant the application.22

Applicants make that assertion several times in their23

November 7th response which they filed in support of the24

applications, a pleading which ironically appears to be the25
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first time that applicants filed anything jointly in this case. 1

Up until November 7, 2005, every pleading that the applicants2

filed was filed on their own individual behalf by their own3

individual lawyers.4

While the applicants are entitled under this Court's5

prior orders to shield their conversations with the examiner6

from the light of this courtroom.  Their decision to assert the7

privilege renders that evidence useless in determining whether8

applicants made a substantial contribution through those9

discussions.  So who knows if the discussions were taken on10

behalf of the applicants individually or on behalf of the11

entire ENA creditor body.  Who knows whether those discussions12

resulted in a demonstrable benefit to the estate.  There's no13

evidence at all -- other than general statements of what was14

discussed, there's no evidence at all of what applicants15

actually did or said and no evidence of what positions they16

actually took.  17

We do know, however, that in the past applicants have18

differed with the examiner on things such as exclusivity and19

the examiner confirms once again that when they did differ on20

those issues that they applicants were acting in their own21

behalf.  Nor does the applicants' ultimate support for the plan22

demonstrate a substantial contribution to the estate.  If that23

were the standards then every creditor who initially votes no24

but then changes its vote to yes would be entitled to a25
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substantial contribution award.  Clearly, it's not exceptional1

for creditors to change their votes after consultation with the2

debtors and that is the expected process, not the exception.3

Finally, did the applicant's discussions with the4

examiner duplicate others, discussions that the examiner had5

with other ENA creditors.  Again, we don't know.6

Your Honor, the parties all agree on what the legal7

standards should be.  The parties also all agree on generally8

what the facts are of what happened in these cases, but there's9

no showing of how the applicants' participation in these cases10

is any different than the activities of Weiser Oil, Balpost,11

Upstream Energy Services or the other active ENA creditors,12

none of whom are seeking a substantial contribution award.  In13

their response, the November 7th response and again today in14

oral argument, applicants assert that Mr. Steinberg's statement15

in support of the application is decisive and in their papers16

they refer to two cases, the 9085 East Mineral Office Building17

case and In re: U.S. Lines from the Southern District of New18

York.19

The statement -- if the Court reads 9085 East20

Mineral, the Court will find that the statement in that case21

that a third party corroborating testimony is decisive was22

actually just a cite back to U.S. Lines and in that case it was23

purely dicta because there was no corroborating testimony24

offered.  In fact, the case actually stands for the proposition25
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as stated on Page 250 of the case that the absence of1

corroborating testimony is not fatal to a substantial2

contribution application when the Court has familiarity with3

the applicant's role in the case.  9085 East Mineral does not4

say as applicants assert that if you have corroborating5

testimony then you get reimbursed.  In that case, reimbursement6

was only permitted because the applicant proposed a plan that7

paid one hundred cents on the dollar and that plan was8

confirmed over the debtor's plan which paid, according to the9

Court, only token payments to creditors.  Of course we don't10

have evidence of anything close to those circumstances here.11

With respect to U.S. Lines, the Court there does say12

that corroborating testimony by a disinterested party has13

proven to be a decisive factor.  If the Court reads further14

into the case, however, it will learn that the only reason a15

substantial contribution award was allowed in that case was16

because the debtors agreed with it.  There's no discussion of17

what sort of corroborating testimony is sufficient nor does18

U.S. Lines stand for the proposition that their burden of proof19

is satisfied by reliance solely on corroborating testimony. 20

Instead, the applicants' applications are much more like the21

Granner Partners case discussed in our papers where the Chapter22

11 Trustee, who coincidentally happened to be Harris & Goldin,23

offered a written statement in support of an unofficial24

committee's substantial contribution application.  The support25
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for those applications in Granner Partners was offered sight1

unseen.  Mr. Goldin had not seen the applications yet when he2

offered that support and that support was bargained for during3

plan negotiations similar to the circumstances that we have4

here.5

Now, in Footnote 5 of applicant's November 7th6

response they argue that Granner Partners has no application7

because there's no evidence that Mr. Steinberg's support by8

bargained for in the plan process.  As the Court will see in9

reviewing Mr. Steinberg's deposition testimony, particularly at10

Page 7 through 8, Mr. Steinberg contradicts that assertion.  He11

says that the idea of support for the substantial contribution12

applications was one of the issues that was included in the13

global compromised negotiations and that his pledge of support14

was a way to resolve an issue that the debtors were unable to15

resolve or unwilling to resolve.16

In any event, the Court in Granner Partners decided17

that he was best suited to determine whether a substantial18

contribution award was justified because he had presided over19

the cases for three years.  He was the presiding judge long20

before Mr. Goldin was appointed and he had many opportunities21

to see applicants' inaction in the case.  The same is true here22

and we agree with Mr. Etkin on that point.  This Court does not23

need Mr. Steinberg or anyone else to explain what happened in24

this courtroom.25
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So, Your Honor, in conclusion, it's the debtor's1

position that applicants have not met their burden of proof and2

that their request for reimbursement would lead to the absurd3

result where members of an unofficial committee are entitled to4

greater reimbursement than members of the statutory creditors5

committee and allowing these applications would also lower the6

evidentiary bar so low for such applications that virtually any7

creditor could obtain reimbursement if they find a third-party8

to make general conclusory statements in support.  9

For all these reasons, the reorganized debtors object10

to the applications and ask that they be denied.11

THE COURT:  The U.S. Trustee's Office.12

MS. LEONHARD:  Thank you, Your Honor.  Good evening,13

Your Honor.  Alicia Leonhard for the United States Trustee.14

These creditors tonight want about $1.4 million in15

reimbursement of fees and expenses and granted, that isn't a16

law especially in this case.  But as we all know and as17

debtor's counsel has discussed in detail, Section 503(b)18

imposes a very high standard and these creditors simply did not19

meet that standard.  When you look at the pleadings and the20

arguments that we've had tonight, all they show is that these21

creditors were active in the case and their actions benefitted22

themselves or duplicated the efforts of others.  23

I note that tonight we heard admitted speculation24

that these creditors had an impact on Your Honor's decision to25
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sua sponte appoint an examiner and also that they believe that1

the ENA creditors spared better because of their actions, but2

we simply see no hard evidence of these -- that these actions3

resulted in a better result for these creditors.4

It's the U.S. Trustee's position that the applicants5

have not met their burden of proof under Section 503(b) and6

therefore based on our opposition filed and this argument the7

U.S. Trustee respectfully requests that the Court deny the8

application.  Thank you.9

THE COURT:  Thank you.  Creditors Committee.10

MR. MALEK:  Your Honor, Paul Malek from Milbank on11

behalf of the Creditors Committee.  12

I'm not going to repeat what Mr. Loden and the U.S.13

Trustee's Office has stated already.  I just want to focus on14

one particular aspect of the applications and that is the15

requirement that the applications -- the applicants have16

provided extraordinary services to the estate.  Specifically, I17

think Mr. Bennett had mentioned and others mentioned that18

there's no dispute with respect to the applicable legal19

standard.  That's true but what is not mentioned in any of the20

applications and I believe there's no applicable case law to21

support the proposition that three identically situated groups22

of creditors who submitted three virtually identical23

applications can each be granted a 503(b) application.  That24

alone, I think, Your Honor, is grounds to deny the25
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applications.  1

Of course individually we also agree with the2

statements that have been made, the objections that have been3

raised with respect to the lack of evidence and the lack of4

compliance with the applicable standards stated in Granner and5

others with respect to the 503(b) applications.  6

I guess, Your Honor, we would agree in a sense with7

Mr. Etkin's statement that the ENA creditors had an impact on8

these cases but I think we disagree on the nature of the impact9

that ENA creditors had.  Rather than making a substantial10

contribution providing a benefit to the ENA estates or to any11

of the debtor's estates, the Creditors Committee submits that12

the applicants in fact caused administrative expenses and in13

some cases unnecessary delay in the estates rather than14

providing a benefit.15

Finally, Your Honor, with respect to the reference to16

a turf battle, that's really a red herring.  It's not really17

relevant I think and it's simply not true.  I think the record18

in these cases, Your Honor's statements with respect to the19

hearing regarding the appointment of a separate committee, I20

think it's absolutely clear that the Creditors Committee was in21

fact able and in fact did represent all creditor constituencies22

and that's really the relevant factor here.  23

So for those reasons and for the reasons already24

stated, Your Honor, the Creditors Committee also objects to the25
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503(b) applications.  Thank you.1

THE COURT:  Anyone else in opposition before I turn2

back to the applicants?3

MR. WINSTON:  Your Honor, Eric Winston of  on behalf4

of Valcos 5

THE COURT:  Go ahead.6

MR. WINSTON:  Your Honor, I only want to make one7

additional argument.  Otherwise we join with the debtors, the8

U.S. Trustee and the Creditors Committee and the argument that9

forms our opposition.  The only argument I want to just bring10

the Court's attention was not previously addressed is even to11

the extent the Court finds that the three applicants provided12

some substantial contribution, and we would submit there is13

none, but if the Court does find it the Court is certainly14

empowered to also look at the matters in which the applicants15

brought to the Court's attention that fails and [inaudible]16

statements that [inaudible] administrative costs with no17

benefit.  So to the extent there is any substantial18

contributions, and again we admitted there's none, the Court19

should also look at the other matters which [inaudible] and20

effectively [inaudible].  21

Otherwise, Your Honor, as I said earlier, we join in22

the other objectors and rest on our papers.23

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.  Mr. Etkin.24

MR. ETKIN:  Very briefly, Your Honor.  25
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I think the one thing that we can all agree upon,1

Your Honor, is that the Court really has the unique vantage2

point to determine what went on with respect to the applicants'3

activities in this case and the results from some or all of4

those activities other than of course the issue of our5

participation on the subgroup -- in the subgroup and the plan6

negotiations where Mr. Steinberg and Mr. Goldin had the most7

unique and significant vantage point to determine what we8

brought to the table with respect to those activities.  Rather9

than just seeking somebody out and trying to get a piece of10

paper signed by them to support these applications, we are11

talking about the ENA fiduciary in this case in connection with12

a request for substantial contribution awards to the ENA estate13

itself.14

So I don't think we pulled anybody willy-nilly off15

the street.  I'm anxious for the Court, by the way, to read16

that transcript that Mr. Loden referred to because there was no17

deal.  I don't know what pending issue he's talking about with18

respect to what was bargained for.  The issue of substantial19

contribution did come up in discussions at the tail end of our20

involvement with respect to reaching the global compromise, but21

we did not request anything from anybody in connection with the22

ENA examiner's support.  That was support that was freely given23

and if they didn't believe we deserved the support they24

wouldn't have given it to us.  I think the Court knows Mr.25
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Steinberg and Mr. Goldin all too well to know that they would1

be part of some hidden deal or some inappropriate deal to put a2

pleading before the Court to support a substantial contribution3

application regardless.  So I really take some offense to that4

actually.5

The other thing that's curious about Mr. Loden's6

presentation is that somehow we're being criticized for not7

being presumptuous enough to file pleadings on behalf of the8

entire ENA creditor body.  Your Honor, we had clients.  It's9

not on whose behalf we filed the pleadings or on whose behalf10

we took up the mantle specifically with respect to who our11

clients were.  The issue is the ultimate benefit from those12

activities and whether those activities benefitted the ENA13

estate as a whole.  If the standard were that you had to file14

pleadings and take positions in court where you were standing15

up without any authority and saying well, I represent the16

entire ENA creditor body, there would never be a substantial17

contribution because they -- award because they all grow out of18

the efforts of individual creditors in the first instance who19

take positions that ultimately result in a benefit to the20

entire estate.  That's what happened here and I don't know that21

it would be appropriate to buy into a concept where parties had22

to take the position with no authority that they represent the23

entire estate in order to qualify for a substantial24

contribution award.25
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Your Honor, there's no issue that our clients were1

direct beneficiaries of any increased benefit or better2

treatment to ENA creditors as a whole.  To call it an3

incidental benefit at the end of the day is really not to4

recognize what happened and what's been undisputed in this case5

in terms of the ultimate treatment of ENA creditors under the6

plan as compared to what was put on the table when this process7

first started in February of 2003.8

Your Honor, much has been made also about the fact9

that specific conversations or e-mails between the respective10

members of the subgroup and the ENA examiner have not been11

produced and that the privilege that this Court ruled upon12

earlier on in this case prevented those kinds of communications13

to be produced.  No other professional or party has had to14

produce that kind of documentation in support of any fee15

requests.  We have produced our time records.  It's clear from16

those time records as to what we were doing with respect to17

engaging in meetings, consistent meetings, review of documents18

provided by the ENA examiner, analyses of particular19

distribution schemes that were all part of the negotiation for20

many, many, many months until a global compromise was reached.21

So to hold the reliance on an appropriate privilege22

where certainly the committee and its members would not want to23

see all of their conversations and e-mails between themselves24

see the light of day because it would be inappropriate, I don't25
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think that really should be an issue that's held against the1

applicants in this particular case.  Beyond that, Your Honor, I2

have nothing further.3

THE COURT:  Mr. Bennett.4

MR. BENNETT:  Your Honor, I'll try hard not to repeat5

Mr. Etkin's comments but I will agree that the Court has6

characterized what we're doing here today and our position7

exactly correctly.8

Our position is that we made a substantial9

contribution to ENA for the benefit of ENA to all of its10

creditors.  I alluded to the fact that the global compromise11

that we were a part of benefitted all of the estates but our --12

the premise of our application is the benefit to ENA and to its13

creditors and we're asking for an allowance of an14

administrative claim against ENA that would presumably be15

allocated to ENA if it were allowed under the overhead16

allocation procedures because we did stake out the ENA interest17

in this case early.  18

We did have success, contrary to the statements of19

counsel, in connection with a variety of pleadings that we20

filed.  The debtor certainly wasn't asking for the appointment21

of the ENA examiner or another fiduciary to represent the ENA22

interest.  The official committee certainly wasn't asking to23

see what it perceived its role as in this case to a third-24

party.  They did not welcome our efforts and I guess that's25
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understandable, but it denies -- the fact that they didn't1

welcome our efforts denies the success that we had.  2

The appointment of the ENA examiner absolutely was3

done in connection with the cash management fight that we led. 4

The modifications to the cash management order, in fact, in the5

end were agreed to in many respects by the official committee6

and supported.  The fact that they supported some of our7

requested modifications doesn't deny that we asked for them in8

the first instance, and as the Court is fully aware the Court9

went beyond the modifications that the committee advocated and10

introduced a cash freeze which became permanent and a higher11

interest rate that nobody disputes resulted in the accrual of12

interest in favor of ENA that is many times the total amount of13

the applications that are in front of the Court today.14

No one denies that the definition of the examiner's15

role and the expansion of his powers was done in many instances16

in part in response to issues that we took up early in this17

case.  Your Honor, I didn't mean to imply in saying that a18

majority of our efforts were in a subgroup anything other than19

the real litigation phase of our efforts here was relatively20

short and constituted a few months, most of which occurred21

during what has been described in earlier evidence as the22

chaotic unbelievable portion of this case that even Mr. --23

well, that even all professionals I guess had never seen the24

likes of and perhaps never will see the likes of again.  25
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Your Honor, when the ENA examiner was appointed as a1

plan facilitator, he was appointed to facilitate a compromise2

between the ENA creditors that we had come to represent in3

part.  We were not all the creditors.  We're a portion of them. 4

We took up the mantle of the common ENA interest and yes, these5

efforts benefitted our clients but they also every case6

benefitted each and every other ENA creditor along with our7

clients.  Our clients bore the costs those other creditors did8

not.  It's only fair that our clients be given some recognition9

for doing this at a time when there was no guarantee that we10

would be here today with even a plausible basis for a11

substantial contribution request and our clients have funded12

the cost of this for quite some time and deserve that13

recognition.14

Your Honor, no one denies the statement that is set15

forth and which I alluded to in my opening which is on Page 2416

of the August 2, 2004 ENA examiner pleading that was -- the17

pleading was meant to define -- ask the Court to define the18

post effective date role of the ENA examiner, but the facts in19

that footnote are facts that no one denies.  That is, that from20

the original deal agreed to by the Creditors Committee the21

enhancement included inter alia a shift of assets from Enron --22

from Enron to ENA of in excess of $1 billion in value.  That's23

among three benefits that Mr. Goldin cites.  24

So, Your Honor, what counsel for the debtor and the25
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committee would have you believe is that left to their own that1

they would have advanced a compromise that included this2

billion dollars in enhancements in the absence of the ENA3

examiner and the subgroup that was the embodiment of the ENA4

creditors.  Your Honor, that simply wouldn't have happened.  I5

don't know how else to say it.  We believe that this was a6

successful case.  We don't disagree with a lot that was said7

earlier in the day.  In fact, we agree with what was said.  We8

regret the extent to which quite frankly we have to rehash some9

of those early disputes because we had gotten beyond those10

quite frankly for years and had taken our place in the ENA11

subgroup.  We became part of the process.  We did get under the12

tent and ultimately were part of the support for global13

compromise that benefitted everybody.14

A billion dollars value shift in the grand scheme of15

$16 billion in assets on a percentage basis perhaps isn't that16

significant or notable.  To us it was important and certainly17

justifies, in our view, our contribution to that shift18

justifies in our view the recognition that this was an19

extraordinary case, unprecedented.  Our client's role in it was20

extraordinary and the results obtained were extraordinary21

including the results we helped obtain for the benefit of ENA22

and all of its creditors.23

Thank you, Your Honor.24

THE COURT:  Thank you.  You don't have to go over25
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there to say it if all you're going to -- 1

MR. AIREY:  Your Honor, if I may adopt Mr.2

Bienenstock's approach at 917.  I'd like to join my colleagues3

in their comments and urge your support.  Thank you.4

THE COURT:  Thank you.  Thank you all.5

That concludes -- where is Mr. Rosen?  Is that6

everything that was on the agenda?7

MR. ROSEN:  Your Honor, it includes everything on the8

agenda but my apology for underestimating by three hours how9

long we were going to be here.  I want to thank you for --10

THE COURT:  I'll accept that apology on behalf of the11

operator of the digital recording machine.12

MR. ROSEN:  Thank you, Your Honor, and thank you very13

much for your endurance today in listening to everything.14

MS. GRAY:  Your Honor, we have one exhibit that has15

been introduced on some of Mr. Winn's testimony.  It ended up16

over here.  I just don't know whether to give it the court17

reporter or hand it up to the Court.18

THE COURT:  You can hand it up.  I think I have it19

somewhere.20

MS. GRAY:  I believe we have an unmarked group just21

in case.22

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.  I'm going to23

terminate the phone call.24

That's it.25



312

* * * * *1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



313

I certify that the foregoing is a court transcript from an1
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